
 
County Offices 

Newland 
Lincoln 

LN1 1YL 
 

11 November 2021 
 

Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee 
 
A meeting of the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee will be held on Friday, 19 
November 2021 at 10.00 am in the Council Chamber, County Offices, Newland, Lincoln LN1 
1YL for the transaction of the business set out on the attached agenda.  
 
Yours sincerely 
 

 
 
Debbie Barnes OBE 
Chief Executive 
 
 
Membership of the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee  
(11 Members of the Council and 3 Added Members) 
 
Councillors R J Kendrick (Chairman), W H Gray (Vice-Chairman), S A J Blackburn, T A Carter, 
R J Cleaver, Mrs J E Killey, C Matthews, N Sear, J Tyrrell, M A Whittington and 
1 Conservative Vacancy 
 
Added Members 
 
Church Representative: Reverend P A Johnson 
 
Parent Governor Representatives: Mrs M R Machin and Miss A E I Sayer 
 

Public Document Pack





CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE AGENDA 
FRIDAY, 19 NOVEMBER 2021 

 
 
Item Title 

 
Pages 

1  Apologies for Absence / Replacement Members  
 

 

2  Declarations of Members' Interest  
 

 

3  Minutes of the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee 
meeting held on 15 October 2021  
 

5 - 16 

4  Announcements by the Chairman, Executive Councillor for Children's 
Services, Community Safety and Procurement and Chief Officers  
 

 

5  Joint Diversionary Panel - University of Lincoln Evaluation  
(To receive a report from Andy Cook, Head of Service - Future4Me/Youth 
Offending, which provides the Committee with the key findings of the 
evaluation of the Joint Diversionary Panel undertaken by Dr Sue Bond-Taylor 
from the University of Lincoln) 
 

17 - 112 

6  Children In Care (CIC) Transformation - Residential Estate Expansion 
Programme  
(To receive a report from Tara Jones, Head of Service – Children in Care 
Transformation, which invites the Committee to consider and comment on a 
report on the business case for the use of £1.5m of allocated Council capital 
funding from the Residential Children's Home Capital Programme to invest in 
two new children's homes in Lincolnshire, prior to a decision being taken by 
the Executive Councillor for Children’s Services, Community Safety and 
Procurement between 22 and 30 November 2021) 
 

113 - 138 

7  Lincoln Children's Home  
(To receive a report and presentation from Matthew Stapleton, Senior Project 
Manager - Corporate Property, which invites the Committee to consider and 
comment on the relocation of Lincolnshire County Council’s existing short 
breaks home to a location on the St. Francis Special School site in Lincoln, prior 
to a decision being taken by the Executive Councillor for Resources, 
Communications and Commissioning and the Executive Councillor for People 
Management, Legal and Corporate Property between 23 and 30 November 
2021) 

 

139 - 158 

8  Spalding Academy Basic Need Project  
(To receive a report from Matthew Stapleton, Senior Project Manager - 
Corporate Property, which invites the Committee to consider and comment on 
the procurement of the expansion and remodelling to Spalding Academy, prior 
to a decision being taken by the Executive Councillor for Resources, 
Communications and Commissioning and Executive Councillor for People 
Management, Legal and Corporate Property between 23 and 30 November 
2021) 

 
 

159 - 176 



9  Stamford Welland Academy Basic Need Project  
(To receive a report from Matthew Stapleton, Senior Project Manager - 
Corporate Property, which invites the Committee to consider and comment on 
the procurement of the expansion and remodelling to expansion and 
remodelling to Stamford Welland Academy, prior to a decision being taken by 
the Executive Councillor for Resources, Communications and Commissioning 
and the Executive Councillor for People Management, Legal and Corporate 
Property between 23 and 30 November 2021) 

 

177 - 194 

10  Service Level Performance against the Corporate Performance 
Framework - Quarter 2  
(To receive a report from Jo Kavanagh, Assistant Director – Early Help, which 
summarises for the Committee the Service Level Performance against the 
Corporate Performance Framework for Quarter 2, for measures that are 
above or below the target range)  
 

To Follow 

11  Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee Work Programme  
(To receive a report from Tracy Johnson, Senior Scrutiny Officer, which enables 
the Committee to consider and comment on the contents of its work 
programme to ensure that its scrutiny activity is focused where it can be of 
greatest benefit) 
 

195 - 202 

 

Democratic Services Officer Contact Details  
 
Name: Robert Close 

 
Direct Dial 01522 552113 

 
E Mail Address robert.close@lincolnshire.gov.uk 

 

Please note:  for more information about any of the following please contact the 
Democratic Services Officer responsible for servicing this meeting 
 

 Business of the meeting 

 Any special arrangements 

 Copies of reports 
 
Contact details set out above. 
 
Please note: This meeting will be broadcast live on the internet and access can be 
sought by accessing Agenda for Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee on 
Friday, 19th November, 2021, 10.00 am (moderngov.co.uk) 
 
All papers for council meetings are available on: 
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/council-business/search-committee-records 
 

 

https://lincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=124&MId=5728&Ver=4
https://lincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=124&MId=5728&Ver=4
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/council-business/search-committee-records


  1 

 
 CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE 
 15 OCTOBER 2021 

 

PRESENT:  COUNCILLOR  R J KENDRICK (CHAIRMAN) 
 
Councillors W H Gray (Vice-Chairman), T A Carter, R J Cleaver, Mrs J E Killey, C Matthews, 
N Sear, J Tyrrell, M A Whittington and G J Taylor. 
 
Added Members 
 
Parent Governor Representatives: Miss A E I Sayer. 
 
Councillors: Mrs P A Bradwell OBE, (Executive Councillor Children's Services, Community 
Safety and Procurement) R D Butroid (Executive Councillor People Management, Legal and 
Corporate Property) and S P Roe (Executive Support Councillor Children’s Services, 
Community Safety and Procurement) were also in attendance. 
 
Officers in attendance: - 
 
Katrina Cope (Senior Democratic Services Officer), Sheridan Dodsworth (Head of SEND), 
Tracy Johnson (Senior Scrutiny Officer), Jo Kavanagh (Assistant Director of Early Help), 
Carolyn Knight (Quality and Standards Manager), Eileen McMorrow (Programme Manager, 
Special Schools Strategy), Andrew Morris (Corporate Parenting Manager), Dave Pennington 
(Head of Property Development), Heather Sandy (Executive Director of Children's Services), 
and Martin Smith (Assistant Director for Children's Education). 
 
The following officers attended the meeting remotely, via Teams: - 
 
Linda Dennett (Assistant Director - Children's Health and Commissioning), Janice Spencer 
OBE (Assistant Director of Children's Safeguarding), Viki Thomas (Principal Advisor Early 
Education and Childcare) and Lindsay Tuach-Munford (Project Support Officer 
Transformation).  
28     APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE / REPLACEMENT MEMBERS 

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors S A J Blackburn, K H Cooke, The 
Reverend Philip Johnson (Church Representative) and Mrs M R Machin (Parent Governor 
Representative). 
 
It was noted that the Chief Executive, having received notice under Regulation 13 of the 
Local Government (Committee and Political Groups) Regulations 1990, had appointed 
Councillor G J Taylor to replace Councillor K H Cooke for this meeting only.  
 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



2 
CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
15 OCTOBER 2021 
 
29     DECLARATIONS OF MEMBERS' INTEREST 

 
No declarations of members' interest were made at this stage of the proceedings. 
 
30     MINUTES OF THE CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE MEETING 

HELD ON 3 SEPTEMBER 2021 
 

RESOLVED 
 

That the minutes of the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee meeting held 
on 3 September 2021 be agreed and signed by the Chairman as a correct record. 

 
31     ANNOUNCEMENTS BY THE CHAIRMAN, EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR FOR CHILDREN'S 

SERVICES, COMMUNITY SAFETY AND PROCUREMENT AND CHIEF OFFICERS 
 

The Chairman advised the Committee that he was planning to have a 10-minute break prior 
to Item 6 on the agenda. 
 
The Chairman invited Councillor Mrs P A Bradwell OBE, Executive Councillor Children 
Services, Community Safety and Procurement, to provide any announcements to the 
Committee. 
 
The Executive Councillor advised that Children's Services continued to be busy with planning 
the opening of special schools.  The Executive Councillor advised further that she was a 
member of the Local Government Association Children's Board (which met four times a 
year).  It was noted that the meetings were very informative and provided an opportunity 
for each council to see how they were performing post Covid-19; and to see how each 
council was dealing with the large number of unaccompanied asylum seekers.  The 
Committee noted that the good news was that Lincolnshire was in-line with other colleagues 
from the East Midlands and was performing well. 
 
Thanks were extended to officers for all their hard work post pandemic. 
 
The Chairman invited Heather Sandy, Executive Director – Children's Services to advise the 
Committee of any announcements.  The Executive Director – Children's Services advised the 
Committee that as part of the regional work, she had taken over the lead for the regional 
improvement and innovation work.  The Committee was advised further that a £2.1 million 
bid had been won for the region, which would allow for some collaborative work to be done 
around different aspects of children's services. 
 
It was noted that once work on the project had started to develop, a report would be 
presented to the Committee. 
 
It was reported that the region had done so well in bringing in the extra funding; and that 
was testament to the work across the region to make sure that the bid was evidence based 
and that it could be demonstrated that it could be delivered. 

Page 6



3 
CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

15 OCTOBER 2021 
 

 
The Chairman on behalf of the Committee extended his congratulations to the region on 
their success and for the extra funding to help children's services. 
 
32     UPDATE ON THE BUILDING COMMUNITIES OF SPECIALIST PROVISION; TOGETHER 

IN LINCOLNSHIRE STRATEGY 
 

The Committee gave consideration to a report which set out the progress made in Year 
Three of the strategic implementation of the Building Communities of Specialist Provision 
Strategy. 
 
The Chairman invited Eileen McMorrow, Programme Manager – Special School Strategy, and 
Dave Pennington, Head of Property Development, to present the item to the Committee.  It 
was noted that Sheridan Dodsworth, Head of SEND, was in also attendance for this item. 
 
The Committee was advised that the strategy would make significant changes to the existing 
special school education provision, creating an integrated and sustainable school system 
where pupils would be able to attend their nearest school, confident that their education 
and health needs would be fully met. 
 
It was reported that the Building Schools of Specialist Provision Strategy had commenced 
implementation in 2019 and that it was a five-year strategy with the final all needs schools 
due to be ready to meet all needs in 2024. 
 
The Committee was advised that implementation was well underway, but it was highlighted 
that at the moment, there were a number of factors that were making things difficult for the 
construction industry as well as the economy as a whole.  It was highlighted that it was 
difficult to get material onto sites either from abroad or the UK.  Details relating to supply 
chain issues were shown on pages 16 and 17 of the report in paragraphs 1.1 to 1.9. 
 
It was highlighted that the Programme Team continued to monitor the risks associated with 
the volatility in the construction supply chain and that this was reported through governance 
structures on a monthly basis. 
 
The Committee received an update on all the capital schemes.  Progress made on each 
scheme was detailed in the report presented; and the update was complimented by a series 
of photographs depicting the progress being made on each of the sites. 
 
In summary, the Committee was advised that: 
 

 The Boston Endeavour Academy was now completed and had been handed over to 
the Community Inclusive Trust who had welcomed its first pupils on 6 September 
2021; 

 The Bourne Willoughby new block had been completed and had been handed over to 
the Priory Trust in readiness to welcome its first pupils in September 2021; and that 
remodelling aspects of the scheme had now started to parts of the original building.  

Page 7



4 
CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
15 OCTOBER 2021 
 

The Committee noted that this had been a modular build and was an example of 
successful innovation with the supply chain working in a different way to give the 
best result.  The modular build in this instance was the right construction for the tight 
site conditions, which made a traditional build difficult and expensive to deliver; 

 Work at the Eresby School, Spilsby was now completed and had been handed over to 
the David Ross Education Trust, who had welcomed the return of pupils at the start 
of the September 2021 term; and that contractors were now on the remodelling of 
the original building.  It was highlighted that this had also been a modular build; 

 At Louth St Bernard's School, Phase 1 works to the residential block had been 
completed and had been handed over to the Lincolnshire Wolds Federation to 
reopen the facility; and that works continued on the main part of the scheme; 

 At Lincoln St Christopher's School, the Committee noted that planning permission 
had been granted for both the new primary school building and expansion to the 
existing site to become secondary provision.  It was noted that construction of the 
primary school was due to commence in the autumn 2021; 

 Planning permission had been granted for the Priory scheme.  It was noted that 
enabling works had been completed over the summer holidays; and that the project 
was due to be completed for August 2022.  It was reported that works to the Garth 
site were now completed and that existing pupils were now benefitting from the 
improved accommodation; 

 Works to the Ambergate site were now completed and that pupils were enjoying the 
much improved facilities. It was noted that works on the new hydrotherapy pool 
were still at the development stage and that a planning application had been 
submitted for the pool at the Sandon school site; 

 The scheme at Horncastle St Lawrence had been placed on hold whilst a range of 
design options were considered.  It was reported that a proposal  to rebuild the 
school on the existing site had been identified as the preferred option and that a 
feasibility and design process were due to commence in autumn 2021; 

 The Lincoln St Francis Special school had been put on hold whilst the future of the 
residential wing was determined; and 

 No works had been undertaken at Gosberton Academy so far.  It was planned to 
begin engagement in the autumn of 2021 in preparation for the feasibility and design 
process. 

 

The Committee was advised that progress had been made with the supporting systems to 
ensure that children and young people with SEND received the very best education they 
could in the new buildings.  It was highlighted that significant progress had been made with 
the special school reorganisation policy, which would ensure that all schools received fair 
and equitable funding to be able to deliver special education provision. 
 
It was highlighted that a work force development work stream had designed the SEND 
Learning Platform, a sector–led training model for professional development, which would 
ensure that all pupils with SEND could access a quality education, facilitated by skilled and 
knowledgeable staff.  It was noted that this was currently at the procurement stage and was 
set to be launched in the spring 2022. 

Page 8



5 
CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

15 OCTOBER 2021 
 

 
It was reported that the health offer enabled Children with SEND to receive the health care 
needs from visiting professionals within the school setting, as each school had dedicated 
medical and physiotherapy space. 
 
It was also highlighted that all special schools had signed up to the specialist equipment 
contract, which offered value for money for accessing specialist equipment; and that the 
prototype of the specialist community led panel had been launched in July 2021 at the 
Boston and South Holland locality.  So far the panel had reviewed the case of two young 
people who were at risk of being place in an independent non-maintained special school; if a 
local special school could not be found.  Both cases had been resolved by the panel, with a 
successful outcome, with the pupils being educated at their local special school.  It was 
noted that there would be a phased roll-out of the panels across all localities. 
 
During consideration of the report, the Committee raised the following comments: 
 

 Further information was sought with regard to building methodology for the modular 
buildings; and whether there was to be any residential provision at any of the sites.  
The Committee was advised that the modules were made in the UK and that the 
whole unit was then delivered to the site. A question was asked whether modular 
units would continue to be used for other projects.  The Committee was advised that 
each project was assessed on its merit, as each site was unique and had its own 
challenges; and as a result the right solution was achieved for each site.  It was noted 
that some units needed brickwork underneath the units, but others came with 
cladding that looked like brickwork.  Confirmation was given that there was no 
residential provision on site, however, at the Louth St Bernard's site there would be 
provision for short breaks for families.  Confirmation was also given that that each 
site had new robust Harris fencing installed and that all schools had CCTV; 

 Clarity was sought as to who was responsible for the newly constructed/upgraded 
buildings once they were completed.  The Committee was advised that some were 
maintained schools and some were academy trust schools.  With the maintained 
schools, the council had a statutory duty to maintain the buildings and where the 
works had been carried out within an academy trust, they would take the sole 
responsibility for the condition of the school.  The Committee noted that with all the 
new build facilities, they had a 60 year lifespan and would not require much 
intervention at all.  It was highlighted that the buildings being upgraded were built in 
the 1960's and were no longer fit for purpose, with very narrow corridors, limited 
usable internal space and little outside space.  A further question posed was whether 
the strategies in the capital build would support the changing practices in the special 
educational needs environment.  The Committee was advised that the Council had 
responsibility for ensuring enough places for children and that the demand for 
special school places had outstripped the current provision.  It was noted that there 
was a really clear system through central government of how the Council funded the 
expansion of mainstream schools, but not specialist provision and how extra facilities 
would be added. It was highlighted that the same systems were not in place for 

Page 9



6 
CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
15 OCTOBER 2021 
 

children with SEND.  It was noted that some movement had been seen from central 
government with regard to this issue; 

 Further information was sought regarding the earlier free school application.  It was 
reported that the free school application submitted had not been successful.  Some 
feedback had been received from the Department for Education which was that the 
Council was already investing quite significantly in its schools already; 

 One member questioned as to how many pupils had now changed schools, to now 
attend their nearest school to their home.  Unfortunately, officers were unable to 
provide an exact figure at the meeting but advised that this information would be 
ascertained.  It was highlighted that there had been some positive feedback  from 
parents who were now able to access schools closer to home; 

 Whether the St Francis School was going to continue being the designated profound 
and multiple learning centre.  Confirmation was given that the St Francis School 
would cater for all needs in the same way as all of the special schools, so that 
provision would be equitable across the County; 

 Whether the pressures to the construction industry would result in extra cost 
pressures, and whether there were sufficient contingencies in the budget to cover 
these.  The Committee was advised that the project had kept to the timeline; and 
confirmation was given that there might be further costs incurred that were not 
covered in the original budget, but at the moment this was unknown.  Reassurance 
was given that the situation was being monitored very carefully; and that every step 
was being taken to manage within budget.  The Committee noted that the business 
case for the programme was very strong, particular reference was made to the cost 
savings from placing children in Lincolnshire and not out of county; and 

 How many children would benefit from the capital programme and whether there 
had been future proofing built in to the programme.  It was reported that an 
additional 527 places would be created.  The 527 figure had been based on five year 
projections, with a 10% flexibility built in; therefore, officers were comfortable with 
the potential future capacity for special schools.  It was noted that there was 
currently just over 2,000 children who attended special schools.  The Committee was 
reminded that there were some young people who were in a special school for a 
period, who often could be ready to go back into mainstream schools. Part of the 
transformation and capital programme was that where young people were ready to 
go back to mainstream education, they would be supported to do so with workforce 
development. 

 

The Chairman on behalf of the Committee extended congratulations to all officers involved 
in the capital programme. 
 
RESOLVED 
 

1. That the progress made in Year 3 of the Building Communities of Specialist 
Provision Together in Lincolnshire Strategy be received and that the comments 
made by the Committee be noted. 

 
2. That a further update on Year 4 of implementation be received in October 2022. 

Page 10



7 
CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

15 OCTOBER 2021 
 

 
(NOTE: The Committee adjourned for a short break at 10.47am and resumed at 11.06am). 
 
33     CORPORATE PARENTING RESPONSIBILITIES 

 
Consideration was given to a report from Andy Morris, Corporate Parenting Manager, which 
outlined what the Council's corporate parenting responsibilities were and how good 
corporate parenting could greatly improve the lives and outcomes for young people. 
 
Attached at Appendix A to the report was a copy of the Department for Education guidance 
document for local authorities entitled 'Applying Corporate Parenting Principles to Looked-
After Children and Care Leavers' for the Committee's consideration. 
 
The Chairman invited the Corporate Parenting Manager to present the report and provide 
the Committee with a presentation. 
 
The presentation referred to: 
 

 The definition of a corporate parent as defined in the Children and Social Work Act 
2017; 

 The seven legal principles as defined in the Act which define the corporate parenting 
role; 

 The number of young children in care; 

 The Council's approach shown to children in care and the aspirations for them; 

 Placements; 

 Who are care leavers; 

 The national position; 

 The local position; and 

 What more could be done by the Council to meet the needs of its young people. 
 
During consideration of the report and the presentation the Committee raised the following 
comments: - 
 

 The Committee extended its thanks to the Corporate Parenting Manager for a very 
passionate and comprehensive presentation; 

 The need to ensure that all members of the Council were aware of their corporate 
parenting role; and to help them understand their role a Corporate Parenting training 
session had been arranged for 5 November 2021; and that all members should be 
encouraged to attend the training; 

 Whether there was any data relating to care leavers over the age of 25.  The 
Committee was advised that some of the care leavers continued to maintain contact 
with their children's home or foster home; and some examples were provided to the 
Committee.  The Committee noted that data was only available up to the age of 25 as 
the young people were left to enjoy their lives; but again, it was highlighted some 
care leavers still kept in contact with staff for that family support network; 

Page 11



8 
CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
15 OCTOBER 2021 
 

 Whether Children's Services had looked to implement good practice from other 
councils.  The Committee noted that the young people were engaged in all sorts of 
activities; and that this work was led by the Participation Team;  

 How the North Somerset offer as detailed on page 101 compared to the Lincolnshire 
offer.  The Committee noted that in Lincolnshire there was Council Tax relief (up to 
the age of 21) for all care leavers across all seven district councils and that most 
district councils were moving the age range to 25.  It was reported that every young 
person received a new homes grant of £2,000, which they could access.  Also, if a 
young person had a baby, they would also get an extra £500 to help them get set up, 
which was then matched by the district council in the area they lived.  The Council 
would also pay for things like clothes for interviews and provide help to them if they 
needed it; 

 District councils should be encouraged to help young people get free access to 
resources and facilities in their areas; 

 That all a report should be brought to the Committee explaining the role of a 
corporate parent; and how the Council responds to the seven principles and identify 
where there were any gaps in provision; 

 A suggestion was made to for the introduction of corporate parenting ambassadors 
for every scrutiny committee, who then linked into Children's Services; 

 The importance of having a home and what the young people and care leavers would 
class as their home; 

 The sensitive managing of visiting members to children's homes; 

 The opportunity for members to be involved in ‘Big Conversation’ events when 
restrictions allowed; and 

 The caring support offered by Baranardo's to care leavers and anyone involved in 
helping care leavers.    

 
The Chairman on behalf of the Committee extended his thanks to the Corporate Parenting 
Manager for his excellent report and presentation.      
 
RESOLVED 
 

That the report and presentation on Corporate Parenting Responsibilities be 
received; and that the comments raised by the Committee be noted. 

 
Alex Sayer (Parent Governor Representative) left the meeting at 11.55am; and Councillor S P 
Roe (Executive Support Councillor for Children’s Services, Community Safety and 
Procurement) left the meeting at 11.57am. 
 
34     CHILDREN'S SERVICES ANNUAL STATUTORY COMPLAINTS REPORT 2020-21 

 
Consideration was given to a report, which provided information concerning complaints 
relating to Children’s Social Care in line with statutory requirements.  It was noted that the 
report did not contain any data relating to complaints about the wider Children’s Services 
area. 

Page 12



9 
CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

15 OCTOBER 2021 
 

 
The Chairman invited Carolyn Knight, Head of Service – Quality and Standards and Principal 
Social Worker to present the item to the Committee. 
 
Appendix A to the report provided the Committee with information on the number of 
complaints received by Children’s Social Care for the period 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021.  
It was highlighted that a total of 136 contacts had been received in 2020/21 from individuals 
wishing to complain about the service.  With the implementation of a more restorative 
approach to complaints, 45 complaints had been resolved informally, outside of the 
complaints process, which accounted for 33% of all contacts received.   
 
It was highlighted that for 2020/21 there had been an overall decrease in the number of 
complaints entering the formal process of 18%.  It was highlighted further that a total of 91 
complaints had formally entered the system; and that this was the lowest number of 
complaints received in the last 10 years, which was excellent news, especially in a year 
where services had adapted to manage Covid-19, which could have potentially seen an 
increase in customer dissatisfaction. 
 
The Committee was advised that only 10 complaints had been fully upheld, four of these had 
been the result of a lack of communication, four had been due to staff conduct and attitude; 
and two had been as a result to a delay in service. It was also highlighted that 18 complaints 
had been partially upheld: eight due to a delay in service; seven due to assessment errors; 
and three due to the lack of communication.  The Committee was advised that any learning 
from the complaints had been addressed by managers with the staff concerned. 
 
Overall, it was highlighted that the process of early resolution was appearing to be making a 
difference in reducing the number of complaints that entered the formal system; and it was 
hoped that this would be maintained. 
 
During consideration of the report, the Committee raised the following comments: - 
 

 A request was made for further clarity around the graphs and the higher number of 
complaints received in Lincoln.  The Committee noted that there were three areas 
with higher number of complaints, they were Lincoln and two of the East Lindsey 
teams.  Reassurance was given that team managers reviewed all the complaints 
received to see what could be learnt from them.  It was noted that for some of the 
East Lindsey complaints there had been some issues with children moving over the 
borders, as there had been a change in the way Lincolnshire managed cases 
compared to north and north east Lincolnshire; 

 One member agreed that early resolution was a good thing to do but, actually should 
those contacted for early resolution still be classed as complaints; as someone had 
felt aggrieved enough in the first place to make contact; 

 Further background information was sought relating to the two cases that had been 
referred to the Local Government and Social Ombudsman where fault had been 
found (page 130 paragraph 8 of the report pack).  The Committee noted that one 
related to an age assessment for an unaccompanied asylum seeker, that the Council 

Page 13



10 
CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
15 OCTOBER 2021 
 

had not applied the correct procedures; and the other was failing to provide suitable 
full-time education, which was then resolved; 

 Better explanation of acronyms; and 

 The need to ensure that compliments were recorded. Officers confirmed that 
compliments were received, and that these needed to be recorded better and 
included in future reports.  

 
The Chairman on behalf of the Committee extended his thanks to the Head of Service – 
Quality and Standards and Principal Social Worker for the presentation. 
 
RESOLVED 
 

1. That the Children’s Services Annual Statutory Complaints Report 2021/21 be 
received; and that the low number of complaints that were upheld or partially 
upheld be noted. 

 
2. That the comments raised by the Committee during discussion be received.   

 
35     CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 

 
The Committee considered a report from Tracy Johnson, Senior Scrutiny Officer, which 
invited members to consider and comment on the content of its work programme, to ensure 
that scrutiny activity was focused where it could be of greatest benefit. 
 
The Committee was advised of the following amendments to the November agenda: 
 

 The pre-decision scrutiny item on the expansion of St Lawrence School, Horncastle, 
had been deferred to the meeting on 14 January 2022 to allow for further work on 
the scheme; 

 The Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children Partnership (LSCP) Update had been removed 
from the agenda and the next update from the LSCP would now be on 22 April 2022; 
and 

 There were two additional pre-decision scrutiny items in relation to the Spalding 
Academy Basic Need project and the Stamford Welland Academy Basic Need 
Project, prior to a decision by the Executive Councillor for People Management, 
Legal and Corporate Property between 22 and 30 November 2021. 

 
One suggestion put forward for consideration at a future meeting was the independent 
report by Chris Witty, Chief Medical Officer on the health and wellbeing of England’s coastal 
communities and how this impacted Children’s Services. 
 
RESOLVED 
 

That the work programme presented be agreed subject to the inclusion of the 
amendments/suggestion mentioned above.  

Page 14



11 
CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

15 OCTOBER 2021 
 

 
 
The meeting closed at 12.21 pm 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



     
 

Open Report on behalf of Heather Sandy - Executive Director - Children’s Services  

 

Report to: Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee 

Date: 19 November 2021 

Subject: Joint Diversionary Panel – University of Lincoln Evaluation  

Decision Reference:   Key decision? No   

Summary:  

This report provides Committee members with the key findings of the evaluation of the 
Joint Diversionary Panel undertaken by Dr Sue Bond-Taylor from the University of 
Lincoln. The evaluation was commissioned by the Office of the Lincolnshire Police and 
Crime Commissioner and the Safer Lincolnshire Partnership. 
 
 

Actions Required:  

The Committee is invited to review and comment on the outcome of the evaluation and 
to endorse the proposed actions to continue the on-going development of the Joint 
Diversionary Panel. 
 

 
1. Background 

 
In September 2020, a report on Lincolnshire's Joint Diversionary Panel (JDP) was 
presented to the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee. This provided an 
explanation of the key aims, principles and objectives of the JDP, in addition to 
performance data and case studies, to demonstrate the impact to date, of the JDP. The 
report also highlighted the interim findings from the evaluation of the panel which was 
commissioned by key partners and being undertaken by Dr Sue Bond-Taylor from the 
University of Lincoln. 
 
The Joint Diversionary Panel was established in 2017 in response to detailed analysis of 
criminal justice disposals which evidenced the inappropriate use of Police Cautions against 
children and young people. As a direct consequence of this practice there was a much 
higher number of First Time Entrants (FTE) into the criminal justice system in Lincolnshire, 
in comparison to our statistical neighbours. The implications of acquiring a criminal 
conviction for a child or young person can have potentially long-term negative impacts 
upon their future. 

Page 17

Agenda Item 5



 

 

The JDP currently reviews cases of children and young people aged between 10 and 18 
where there is an admission of responsibility for the offence. The JDP seeks to understand 
the underlying causes of children and young people's behaviour. In addition, it offers the 
ability to provide timely and effective intervention to reduce the potential for children and 
young people to become involved in the formal justice system. The table above reflects 
the ages and gender of those children reviewed within the panel. This demonstrates that 
the predominant age range for males is between 15 and 17, whilst the numbers of female 
children is noticeably less when the contact with the panel is at an earlier age. 

 

 

 

The table above maintains a consistent spread of offence types that have been present 
since the commencement of the panel. Whilst violence is the most common type of 
offence this should also be considered in the context of the seriousness of these offences 
which allows them to be dealt with outside of the court process and can often be peer on 
peer assaults. The views of victims are critical and are gathered within the panel process 
to highlight the impact of the offence, but this also brings a restorative focus which is also 
demonstrated to reduce the potential for re-offending.  Research has demonstrated the 
effectives of Restorative Practice (RP) in the respect of longer-term benefits for children 
and young people.  

Page 18



 

Key: 

CR – Community Resolution YCC – Youth Conditional Caution 
NFA – No Further Action YRI – Youth Restorative Intervention 
YC – Youth Caution  

 

The table above provides evidence that throughout the lockdown we have been able to 
maintain a focus on providing restorative disposals in the vast number of cases. There are 
occasions when the panel decides that a case should be charged to court, but this is by 
exception and has only been utilised in approximately 8% of all cases heard in this 12-
month period. 
 
The Joint Diversionary Panel is an integral element of the Future4Me offer which is built 
on our key principles of being child first, relationship based, restorative and recognising 
the impact of trauma and adverse experiences in childhood. Seeking the views of children 
and young people within the Future4Me cohort is a core aspect of shaping our service 
delivery. Through our engagement with children and young people it has highlighted 
significant levels of satisfaction with the support they have been offered. As part of a 
recent evaluation with over 50 young people, more than 90% said they would recommend 
the service to their friends and over 93% said that their futures looked more positive as a 
result of their involvement with Future4Me. 
 
University of Lincoln Evaluation 
 
The evaluation was commissioned and funded by Lincolnshire County Council and the 
Office of the Lincolnshire Police and Crime Commissioner and carried out between January 
2018 and April 2021. There is recognition that the evaluation was also unavoidably 
delayed due to the Covid-19 pandemic and the ability at that time to undertake key pieces 
of work to bring it to an earlier conclusion. 
 
The evaluation is informed by elements of an appreciative inquiry approach, in the context 
of a longer standing reciprocal relationship of partnership working. In the role of 
researcher Dr Bond-Taylor acted as a ‘critical friend’ to Lincolnshire County Council and 
Lincolnshire Police in highlighting what is already working, developing ‘provocative 
propositions’ that stretch and challenge the service, and generating practical 
recommendations to help direct future practice and achieve improved outcomes for 
children and young people in the county. 

Page 19



Evaluation Objectives 
 
The objectives of the evaluation were twofold: 
 
1. Evaluate the appropriateness and effectiveness of the Joint Diversionary Panel 

process for making decisions about outcomes for young people who have admitted 
an offence. 

 
2. Review the effectiveness and suitability of any subsequent Youth Restorative 

Interventions being delivered as out of court disposals. 
 

The evaluation was designed to identify evidence outcomes set out within the Joint 
Diversionary Panel Terms of Reference. This included a necessity to ensure that victim 
satisfaction and confidence are maintained and that the panel contributes towards 
community safety and reducing the risk of re-offending.  
 
The importance of stakeholder confidence is also key in that the panel is seen to be fair 
and proportionate, and balancing a need to ensure children are not criminalised 
unnecessarily. Finally, adopting a holistic approach and solving problems at the earliest 
opportunity to reduce the need for longer term statutory involvement are also important 
objectives in determining the success of the panel process. 
 
Methodology 
 
The methodology for the evaluation was robust, objective and independent, and founded 
upon an academic basis which reflected and incorporated research regarding best practice 
within criminal justice and restorative interventions. The views of all key stakeholders are 
reflected within the evaluation, and this crucially includes professionals, victims of crime 
and young people who had experienced the Joint Diversionary Panel.  
 
Analysis of service data for the 2-year period January 2018 to December 2019 revealed 
that 867 cases were heard at the JDP. Background research was undertaken at the outset 
to provide a clear and transparent context for the evaluation, and this was further 
supplemented by interviews, victim surveys and case file analysis. 
 
The evaluation sought to review the use of The Youth Restorative Intervention (YRI) as an 
alternative to formal disposals such as the youth caution, youth conditional caution and 
prosecution. It works alongside the JDP by offering a range of interventions that can be 
delivered with the young person without resorting to their formal criminalisation, and it is 
therefore a means to divert young people away from the youth justice system. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 20



2. Conclusion 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Key Findings which emerged from the evaluation 
  
Holistic Decision Making: there is clear evidence that the JDP provides a process for 
making more holistic and informed decisions about young people who have admitted an 
offence. The multi-agency nature of the panel and the use of information from various 
sources feed into this. The analysis will explore this process in more detail, identifying 
good practice and potential gaps in the information considered at the JDP. 
 
Problem Solving Approach: the analysis is exploring how the panel takes a problem-
solving approach which attempts to maximise positive outcomes whilst minimising 
harmful consequences. There is evidence of the panel’s awareness that some outcomes 
have the potential to do more harm than good. The case file analysis identified 43 
different factors considered within the sample of 12 cases. 
 
Non-Escalation: the JDP is emerging as an important non-escalatory approach to youth 
justice, which helps to divert young people away from criminalisation where possible and 
thus to minimise the long-term impact of their actions. The analysis has uncovered how 
non-escalation is facilitated in different aspects of the decision making, including critical 
use of intelligence, responses to breach and considerations of proportionality. 
 
Interventionist Diversion: the research provides evidence that the YRI enables young 
people to receive positive support without being criminalised – thus filling an important 
gap in the services available for young people in conflict with the law and reflecting a form 
of interventionist diversion. 
 
Allocation and Relationships: there is evidence of flexible allocations to staff from a range 
of agencies, based on several factors specific to the young person’s life. The analysis is 
exploring how this reflects a relational approach and helps to support the young person’s 
engagement. 
 

The overall findings of the evaluation are that: 
 
Lincolnshire’s Joint Diversionary Panel has provided a robust and effective process for 
making informed decisions about young people in conflict with the law, which: 
 
a) Prevents their unnecessary criminalisation; and 
 
b) Diverts them into supportive and preventative interventions. 
 
The introduction of the Youth Restorative Intervention for use by the panel has 
significantly improved outcomes for young people in the county whilst maintaining 
community safety. 
 

Page 21



Restorative Interventions: the emphasis on high support and intervention alongside a 
reduction in criminalisation reflects the aims of a restorative practice approach which is 
promoted across Lincolnshire County Council’s Children’s Services more broadly. 
 
Multi-agency Working and Changing Cultures: the interviews have revealed the JDP 
process as a conduit or mechanism for shifting wider organisational cultures. Changing 
police attitudes and responses to young people in conflict with the law has emerged as a 
particular theme which is being explored in the analysis. 
 
Communication: an important theme is emerging around communication within the 
context of multiagency decision making, and the extent of individuals’ understanding of 
the JDP process. The analysis will consider how this has improved and developed during 
the two years the JDP has operated and identify possible areas for improved 
communication. 
 
Victim and Young Person Views: the analysis has raised questions about the challenges of 
including the views and voices of the parties to the offence within the panel process. The 
analysis will consider whether these are appropriately considered at the panel, and how to 
overcome some of the challenges. 
 
Recommendations 
 
Whilst acknowledging the valuable contribution and success of the JDP and YRI initiative, 
this evaluation has also identified the potential for further service development and 
improvements in the following areas: 
 

1. Develop a young person participation strategy: There is scope for developing a 
more participatory approach in which young people’s views and contributions are 
embedded more systematically into the process and which collaboratively address 
the issues impacting other young people in their community. 

 
2. Expand the Future4Me offer: Building upon the creative emergency approaches 

which the Covid-19 pandemic and lockdown prompted, the Future4Me team could 
broaden and enhance the offer of positive diversionary activities, promoting social 
inclusion and citizenship, and restorative work with young people. 

 
3. Increase victim participation: Whilst it is important to separate victim needs from 

the outcome for the young person, so as not to undermine the non-escalatory 
approach, there is scope for enhancing victim inclusion, information and 
communication. The design and distribution of the Victim Survey needs rethinking 
to provide more reliable data. 
 

4. Undertake enhanced data analysis: The opportunity for quantitative data analysis 
has been limited within this evaluation. It would be useful to engage in a more 
systematic collection and analysis of service data in key areas. 

 

Page 22



5. Improve communications and share success stories more widely: There is scope 
for further public relations work to share the purpose and successes of the JDP and 
YRI, e.g., a public information event. 

 
 
Conclusion  
 
The evaluation undertaken by the University of Lincoln validates the establishment of the 
panel in 2017. It demonstrates that the Joint Diversionary Panel provides an effective and 
positive element of how we address youth crime in Lincolnshire. It also provides a credible 
out of court process and maintains the confidence of the key stakeholders and is founded 
on multi-agency decision making regarding children/young people's offending behaviours.  
 
It is recognised that an extensive and diverse universal support offer already currently 
exists across Lincolnshire which includes Positive Futures and Youth and Community 
Development. It is key that these and other localised activities and programmes are fully 
utilised and act in a preventative and diversionary way to minimise the potential for 
children to become engaged in crime or anti-social behaviour. 
 
The panel ensures that there is an informed and proportionate response to children's 
behaviours. It enables us to divert young people away from the formalised justice system 
and support them to avoid the longer-term implications of acquiring a criminal conviction, 
where it is safe and appropriate to do so. This has positive implications on an individual 
level for that child/young person and their family, the victim and the community and in 
regard to continuing to contribute to the picture to reduced numbers of arrests and first-
time entrants in Lincolnshire.   
 
Following the conclusion of the evaluation, the panel recognises the need for continuous 
reflection and review, working collaboratively with key stakeholders to identify 
opportunities for development and improvement. These will be taken forward as part of a 
specific action plan to provide the necessary assurance for all key stakeholders and to 
ensure reduced crime and safer communities in Lincolnshire. 
 
All partners with a vested interest in the Joint Diversionary Panel would wish to extend 
their genuine appreciation to Dr Sue Bond-Taylor for providing a robust, objective and 
comprehensive evaluation. I have no doubt that the findings will significantly contribute 
towards our on-going development and learning. 
 
 
3. Consultation 

 
 

 

 

 

 

a)  Risks and Impact Analysis 

Not Applicable 
 
 
 
 

Page 23



4. Appendices 

 

These are listed below and attached at the back of the report 

Appendix A University of Lincoln JDP Evaluation 

 
 
5. Background Papers 
 
The following background papers as defined in the Local Government Act 1972 were relied 
upon in the writing of this report. 
 
 

Document title Where the document can be viewed 

Restorative Practice - 
Lincolnshire Joint Diversionary 
Panels (JDP) – Position Report 
and Evaluation Report from the 
University of Lincoln – Report to 
the Children and Young 
Committee on 4 September 2020 

https://lincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocument
s.aspx?CId=124&MId=5499  

 
 
This report was written by Andy Cook, Head of Service - Future4Me/Youth Offending, who 
can be contacted on 07787 887175 or by e-mail at andy.cook@lincolnshire.gov.uk  

Page 24

https://lincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=124&MId=5499
https://lincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=124&MId=5499
mailto:andy.cook@lincolnshire.gov.uk


 

 

 

University of Lincoln 

 

Evaluation of the Joint Diversionary Panel 

and Youth Restorative Intervention 

 

On behalf of Lincolnshire County Council 

 

Final Report 

July 2021 

Dr. Sue Bond-Taylor 

 

 

 

 

    

 

 

  

Page 25



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

About the Evaluation: 

This evaluation was commissioned and funded by Lincolnshire County Council and the Office of the 

Lincolnshire Police and Crime Commissioner and carried out between January 2018 and April 2021. 

Research Team: 

Principal Investigator: Dr Sue Bond-Taylor, School of Social and Political Sciences, University of Lincoln 

Research Assistant: Hollie Skipp, Undergraduate Student at the University of Lincoln 

Acknowledgements: 

The author would like to thank the staff at Lincolnshire County Council and partner agencies who 

supported the research through participation in interviews and other contributions. In particular, thanks 

go to Stacey Waller from Lincolnshire County Council for her collaborative approach to supporting this 

evaluation work, as well as Professor Abigail Powell at the University of Lincoln for her comments on an 

early draft of the report. Considerable gratitude must also go to the service users who shared their very 

personal stories in order to support service improvements for others.  

Suggested Citation:  

Bond-Taylor, S. (2021) Evaluation of the Joint Diversionary Panel and Youth Restorative Intervention, 

Lincoln: University of Lincoln. 

Enquiries:  

For further information please contact Dr Sue Bond-Taylor at sbtaylor@lincoln.ac.uk.  

Page 26

mailto:sbtaylor@lincoln.ac.uk


Contents 

Executive Summary ......................................................................................................................................... 1 

1. Introduction to the Evaluation ................................................................................................................ 4 

1.1. Objectives ....................................................................................................................................... 4 

1.2. Methods ......................................................................................................................................... 5 

1.3. Policy Contexts ............................................................................................................................... 6 

1.4. Useful Background Literature ........................................................................................................ 8 

1.5. About the Service .........................................................................................................................10 

1.6. Structure of the Report ................................................................................................................12 

2. Case File Analysis ..................................................................................................................................13 

2.1. Case Information ..........................................................................................................................13 

2.2. Comparison of Recommendation and Case Outcome .................................................................15 

2.3. Visualisations of the Difference between Police Recommendation and Case Outcome .............16 

2.4. Decision making process as ‘problem solving’ .............................................................................18 

2.5. What Does This Tell Us? ..............................................................................................................20 

3. Victim Survey Analysis ..........................................................................................................................22 

3.1. About the Survey Data .................................................................................................................22 

3.2. Summary of Responses to the Survey Questions ........................................................................23 

3.3. Analysis of Relationships Between the Responses ......................................................................25 

3.4. Analysis of the Qualitative Comments from the Surveys.............................................................29 

3.5. What Does This Tell Us? ..............................................................................................................30 

4. Interview Analysis .................................................................................................................................31 

4.1. Effectiveness of JDP Decision-Making ..........................................................................................31 

4.2. Effectiveness and Suitability of Interventions ..............................................................................48 

4.3. Supporting Young People to Reach their Potential ......................................................................62 

4.4. Stakeholder Confidence in the Process ........................................................................................69 

4.5. What Does This Tell Us? ..............................................................................................................76 

5. Conclusions and Recommendations .....................................................................................................78 

5.1. Conclusions ..................................................................................................................................78 

5.2. Recommendations .......................................................................................................................81 

References ....................................................................................................................................................83 

 

Page 27



 

1 
 

Executive Summary 
 

Overview 

Lincolnshire Youth Offending Service (LYOS) have been working collaboratively with Lincolnshire Police to 

develop a new way of responding to young people who come to the attention of the police as a result of 

their behaviour. In September 2017 they launched the Joint Diversionary Panel (JDP) as an out of court 

decision-making forum, and the new Youth Restorative Intervention (YRI) as a non-statutory disposal 

within the county.  

The University of Lincoln was commissioned to provide an evaluation of these two elements of the 

initiative. The evaluation was conducted between January 2018 and April 2021, and was impacted by the 

Covid-19 pandemic. The evaluation was therefore adapted to be able to consider directly the impact of 

the pandemic on service delivery. 

 

Conclusions 
 

The overall findings of the evaluation are that: 

Lincolnshire’s Joint Diversionary Panel has provided a robust and effective process for making informed 

decisions about young people in conflict with the law, which: 

a) prevents their unnecessary criminalisation; and   

b) diverts them into supportive and preventative interventions. 

The introduction of the Youth Restorative Intervention for use by the panel has significantly improved 

outcomes for young people in the county whilst maintaining community safety. 

 

Strengths and Successes 

The following strengths of the service were identified from the evidence gathered within the evaluation, 

relating to eight key outcomes 

Victim confidence and satisfaction:  

• Victim satisfaction with the JDP is good and victims want to engage with the process. 

• The Victim Liaison Officers (VLO) play a pivotal role in supporting victims. 

Community safety and reduced reoffending 

• JDP decisions focus explicitly on Likelihood of Offending and Risk of Serious Harm. 

• Reoffending rates for cases at JDP are lower than the national reoffending rate. 

• Only a very small minority of young people return repeatedly to JDP. 

 

Page 28



 

2 
 

Stakeholder confidence that the CJS is fair and proportionate 

• JDP has led changes in organisational cultures of multi-agency partnerships in Lincolnshire.  

• The professionals interviewed showed high levels of confidence in JDP.  

• Professional stakeholder understanding and confidence in JDP has improved over time.  

• There is evidence of ongoing service development in response to feedback from stakeholders. 

• Young people in the service express their satisfaction with the diversionary outcome. 

• Their confidence in the system comes from their relationship with their allocated worker.  

Ensuring that young people are not criminalised unnecessarily 

• JDP is the primary response to young people’s offending, not just first / low level offences.   

• JDP takes a non-escalatory approach which reduces the formal criminalisation of children. 

• Non-escalation is facilitated by critical reflection on intelligence, breach and proportionality.  

• The panel are not afraid to use the No Further Action outcome for vulnerable children. 

Increasing the range of interventions available for those young people that engage in ASB and 

offending behaviour with the aid of Early Help/YOS and other agencies 

• The introduction of JDP and YRI has increased the range of disposals available.  

• The YRI fills an important gap by delivering interventions without criminal charge. 

• JDP has almost entirely removed the use of the Youth Caution in Lincolnshire. 

• The YRI has increased the welfare support available to young people in conflict with the law. 

• The YRI has restorative justice elements and Covid-19 has led to more creative thinking. 

Diverting young people and their families away from statutory involvement with Children’s 

Services by adapting a needs focussed holistic approach 

• JDP takes a holistic approach to decision-making, supported by multi-agency membership.  

• JDP decision-making is evidence-informed and considers the full context of the child’s life. 

• The YRI model reflects the restorative practice approach used within LCC Children’s Services. 

• Robust assessment alongside allocation to Early Help supports non-statutory family support.  

Supporting children to be ready for adult life 

• The YRI provides a bespoke package supporting the young person’s needs and aspirations. 

• Interventions are asset-based and engage young people through their strengths / interests. 

• Young people express confidence and optimism in their futures, self-esteem and life-choices. 

• The holistic, multi-agency approach supports vulnerable young people to succeed. 

• JDP take a ‘problem solving’ approach which supports young people with complex lives. 

Supporting children to be safe and healthy 

• JDP provides a mechanism for ensuring children are safe and protected from harm.  

• The YRI as ‘interventionist diversion’ enables early support before behaviours escalate. 

• Safety and Wellbeing concerns are of equal consideration at JDP as the risk of reoffending.  

• The allocated worker supports the young person’s physical and mental health needs. 

• Young people said they were likely to avoid risky situations, to stay safe and out of trouble. 

Page 29



 

3 
 

Recommendations 

Whilst acknowledging the valuable contribution and success of the JDP and YRI initiative, this evaluation 

has also identified the potential for further service development and improvements in a number of areas: 

Develop a young person participation strategy: There is scope for developing a more participatory 

approach in which young people’s views and contributions are embedded more systematically into the 

process, and which collaboratively address the issues impacting other young people in their community. 

Expand the Future4Me offer:  Building upon the creative emergency approaches which the Covid-19 

pandemic and lockdown prompted, the Future4Me team could broaden and enhance the offer of 

positive diversionary activities, promoting social inclusion and citizenship, and restorative work with 

young people. 

Increase victim participation: Whilst it is important to separate victim needs from the outcome for the 

young person, so as not to undermine the non-escalatory approach, there is scope for enhancing victim 

inclusion, information and communication. The design and distribution of the Victim Survey needs 

rethinking to provide more reliable data. 

Undertake enhanced data analysis: The opportunity for quantitative data analysis has been limited 

within this evaluation. It would be useful to engage in a more systematic collection and analysis of service 

data in key areas.  

Improve communications and share success stories more widely: There is scope for further public 

relations work to share the purpose and successes of the JDP and YRI, e.g. a public information event. 

 

The Evidence Base  

The evidence supporting these conclusions has been generated through a number of research processes: 

Background Review – Including review of key literature, service documents and data 

Case File Analysis - Detailed document analysis of 12 cases heard at JDP 

Victim Survey Analysis - Analysis of 53 completed Victim Liaison Officer Surveys 

Interviews – Semi-structured interviews with 24 key stakeholders including: 

• 15 professionals within LCC or partner agencies 

• 3 victims of young people’s offences heard at JDP 

• 6 young people who had been heard at JDP and given a YRI outcome 

The synthesis of these diverse data sources supports the validity of the conclusions drawn.  

Page 30



 

4 
 

1. Introduction to the Evaluation 
 

1.1. Objectives 
 

Lincolnshire Youth Offending Service (LYOS) have been working collaboratively with Lincolnshire Police to 

develop a new way of responding to young people who come to the attention of the police as a result of 

their behaviour. In September 2017 they launched the Joint Diversionary Panel (JDP) and the new Youth 

Restorative Intervention (YRI) in the county, with the aims of: 

• reducing the number of first-time entrants into the youth justice system 

• intervening early with young people 

• reducing and preventing their offending.  

The JDP response to young people in conflict with the law ensures that decisions are informed by the full 

range of information about the young person’s situation, and aims to generate outcomes that are 

proportionate and effective. 

The Youth Restorative Intervention (YRI) is an alternative to formal disposals such as the youth caution, 

youth conditional caution and prosecution. It works alongside the JDP by offering a range of interventions 

that can be delivered with the young person without resorting to their formal criminalisation, and it is 

therefore a means to divert young people away from the youth justice system.  

The objectives of this evaluation are therefore twofold: 

1. Evaluate the appropriateness and effectiveness of the Joint Diversionary Panel process for 

making decisions about outcomes for young people who have admitted an offence 

2. Review the effectiveness and suitability of any subsequent Youth Restorative Interventions 

being delivered as out of court disposals. 

The evaluation was designed to identify evidence of 6 key local outcomes listed within the Joint 

Diversionary Panel Terms of Reference: 

1. Improve victim confidence and satisfaction. 

2. Enhance community safety and reduce reoffending.  

3. Improve confidence of stakeholders that the CJS is fair and proportionate. 

4. Ensure Young People are not criminalised unnecessarily. 

5. Increase the range of interventions available for those Young People that engage in ASB and 

offending behaviour with the aid of Early Help/YOS and other agencies 

6. Divert young people and their families away from statutory involvement with Children’s 

Services by adapting a needs focussed holistic approach 

In addition to this a further set of key outcomes were added that underpin the wider work of Lincolnshire 

County Council’s Children’s Services: 

Children are Ready for Adult Life 

• Young people are supported to reach their potential 

• Vulnerable young people are appropriately supported to be as able to succeed as their peers 

Page 31



 

5 
 

Children are Safe and Healthy 

• Children are safe and protected from harm 

• Children and families are supported as soon as problems emerge 

• Children are at reduced likelihood of repeat criminal activity and interactions with the Police 

 

1.2. Methods 
 

The evaluation is informed by elements of an appreciative inquiry approach, in the context of a longer 

standing reciprocal relationship of partnership working. The researcher acts as a ‘critical friend’ to 

Lincolnshire County Council in highlighting what is already working, developing ‘provocative propositions’ 

that stretch and challenge the service, and generating practical recommendations to help direct future 

practice and achieve improved outcomes for children and young people in the county. 

In addition to a review of the literature and service data and documents, there are three elements of data 

analysis conducted for this evaluation: 

Case File Analysis: Detailed document analysis of 12 cases heard at JDP. 

Victim Survey Analysis: Analysis of 53 completed Victim Liaison Officer Surveys. 

Interviews: Interviews with key stakeholders to include:  

o 6 Lincolnshire YOS staff in a range of roles 

o 2 Youth Court Magistrates 

o 1 Independent lay member of JDP 

o 2 Early Help professionals 

o 2 Police Officers 

o 1 We Are With Youi worker 

o 1 Restorative Solutions worker 

o 3 Victims of young people’s offences 

o 12 Young people (see note re impact of Covid on this sample size) 

The research for this evaluation was led by Dr Sue Bond-Taylor, Senior Lecturer in Criminology at the 

University of Lincoln. The analysis of the victim interview survey was undertaken by an undergraduate 

research assistant, Hollie Skipp.  

 

Impact of the Covid-19 Pandemic and Lockdown 

During the course of the evaluation, the UK experienced the Covid-19 pandemic and subsequent national 

lockdown in March 2020. This interrupted the work to incorporate the voice of young people into the 

evaluation, and the planned interviews with young people who had experienced the JDP process were put 

on hold. Given the duration of social distancing requirements and the subsequent lockdown periods, the 

planned face to face interviews with young people were replaced by remote methods.  

 

Page 32



 

6 
 

Young people were encouraged to select their preferred method of engagement from a suite of options, 

including: 

• Video call (in WhatsApp, Zoom or MS Teams) 

• Phone Call (to mobile, landline or parent/carer’s phone) 

• Typed conversation (via WhatsApp or email) 

Even with this choice, engaging young people with these remote methods was challenging, and the sample 

is smaller than originally anticipated (just 6 rather than 12 young people).  

Furthermore, whilst remote methods enabled the young people’s voices to be heard, they prevented some 

of the more creative and ‘child friendly’ research activity that was planned for the face-to-face interviews, 

and the resulting data may be more limited as a consequence. The young people interviewed also tended 

to have experienced the interventions being delivered remotely and therefore were unable to comment 

on how this might have looked before the pandemic. 

To ensure that the report could reflect the impact of Covid on the service, a further round of shorter, catch 

up interviews was conducted with the professional participants, to explore their experiences of the 

adaptations made by the service in response to the pandemic. 12 out of the original 15 participants took 

part in these Covid catch up interviews, which were all conducted remotely via Microsoft Teams. 

Overview of Final Interview Methods Used 

 Face to Face Video Call Phone Typed  Total 

Professionals 15    15 

Professionals 
(Covid catch up) 

 12   12 

Victims 1  2  3 

Young People  3 1 2 6 
  

1.3. Policy Contexts 
 

The introduction of the Joint Diversionary Panel must be understood in the context of significant 

changes within the Youth Justice System in England and Wales, following a number of developments 

over at least the last decade. These include: 

 

1. The reduction in centralised Ministry of Justice performance targets to just three key 

measures: Reducing First Time Entrants, Reducing Use of Custody, and Reducing Reoffending. 

 

2. The removal of police detection targets: The kinds of low-level offences committed by young 

people, and their tendency to admit their involvement meant that this had been an easy way for 

police to achieve targets. 

 

3. The financial constraints of austerity: Led to a growing expectation that youth justice spending 

could be reduced through system contraction. Cuts to local authority budgets also saw a 

reduction in spending on universal youth services and preventative work. 

 

Page 33



 

7 
 

4. Introduction of the Legal Aid, Sentencing and Punishment of Offenders Act 2012: This allowed 

for more localised approaches to delivering youth offending services. It also encouraged more 

flexibility in offering out of court disposals, and reformed the cautioning system to permit repeat 

cautioning in place of the more restrictive Reprimand and Final Warning scheme. 

 

5. A growing movement in developing ‘Child First’ approaches to youth justice: Child First 

perspectives (Haines and Case, 2015) prioritising children’s rights have been influential within 

local youth justice teams, and more recently have been adopted as a guiding principle 

underpinning the standards for children in the youth justice system (Youth Justice Board / 

Ministry of Justice, 2019) and the latest Youth Justice Board Strategy (Youth Justice Board, 2021). 

A children’s rights approach to youth justice requires children in conflict with the law to be 

treated as both competent and in need of protection from harm and abuse, so that their 

citizenship can be recognised alongside their right to remain children (Arthur, 2015).  

 

At the national level, there is clear evidence of significant changes to the processing of young people as a 

result of this new youth justice climate. Across England and Wales, the number of first-time entrants fell 

by 85% over the decade from the year ending March 2009 to March 2019, with an 18% fall since the 

previous year ending March 2018. The number of arrests of under 18s has fallen by 77% since the year 

ending March 2009, and use of the Youth Caution has seen a 91% reduction in this period (Youth Justice 

Board/Ministry of Justice, 2020) 

There has also been a significant reduction in the use of custodial sentences for under 18s. The number 

of occasions upon which under 18s were sentenced to immediate custody has reduced by 76% since 2009 

(from 5450 to 1287), and by 19% in the twelve months since March 2018. In the year ending March 2019, 

there were approximately 860 children in custody at any one time, a reduction of 70% from ten years 

ago, when there was an average of around 2,900 children in custody. There is however evidence that 

some children have may benefitted less than others from these diversionary trends, most notably for 

BAME children, who saw a 37% reduction in use of custody, compared to 60% for White children in the 

five years since March 2014 (Youth Justice Board/Ministry of Justice, 2020). 

Given the widespread changes in the processing of children within the youth justice system, with first 

time and less serious offences being subject to diversionary strategies, with criminalisation reserved for 

more persistent and serious offenders, it is unsurprising that this will have impacted on the reoffending 

rates of those remaining in the system. At 38% and with 4.05 reoffences per reoffender, this is the 

highest frequency rate seen in the last decade (Youth Justice Board/Ministry of Justice, 2020) 

At a local level, across England and Wales, Youth Offending Teams have taken the opportunity presented 

by these concurrent contexts to redesign their services for young people who come into conflict with the 

criminal law. This has led to a period of increasing diversity and creativity of responses reflecting local 

priorities, politics and needs of the community, but it has also been described as producing a lack of 

consistency across the jurisdiction, and a postcode lottery for young people who come into contact with 

youth justice services. There is therefore a pressing need to understand and share effective practice 

within local developments. 

 

Page 34



 

8 
 

1.4. Key Literature 
 

This evaluation engages with the latest academic research in the field in order to generate a theoretically 

informed evaluation that can be situated within existing the knowledge and evidence base. A literature 

review was conducted to identify key trends, contemporary practices and critical concerns, so as to 

better understand the initiatives being evaluated. The following table provides a brief summary of some 

of the literature used to inform analysis. A full literature review report is available separately. 

Source Key issues discussed 

Smith and Gray 
(2019) 

- Non-criminalising system contact can still be oppressive. 
- Reference to restorative justice appear in most youth justice plans but may be 
operationalised differently, e.g.: 

• Responsibilising focus, e.g. reparation or apology; or 

• Emphasis on conflict resolution, social inclusion. 

Gray and Smith 
(2019) 

- Identify a typology of 3 trends in YOT service delivery: 

• Offender Management – emphasis on responses to offending, risk 
management and statutory case load. 

• Targeted Intervention – priority working with those who offend but with 
wider prevention partnerships in place. 

• Children & Young People First – prioritises wellbeing and de-emphasises 
offending within holistic universal services. 

Kelly and 
Armitage (2014) 

- Identify a recent trend in ‘interventionist diversion’ which diverts from 
prosecution into alternative services which closely resemble formal 
interventions. Key concerns:  

• More limited time period can reduce effectiveness of intervention. 

• Transfer of practice and programme sharing risks stigmatising the child. 

• Continued reliance upon ‘risk’ can lead to escalatory approaches. 

• Confusion when court ordered and out of court disposals run 
concurrently. 

• Distinction between formal/informal system contact is blurred. 

Soppitt and Irving 
(2014) 

- Limited impact of formal criminal justice responses which are not needs driven. 
- Account of Triage diversion scheme identifies some features limiting success: 

• Lack of police understanding about referral criteria or intervention 
delivered. 

• Lack of information sharing and input from other agencies. 

• Signposting to other forms of support not available. 

• Lack of case management after completion. 
- Restorative justice necessitates a two-way offender/victim interaction. 
- Young people often lack the literacy skills to write letters of apology. 

Newbury (2011) - Restorative justice must prioritise healing of harm over attribution of blame. 
Identifies some of the limitations of what can be achieved: 

• Time periods for intervention can limit options for a restorative approach. 

• Apologies don’t acknowledge ‘grey’ areas around peer-to-peer violence. 

Case et al (2020) - Promoting Inclusive Youth Justice study promotes participatory methods by: 

• Developing non-hierarchical relationships of trust. 

• Strengthening the child’s involvement in processes. 

• Facilitating opportunities for the child to negotiate content and form of 
intervention and supervision arrangements. 

Page 35



 

9 
 

• Accepting the validity of children’s experiential knowledge. 

Haines and Case - The primary text on the development of a ‘Child First’ model of youth justice, 
underpinned by children’s rights principles. 

Haines at al 
(2013) 

- Account of the Swansea Bureau which: 

• ‘slows down’ rather than fast tracks youth justice. 

• diverts through interventions promoting children’s entitlements. 

• Re-engages parents/carers. 

• Gives voice to the young person. 

• Decouples victim needs from the response to the child. 

Wachtel (2016) - International Institute for Restorative Practices distinguishes between the terms 
restorative justice and restorative practice. 
- Restorative justice responds to wrongdoing after the event. 
- Restorative practice proactively prevents conflict and wrongdoing by building 
relationships and community. 
- The Social Discipline Window (see below) is widely used to inform restorative 
practice: 

• a matrix of four different combinations of high or low control and high or 
low support. 

• the restorative domain combines both high control and high support, 
which reflects an authoritative approach. 

• This is characterised by doing with, rather than doing to or for. 

White (2003) - The structural, systemic and environmental contexts of youth offending are 
often ignored within criminal justice responses. 
- Calls for a model of ‘restorative social justice’ which address the - community-
level reasons for young people’s offending. 
- Youth justice institutions should take a greater role in forming communities of 
support and enhancing community resources. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

The Social Discipline 

Window (reproduced 

from Wachtel, 2016) 

 

Page 36



 

10 
 

1.5. About the Service 
 

JDP membership is made up of a number of professionals representing different agencies or services. At 

the outset of the evaluation, core members included: 

• JDP Chair 

• JDP Co-ordinator 

• 4 Children’s Social Care Practice Supervisors rotate 

• 10 Neighbourhood Policing Team Police Sergeants rotateii 

The JDP sit every week to consider the cases referred from Lincolnshire Police, and to consider the 

information about the offence and the young person before deciding on the outcome. The available 

outcomes are: 

• Charge to Court 

• Youth Conditional Caution 

• Youth Caution 

• Youth Restorative Intervention 

• Community Resolution 

• No Further Action 

Initially, the YRI was established with three tiers: 

Tier 1: Referral to service only (e.g. to substance misuse service) 

Tier 2: Low level intervention without assessment or allocation 

Tier 3: Full intervention, with allocation to worker, assessment and 12 weeks of 1:1 offence focused 

work, alongside a combination of other elements including:  

• Referral to other service 

• Referral to positive diversionary activity 

• Reparation 

• Apology or restorative justice conference 

• Group work 

The service has continued to develop during the course of the evaluation. Most notably, the tiered system 

has been removed, and all YRIs now require allocation of worker and assessment. Lower levels of 

intervention are provided under the Community Resolution banner. This report frequently refers to the 

tier structure as this was in place during the evaluation process. Where the interventions associated with 

the YRI are referred to, this most commonly refers to the YRI Tier 3. 

In addition, during this period, Lincolnshire Youth Offending Service became part of a new, multi-agency 

youth adolescent risk-taking hub, known as Future4Me. Whilst this evaluation is not primarily designed to 

investigate the Future4Me service, it will inevitably consider the impact this has had where relevant to the 

objectives of the study. 

Analysis of service data for the 2 year period January 2018 to December 2019 reveals that 867 cases were 

heard at JDP. 

Page 37



 

11 
 

Characteristics of Young People in the Service 

• 78% were male and 22% were female.  

• 20% were aged 10-13, 78% were aged 14-17, and 2% were aged 18. 

• 13% were Looked After Children. 

Age Number Percentage 

10 9 1% 

11 21 2% 

12 54 6% 

13 94 11% 

14 156 18% 

15 164 19% 

16 187 22% 

17 166 19% 

18 16 2% 

Total 867 100% 
 

Number of Occasions at Panel 

• 75% of cases heard involved a young person brought to panel for the first occasion.  

• 25% of hearings involved young people who were being heard for a second or subsequent 

occasion. 

Attendance at JDP Proportion of cases at JDP 

1st Occasion 75% 

2nd Occasion 18% 

3rd Occasion 6% 

4th Occasion 1% 

5th Occasion <1% 

6th Occasion <1% 

7th Occasion <1% 

 

Offence Classification 

The three most common offences were Violence (34%), Acquisitive (14%) and Criminal Damage (13%). 

Offence Classification Number Percentage 

Violence 296 34% 

Acquisitive 119 14% 

Criminal Damage 112 13% 

Public Order 96 11% 

Drugs 76 9% 

Weapons 67 8% 

Other 42 5% 

Driving 37 4% 

Sexual 21 2% 

Threats to Kill 1 <1% 

Total 867 100% 

Page 38



 

12 
 

Case Outcomes 

The most common outcomes were YRI 2 and 3, which accounted for 75% of cases. Only 6% resulted in 

charge, and there were only 3 Youth Cautions, accounting for less than 1% of the total cases in this 

period. 

Outcome Number Percentage 

Charge 54 6% 

Community Resolution 38 4% 

Not Applicable 4 <1% 

No Further Action 30 3% 

Youth Caution 3 <1% 

Youth Conditional Caution 36 4% 

Youth Restorative Intervention 1 54 6% 

Youth Restorative Intervention 2 293 34% 

Youth Restorative Intervention 3 355 41% 

Total 867 100% 
 

Service data reveals that the reoffending rates for the young people appearing at JDP are 24%. For those 

young people who do reoffend, the average number of reoffences within 12 months of first JDP 

appearance is 4, with violence against the person being the most common offence type for reoffences. 

 

1.6. Structure of the Report 
 

The following chapters will provide an account and analysis of the data used within this evaluation. 

Chapter 2 will evaluate the data from the case file analysis, offering an overview of the cases reviewed, 

comparing the police recommendations to the outcomes decided at panel, and identifying the process of 

JDP decision-making as a ‘problem solving’ approach. 

Chapter 3 considers the data from the Victim Surveys in three ways. It provides a quantitative account of 

victim responses to the survey questions, a quantitative analysis and suggested interpretations of the 

relationships between these responses, and discussion of the additional qualitative comments made by 

the victims within the survey. This analysis will highlight levels of victim satisfaction and factors which 

might impact this. 

Chapter 4 provides a detailed account of the rich, qualitative data resulting from the interviews 

conducted with professionals, victims and young people in the service. The analysis is structured around 

4 themes, exploring the effectiveness of the decision-making dimensions of JDP, the suitability of the 

resulting interventions, the support for young people to reach their potential, and stakeholder 

confidence in the process. 

Chapter 5 returns to the objectives of the evaluation and key local outcomes identified in this chapter, in 

order to provide the conclusions of the evaluation, as well as key recommendations for further service 

development and improvements.  

Page 39



 

13 
 

2. Case File Analysis 
 

A sample of 12 cases heard at JDP between Sept 2018 and Nov 2019 was selected for detailed 

documentary analysis. The purpose of the case file analysis was to facilitate a more in-depth exploration 

of the processes and outcomes at JDP, reviewing the detailed accounts of the young people’s lives, the 

offences they have admitted and the deliberations about the appropriate outcome in each case. 

 

2.1. Case Information  

Gender and Age 
The cases included 7 males & 5 females.  

They varied in age from 10-17 years at the time of offence. This included 1 aged 10, 4 aged 14, 1 aged 15, 

2 aged 16, and 4 aged 17.  

Offences 
The sample included cases falling within 4 broad offence types: 6 cases of violence, 3 cases of possession 

of cannabis, 2 cases of racially aggravated public order, and 1 case of arson.  However, it is worth noting 

that these broad classifications mask the variety of actions within these categories, as well as the 

locations and contexts of the offences.  And indeed, one of the cases classified as a violent offence 

actually related to a hearing for a number of offences together, including assault, criminal damage, 

possession of a bladed article, handling stolen goods, and possession of cannabis. 

Recommendation 
The case files note the recommendation given to JDP by the Police Officer in Charge. The most common 

recommendation was for a Youth Caution (6 cases), whilst a further 2 cases were recommended for 

Charge to Court, 1 for a Youth Conditional Caution, and 1 for a Youth Restorative Intervention. In 2 cases 

no recommendation was made.iii  

Case Outcome  
A range of outcomes were given by JDP in these 12 cases, including 2 Charges to Court, 1 Youth 

Conditional Caution, 6 YRI Tier 3, 1 YRI Tier 2, 1 YRI Tier 1, and 1 No Further Action. 

Despite the most common police recommendation being for a Youth Caution, not one was given, and 

these 6 cases saw JDP use the full range of alternative outcomes, from Charge to a YRI Tier 1. 

Of these outcomes, 8 required allocation to a worker for one-to-one interventions with the young 

person. 6 cases were allocated to a YOS worker and just 2 to an Early Help Worker. Outcomes which did 

not require allocation were Charge to Court (2), No Further Action (1) and YRI Tier 1 which requires a 

referral only (in this case to We Are With You) (1).  

Looked After Children & Children’s Services Involvement 
Many of the children in the sample have either current or historic experience of Children’s Services 

interventions. 4 of the young people are identified in the case files as Looked After Children, of which 3 

Page 40



 

14 
 

live in residential children’s homes and 1 in supported accommodation. All 4 of these cases included 

offences within their accommodation.  

In a further 5 cases, the case files note some level of current or historic Children’s Services involvement 

including having an Early Help Worker allocated, being subject to Team Around the Child or Child 

Protection, or broader statements about Children’s Services concerns about the child’s home 

environment. Only 3 case files do not mention any issues at home. 

Education  
6 of the 12 young people are noted as being on register in some kind of education, of which 4 are 

described as being in Alternative Provision, and 1 is described as attending a College Course. 3 young 

people are described as not currently in education or NEET.  For 4 young people their education status is 

unknown (2 of these are 17 years old, 1 has moved out of area). 3 young people from the sample have an 

Education Health Care Plan (including 2 of those whose educational status is currently unknown). 

Health Needs 
Half of the young people in the sample were known to CAMHS. 4 had been diagnosed or were awaiting 

diagnosis of ADHD, and 1 was described as having Asperger’s. Only 2 young people in the sample were 

not known to child health services and there were no concerns about their mental health or 

developmental needs identified.   

Childview YOS database 
The case files note that 10 out of the 12 young people had previous contact with the Youth Offending 

Service recorded in the Childview database, including 4 with previous convictions and related court 

orders, and 5 having received previous out of court disposals. 1 young person was noted in the files as 

being known by another YOS as they had come from out of area. Their file did not contain any 

information about whether they had received a court order or out of court disposal. 

NICHE Police Database  
All but 1 of the JDP Hearings referred to NICHE police intelligence. 9 cases made specific reference to 

previous allegations or intelligence about offending behaviours, including one not progressed for lack of 

evidence. In 3 cases the NICHE data related to safeguarding concerns about the young person or risks 

within their household.  

Young Person’s Views  
There was clear evidence of the young person being able to feed their views into the panel hearing in just 

4 cases, and even here this appeared to be just to give their account of the events, or to note that they 

‘lacked remorse’ rather than including their views on what should happen. In a further 2 cases, the files 

show that a social worker was asked to contribute the views of the young person, but it is unclear 

whether this was provided or discussed at panel. Contact had been attempted with a further 4 young 

people, but with no response or engagement.  In 1 case the young person was not contacted due to their 

age as they were 10 years old. In the final remaining case, there is no information available about the 

inclusion of the young person’s views.  

Page 41



 

15 
 

Victim’s Views 
7 JDP hearings clearly included the views of the victim. 3 cases were crown offences and therefore there 

was no direct victim involved. In 1 case contact with the victim had been attempted but they did not 

return contact therefore their views could not be included at panel. In 1 final case it was unclear whether 

victim views were included at the time of the panel, although the case file noted that the victim had been 

informed and was satisfied with the outcome of JDP. 

 

2.2. Comparison of Recommendation and Case Outcome 
 

It is possible to make a crude comparison of the recommendations and outcomes by noting their location 

on the Offending Ladder, working with the assumption that each step up the ladder represents one point 

on an escalating scale of penalty. In just 2 cases was the outcome the same as the recommendation. In 2 

cases the outcome was higher up the Offending Ladder. Of these, 1 outcome was 1 point higher, and 1 

was 2 points higher. In 6 cases the outcome was lower. Of these outcomes, 2 were 1 point lower, 1 was 2 

points lower, 2 were 3 points lower, and 1 represented a reduction of 5 points on the Offending Ladder, 

being reduced to a No Further Action. However, by focusing only on the vertical movement up the 

offending ladder, this fails to account for the horizontal movements along a corresponding axis of low to 

high degree of welfare support (reflecting restorative practices outlined in the literature review). By 

plotting the movement of each outcome in both directions from the recommendation, we see a fuller 

picture of the impact of JDP decision making on the outcomes for young people. 

 

 

 

Page 42



 

16 
 

2.3. Visualisations of the Difference between Police 
Recommendation and Case Outcome 

 

The following images provide visualisations of the difference between the police recommendation and 

the case outcome, as mapped onto the Offending Ladder matrix provided above. The text from the 

matrix is blurred in the images as the key point of interest here is the direction and distance of travel as 

represented by the arrows. 

Horizontal Axis: Travel to the right indicates higher level of welfare support. Travel to the left indicates 

lower level of welfare support. 

Vertical Axis: Travel upwards indicates higher level of criminalisation and sanction. Travel downwards 

indicates lower level of criminalisation and sanction. 

                

 

 

                 

 

 

               

Page 43



 

17 
 

 

 

              

 

             

 

Summary 

• Of the 12 cases, 10 had a recommendation made by the police.  

• In 2 of these cases the outcome at JDP was the same as the recommendation (depicted above by a 

triangle).  

• Of the remaining 8, the direction of change is depicted above by an arrow. 

• Of the 8 cases where the outcome was different to the recommendation, 6 cases moved down the 

vertical axis (i.e. from higher to lower sanction) and 2 moved up (i.e. from lower to higher sanction). 

7 cases moved from left to right on the axis (i.e. from lower support to higher support). The only case 

which moved from right to left (from higher to lower support) was the NFA’d case. 

The evidence from this small case file sample is therefore that the introduction of JDP as a decision-

making body has impacted outcomes in three key ways: 

1. It has removed the use of the Youth Caution in these cases, because it gives the young person a 

criminal record, but does not offer any support or intervention. 

2. It has led to outcomes that reduce the formal criminalisation of young people and prevent their 

escalation up the offending ladder. 

3. It has led to outcomes with an increased level of intervention and welfare support for the young 

person. 

This direction reflects the Child First Offender Second model of justice, and suggests an emphasis on 

interventionist diversion within youth justice in Lincolnshire. It also echoes restorative practice 

approaches that prioritise high support and challenge in order to work with young people rather than 

doing to or for. This is indicative that the model is working effectively and meeting its objectives. 

Page 44



 

18 
 

 

2.4. Decision making process as ‘problem solving’  
 

The case file analysis explored in depth the information considered at panel and the deliberations 

recorded within each case. 43 different factors affecting decision making were identified in total across 

the 12 cases heard at JDP. These can be loosely grouped into 12 themes: 

1. Nature of the offence: The panel considered the nature of the offence in a number of ways, including 

considerations of risk to the public, the seriousness and potential for harm if it should recur, and 

whether any victimisation appeared to unprovoked or random. They discussed the fact that more 

serious offending needed to be marked by clear consequences, as a signal to the young person, and 

to act as a deterrent to the perpetrator and others around them. They considered the need for 

proportionality and consistency, reflecting upon what the usual outcome would be for such an 

offence, as well as mitigating circumstances such as minimal involvement in the offence, or a lack of 

evidence. 

 

2. Previous behaviours and patterns:  The panel looked back at wider evidence about the behaviours of 

the young person as they pertain to the offence being heard. They were interested in any evidence of 

patterns of behaviour, and particularly escalation of behaviours, which might justify intervention at 

that point. They considered the need for due process and proportionality here, by excluding 

consideration of entirely irrelevant offences, but contrary to this, they were happy to include police 

intelligence from NICHE, even where that had not led to any action against the young person and 

there did not constitute proven offences. 

 

3. Victim views, preferences and impact:  The panel considered any statement made by the victim or 

feedback from the Victim Liaison Officer, and reflected upon their views and preferences about the 

outcome, although the wishes of the victim alone were not a strong determinant of the outcome. 

More importance was given however to the impact on the victim and their needs moving forward, 

for example the need for more formal action to prevent contact with the victim, to protect them 

from further victimisation, or to promote reparative or restorative outcomes such as an apology. 

 

4. Previous responses and engagement:  The panel considered any interventions previously given to 

the young person, primarily to reflect upon what has worked to date, and the extent to which the 

young person might engage with any intervention offered. The existence of a previous order (even if 

currently open) did not inevitably necessitate escalation on the grounds that it signalled a need for a 

tougher response. It may be that if the young person is engaging well with the intervention, and has 

made some progress to date, then a similar rather than escalated response is more appropriate. New 

elements of work could be tied in with orders running concurrently, where these elements were not 

included in the original order. These decisions were complicated by the complex chronologies of 

offending, and the timing at which they reached the panel. It was common for offences to come to 

panel which had been committed prior to an offence heard at an earlier panel, and in these 

circumstances it would make no sense to escalate the response based on an offence committed 

before any support or intervention was put in place for the young person, if that now appeared to be 

working. 

 

5. Vulnerability, victimisation & safeguarding:  The young people whose actions are considered at 

the panel are frequently also victims in their own right, and the panel importantly acknowledge 

this, whether that relates to children’s vulnerability in the domestic space, specific incidents 

Page 45



 

19 
 

where they have been victims of crime, or their vulnerability to sexual or criminal exploitation. 

The case file analysis revealed examples of the panel considering how such victimisation might 

have contributed to the offence (e.g. a young person committing a racially aggravated offence 

following their own victimisation by perpetrators from that ethnic background) and what 

specific work might need to be done with the young person (e.g. to recognise themselves as 

sexually exploited and to keep themselves safe). 

 

6. Family home, parental support, accommodation:  Given the holistic focus of the JDP, it is well placed 

to be able to consider the wider contexts of the young person’s life, and to put in place support 

where this is not already provided, for example by allocating to an Early Help Worker who can 

support within the family, by noting the inadequacy of current accommodation arrangements and 

action the appropriate professional to address this.  

 

7. Education, work & positive activities:  The panel considered the young person’s engagement in 

education, work or other positive activities in a number of ways. Firstly, where the offence took place 

within a school environment, or where the young person’s behaviours appeared to be related to 

their educational placement, they could consider whether an alternative might be more suitable. 

Secondly, they acknowledged the relationship between school exclusions and offending, and worked 

to support the young person into education wherever possible. Thirdly, they considered the potential 

impact of the outcome upon the young person’s education placement or employment aspirations, 

particularly where considering a Charge to Court. 

 

8. Services already involved and services available:  The panel sought to understand the support 

services young people already engaged with, including social work and Early Help, CAMHS, 

community paediatrics, CSE workeriv, positive futures etc. and looked to fill gaps in provision where 

needed. They reflected upon what other opportunities for support were available, what services 

existed locally, and which outcome would enable the young person to receive that support. They also 

considered how allocation to a professional already working with the young person, with whom they 

had built a productive, trusting relationship, could secure engagement with further interventions, 

rather than allocating yet another professional to this young person. 

 

9. Young person’s attitudes & influence of peer group: The young person’s views are considered in so 

far as they have offered an explanation of the incident, which may help the panel to understand why 

it occurred and the young person’s role within an incident. The panel also consider any evidence 

which may demonstrate the young person’s attitude to the offence being heard and how that 

pertains to their future behaviour. This may include reports of their lack of remorse, bragging, 

disregard for the law, not wanting to change, attitudes to risk taking, and the attitudes and influence 

of their peer group. However, given the challenges of promoting young people’s participation and 

voice within the panel process, some of this information is obtained from NICHE or from police 

reporting on the case. Some care is therefore needed here because there is a risk of uncorroborated 

intelligence being used in ways detrimental to the young person’s rights and welfare.  

 

10. Age, development & impact thresholds: The panel took into consideration the biological age of the 

young person, in order to consider their level of understanding and their responsibility for their 

behaviours, particularly for the youngest person in the sample, who was aged just 10, and therefore 

seen as particularly vulnerable within the process. The panel considered the impact of any outcome 

in relation to age, in terms of the potential harm of early criminalisation, and they tried to minimise 

the risk to young people where they sat at the threshold of adulthood. In such cases, higher level 

intervention could be justified as a last-ditch attempt to prevent the young person being pulled into 

the adult courts system. It should also be noted that in hearing from the Clinical Psychologist, and 

Page 46



 

20 
 

sometimes standing down the case until after the young person could receive an assessment, the 

panel also considered where a young person’s biological age may not be matched by their 

development, and how this might impact both their behaviour and their potential engagement with 

interventions.  

 

11. Looked After Children: A number of issues were considered regarding young people with Looked 

After Child status, including consideration of the adequacy of the placement and the impact on their 

behaviour. The panel actively tried to prevent the unnecessary criminalisation of LAC and adherence 

to the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children Board Joint Lincolnshire Protocol to Reduce Offending and 

the Criminalisation of Children in Care. In one case it was specifically noted that it was 

inappropriate for LCC as the ‘corporate parent’ to pursue charges against the young person for 

an offence committed in their residential care home, which was not responded to in line with 

the protocol. The panel also challenged the police to provide greater consistency in response to 

offending by this cohort of young people, in adherence to the agreed protocol. A further 

complication relating to decisions made about Looked After Children concerns those who are 

moved to a placement out of area, and the panel then need to ascertain whether any out of 

court disposal given (e.g. a YRI Tier 3) could be delivered in their home YOS.  

 

12. Impact of criminalisation, intervention and assessment: As has been noted in some of the points 

above, the panel were clearly aware of the potentially harmful long-term consequences of 

criminalisation and having a formal criminal record. However, they also discussed the impact of 

interventions delivered through supposedly non-criminalising out of court disposals, as well as the 

impact of assessment processes themselves. Any of these interventions may still impact upon the 

young person’s sense of self-identity and there is evidence that this was taken into consideration by 

the panel. 

 

2.5. What Does This Tell Us? 
 

Holistic Decision Making: there is clear evidence that the JDP provides a process for making more holistic 

and informed decisions about young people who have admitted an offence. The multi-agency nature of 

the panel and the use of information from various sources feeds into this. The analysis will explore this 

process in more detail, identifying good practice and potential gaps in the information considered at JDP.  

Problem Solving Approach: the analysis is exploring how the panel take a problem-solving approach 

which attempts to maximise positive outcomes whilst minimising harmful consequences. There is 

evidence of the panel’s awareness that some outcomes have the potential to do more harm than good. 

The case file analysis identified 43 different factors considered within the sample of 12 cases. 

Non-Escalation: the JDP is emerging as an important non-escalatory approach to youth justice, which 

helps to divert young people away from criminalisation where possible and thus to minimise the long-

term impact of their actions. The analysis has uncovered how non-escalation is facilitated in different 

aspects of the decision making, including critical use of intelligence, responses to breach and 

considerations of proportionality. 

Interventionist Diversion: the research provides evidence that the YRI enables young people to receive 

positive support without being criminalised – thus filling an important gap in the services available for 

young people in conflict with the law, and reflecting a form of interventionist diversion.  

Page 47



 

21 
 

Allocation and Relationships: there is evidence of flexible allocations to staff from a range of agencies, 

based on a number of factors specific to the young person’s life. The analysis is exploring how this reflects 

a relational approach and helps to support the young person’s engagement. 

Restorative Interventions: the emphasis on high support and intervention alongside a reduction in 

criminalisation reflects the aims of a restorative practice approach which is promoted across Lincolnshire 

County Council’s Children’s Services more broadly. 

Multi-agency Working and Changing Cultures: the interviews have revealed the JDP process as a conduit 

or mechanism for shifting wider organisational cultures. Changing police attitudes and responses to 

young people in conflict with the law has emerged as a particular theme which is being explored in the 

analysis. 

Communication: an important theme is emerging around communication within the context of multi-

agency decision making, and the extent of individuals’ understanding of the JDP process. The analysis will 

consider how this has improved and developed during the two years JDP has operated and also identify 

possible areas for improved communication. 

Victim and Young Person Views: the analysis has raised questions about the challenges of including the 

views and voices of the parties to the offence within the panel process. The analysis will consider 

whether these are appropriately considered at panel, and how to overcome some of the challenges. 

Further detail from the case files is needed to conclude on this. 

  

Page 48



 

22 
 

3. Victim Survey Analysis 
 

3.1. About the Survey Data 
 

The data used in this section of the report has been drawn from analysis of a sample of Victim 

Satisfaction Surveys designed and conducted by Lincolnshire Youth Offending Service Victim Liaison 

Officers following the introduction of JDP. A sample of 53 surveys were analysed, relating to JDP hearings 

between 29th November 2017 and 29th May 2019.  The survey was not designed specifically for this 

evaluation, but provides a useful source of data.  

Coding and Analysis 
The responses to all of the questions except for Question 7 have been coded into quantitative data by 

assigning each response to one of four categories: 

• Positive Responses: ‘Yes’ for Questions 1-6, ‘Satisfied’ for Question 8 

• Negative Responses: ‘No’ for Questions 1-6, ‘Dissatisfied’ for Question 8 

• Mixed Responses: Where the survey records qualitative comments that reflect BOTH positive 

and negative responses, for example “Yes, but on the other hand…”. 

• Unsure Responses: Where the survey records NEITHER positive nor negative responses for 

example, simply noting that the respondent didn’t know or was undecided.  

By coding the data in this way, these qualitatively recorded comments could be converted into 

quantitative data. Qualitative data from the open-ended Question 7 and other questions was analysed 

thematically.  

Limitations of the data 
Given the contexts in which this survey was designed and undertaken, there are a number of limitations 

to the data, which impact the reliability and usefulness of the findings. 

 

• The questions on the survey were not designed specifically for this study. 

• The language used in the questions may be ambiguous or confusing for respondents, eg the use 

of ‘community resolution process’ in some questions but ‘restorative justice process’ elsewhere. 

• The absence of a Likert Scale allowing respondents to express the extent of their satisfaction 

makes it difficult to assess levels of satisfaction. 

• Lack of anonymity may have impacted upon respondents’ confidence to share their views in full. 

• The data may be affected by differences in approach to conducting the survey between the two 

VLOs. 

• The data is dependent upon the capacity of the VLO to accurately and faithfully record the 

qualitative comments provided whilst in conversation with the respondent. 

However, it is also recognised that the telephone survey may well yield a higher response rate than other 

survey strategies such as online or postal surveys which are frequently left uncompleted or unreturned. 

 

 

Page 49



 

23 
 

3.2. Summary of Responses to the Survey Questions 
 

 

 

 

 

36%

28%

8%

28%

Q1: Did you understand the police officer's 
explanation of the Community Resolution 

process?

Yes

Unsure

Mixed

No

43%

15%
10%

32%

Q2: Were you involved in the decision of how to 
try to put things right and resolve this offence?

Yes

Unsure

Mixed

No

92%

8%

Q3: Were you informed about the decision that 
was made at panel of how to resolve this 

offence?

Yes

Unsure

Mixed

No

Page 50



 

24 
 

 

 

 

 

 

60%
8%

6%

26%

Q4: Were you happy with the decision that was 
made? 

Yes

Unsure

Mixed

No

55%

10%

9%

26%

Q5: Do you think the outcome was 
proportionate and appropriate in your case? 

Yes

Unsure

Mixed

No

51%

25%

9%

15%

Q6: Would you recommend a community 
resolution process to others? 

Yes

Unsure

Mixed

No

Page 51



 

25 
 

 

 

 

3.3. Analysis of Relationships Between the Responses 
 

In this section, the relationships between some key questions from the survey are considered. Stacked 

bar charts are used to visualise the breakdown of the responses, before analysis and interpretation of the 

data is provided. 

 

a) Relationship between understanding the police officer’s explanation (Q1) 
and overall satisfaction (Q8) 

 

 

 

4%9%

62%

25%

Q8: Overall were you satisfied or disatisfied 
with the restorative justice process?

Unsure

Mixed

Satisfied

disataisfied

Page 52



 

26 
 

This chart represents the relationship between understanding the police officer’s explanation of the 

process and overall victim satisfaction. 79% of the participants who answered ‘yes’ to understanding the 

process explained to them were satisfied overall with the restorative justice process, in comparison to 

40% of those who answered ‘no’. This data suggests that providing a clear explanation of the process to 

the victim can help improve levels of victim satisfaction, regardless of outcome.  

 

b) Relationship between the victim being happy with the decision made 
(Q4) and the outcome being seen as proportionate and appropriate (Q5) 

  

 

 

The data above shows the relationship between the victim’s perception of the proportionality and 

appropriateness of the outcome of the JDP and whether they were happy with the decision that was 

made. 100% of the participants who said the outcome was not proportionate or appropriate responded 

that they were not happy with the decision that was made at the JDP.  

In comparison, 90% of those who believed the outcome was proportionate or appropriate responded 

that they were happy with the outcome, with the remaining 10% giving mixed or unsure responses. The 

proportionality and appropriateness of the outcome therefore appears to be very important in the 

victim’s feelings about the panel’s decision, and a perception of disproportionality may be seen in 

particular to prevent victims from being happy with the outcome.  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 53



 

27 
 

c) Relationship between the victim being happy with the decision that was 
made (Q4) and overall satisfaction (Q8) 

 

 

 

This chart suggests that 97% of victims that were happy with the decision that was made were also 

satisfied with the restorative justice process overall. Similarly, 86% of victims who were not happy with 

the decision made at panel were dissatisfied with the restorative justice process. An important factor 

affecting victim satisfaction with the process overall therefore appears to be their feelings about the 

decision made by the panel more specifically. 

 

d) Relationship between the outcome being seen as proportionate and 
appropriate (Q5) and overall satisfaction (Q8) 

 

 

Page 54



 

28 
 

95% of those who answered ‘yes’ to the outcome being proportionate and appropriate were also 

satisfied with the outcome from the JDP with none wholly unhappy with the level of proportionality. 82% 

of the participants answering ‘no’ to the question about proportionality were dissatisfied overall, with 

the remaining 18% giving mixed responses. Some of the respondents who were unsure (40%) or had 

mixed responses (80%) about the proportionality of the outcome still expressed satisfaction with the 

restorative justice process, perceived disproportionality does not inevitably prevent victim satisfaction. 

 

e) Relationship between the victim being informed about the decision of 
how to resolve this offence (Q3) and overall satisfaction (Q8) 

 

 

 

This stacked column represents the relationship between being informed about the decision at panel and 

victim satisfaction with the process overall. The proportion of victims who were informed about the 

process was high and largely similar in both the satisfied group (94%) and dissatisfied group (92%). Being 

informed therefore does not appear to affect satisfaction in itself, perhaps because it does not equate to 

the victim having a say in the decision about the outcome.  

However, those who felt unsure about whether they were satisfied with the process (i.e. did not express 

an opinion either way) were more likely to respond that they had not been informed about the decision. 

As might be expected, if the victim of an offence is not kept informed about their case as it progresses 

through the panel, they may well lack the information needed to draw a conclusion on whether they 

were satisfied with the process overall, and therefore feel unable to comment. 

 

 

 

Page 55



 

29 
 

3.4. Analysis of the Qualitative Comments from the Surveys 
 

A number of key themes emerged in the open-ended responses to Question 7: What are your views 

around how you were involved in the decision-making process and of the outcome. Is there anything 

you feel could have been done better? These are described further below along with other qualitative 

responses added to the surveys. 

Victim Informed About the Process 
21 of the survey respondents made reference to the Victim Liaison Officer updating the victim or having 

some input, most commonly just stating VLO updated (a stock phrase used the by VLOs in completing this 

survey), with occasional other reference to the VLO’s input. 

Disappointed with the process 
However, there was also a lack of victim satisfaction with the process itself, and feelings of being “let 

down” by the system. These include being unhappy about the communication within the process, for 

example having to “chase up several times” and being “notified of the outcome from police via text 

message”. 

Timeliness of the Process 
A further theme related to respondents’ perception of the process was around the timeliness of the 

response. Even where victims were generally happy with the outcome, they sometimes felt it should 

have been dealt with sooner, for example saying, “it was too late and too much time had passed”. This 

highlights the need for victims to hear back from the panel more quickly, to be kept filly informed, and to 

reassure them the incident is being dealt with immediately.  Additionally, one respondent noted the 

impact of delays on the young person as it “Would not benefit the young person to revisit the incident 

when it took place a while ago”. 

Proportionality and Perceptions of Leniency 
Some of the responses emphasised the victim’s feelings around the need for proportionality in the 

outcome, and how this was not always achieved. They felt that the outcome was too lenient and did not 

reflect the seriousness of the offence or the impact upon the victim (financial or physical). One victim 

described the outcome as a “travesty” as the perpetrator had been “let off with a slap on the wrist”. 

Perceptions of fairness and proportionality impact upon overall satisfaction levels (as demonstrated 

above), so these comments give further insight into how victims understand this. 

Satisfaction with the Outcome and Non-Criminalisation 
Not all of the victims wanted a tougher response to the young person’s behaviour. Others said that they 

were happy with the outcome, and there was an acknowledgement by some victims that criminalising 

the young person would not help. Some of these appear to be cases where the young person has 

committed an offence against a family member, and their relative expressed a desire for the young 

person to receive help without being criminalised. Others are not noted to be family members, but still 

show wider concern for the wellbeing of the child, including one case where questions were raised about 

the wider structural processes that may have led to the incident, as the victim “Felt that the whole 

situation could have been avoided and that the young person had been let down by children’s services as 

a whole”. 

Page 56



 

30 
 

 

3.5. What Does This Tell Us?  
 

The design of the victim survey was problematic: improvements could be made to support better 

understanding of the experiences and views of victims within the service. 

Victims are kept informed about the process: there is evidence that victims are updated on what is 

happening in the case, and that this is usually via the Victim Liaison Officer. 

Fewer victims feel involved in the process: there is a clear difference between the numbers of victims 

who felt informed and who felt involved in the decision-making. There is scope for improvement in this 

aspect. 

Victims do not understand the explanation of the process: they need to receive better information 

about the process from the Police at the outset so that they know what will happen and what to expect. 

Victim satisfaction is fairly good: almost two thirds of victims expressed overall satisfaction and just over 

half would recommend the process. However, there may be opportunities to improve victim satisfaction 

based on some of the factors below. 

Factors affecting victim satisfaction: 

• Information - Lack of information inhibits victim’s ability to state with confidence their 

satisfaction. There is the potential to improve victim satisfaction, regardless of the outcome, 

by providing more information about the process, decision-making and longer-term 

outcomes. 

• Timeliness - Victim satisfaction with the process can be impacted by perceptions of 

timeliness, and there is therefore a need to avoid undue delays, and to ensure that victims 

do not miss out on receiving any updates over long periods of time.  

• Outcome – Victims tend to focus on the outcome as more influential than other aspects of 

the experience, such as restoration or reparation, or the communication process. Increasing 

victim involvement in the process itself may help to de-emphasise the outcome. 

• Proportionality - Victim satisfaction with the decision is determined primarily by their 

perception of the degree of proportionality. When dissatisfied they tend to emphasise the 

leniency of the outcome in relation to the harm caused. 

• Understanding of the impact on the young person - Victims can show compassion and 

consideration for what the young person needs to avoid future offending. Providing further 

information about this might help to improve satisfaction in some cases. 

 

 

  

Page 57



 

31 
 

4. Interview Analysis 
 

This chapter of the report provides detailed thematic analysis of the interviews conducted for the 

evaluation. The interviews with professional participants (including the Covid update interviews), young 

people whose cases were heard at JDP, and victims of young people’s offences are considered together 

so as to connect these different experiences and perspectives. 

Analysis is presented around 4 key themes:  

1. Whether the JDP is effective in making decisions about outcomes for young people. 

2. Whether the interventions provided by the panel are suitable and effective. 

3. The extent to which the JDP and the YRI support young people to reach their potential. 

4. The confidence of stakeholders in the JDP process and outcomes. 

The voices of the participants are used extensively within the analysis to illustrate the points made, with 

the participants anonymised through the provision of their unique participant identification number. 

 

4.1. Effectiveness of JDP Decision-Making 
 

Interview findings indicate that the effectiveness of the JDP process in making decisions about outcomes 

for young people who have admitted an offence must be understood in terms of a range of inter-related 

factors described in more detail below: 

• Suitability of cases for referral to JDP 

• Multi-agency nature of the panel 

• Evidence presented at JDP 

• Holistic view of young people 

• Principles of decision-making 

• (Non) escalation 

• (In)consistencies 

• Victims’ role in JDP 

• Voice of the young person at JDP 

 

Suitability of Cases for Referral to JDP 
 

One of the core issues that the interview participants discussed was whether the appropriate cases were 

being diverted to JDP and the YRI, rather than going to court, and what level of offence seriousness might 

be deemed suitable for diversion. As the process has bedded in, the seriousness of the offences heard at 

JDP seems to have increased, with the participants discussing cases including knife possession, burglary, 

GBH, and serious sexual assaults. 

 

Page 58



 

32 
 

“My initial thinking when it first started, or even before, was that JDP will be with thefts of 

bicycles, yeah, and theft of a sandwich from a shop, or girls that had had a scuffle because 

they love the same boy in school; but I couldn’t have been…I was wrong because there are 

all sorts of offences.” (115) 

“When it was first rolled out, it was kind of low-level offences; kind of first-time entry 

offences: shoplifting, or maybe…just some low level offences; maybe low gravity scores for 

the police. What we tend to have found, just recently, is those offences have risen; the 

gravity level of the offence has risen, which is difficult to justify to victims” (108) 

There were some mixed feelings expressed about whether this is the appropriate forum for such cases to 

be heard, and in particular concerns about how this might be received by victims. Eight out of the 12 

participants expressed some concern, surprise or discomfort about some cases they had seen come 

through JDP, even whilst they acknowledged that such decisions might be appropriate in terms of 

considering the welfare of the child. Some of these comments may reflect the fact that the interviews 

were conducted early in the evaluation period, with the JDP still undergoing further refinement of 

processes as it bedded in. It may therefore be timely to undertake a review of current practice around 

seriousness and thresholds to reflect upon whether the balance is appropriate. 

Harmful sexual behaviours created particular challenges because of the limited time available to 

complete the AIM risk assessment within the YRI. Consequently, a new process was being developed 

during the research, to extend the YRI period for sexual offences from 12 to 18 weeks. This would allow a 

further 6 weeks for the AIM assessment to be conducted to decide whether the interventions needed 

could appropriately be delivered within a YRI or would require a court order, thereby adding in further 

protections to manage the risk of serious harmv.  

As the degree of seriousness of cases referred to JDP has increased, and as a result of de-escalation 

processes, this has changed the nature of the work in the Youth Court. Lower-level cases with an 

admission of guilt, which previously would have received a Referral Order, are being diverted from the 

Youth Court. Magistrates have therefore noted that the bulk of the cases they hear are now the most 

serious and complex, which would probably have been heard at the Crown Court previously. This 

provides good anecdotal evidence that the diversionary aims of JDP are indeed working, but also 

evidences new challenges for magistrates. 

“It’s very distressing, the cases we are starting to get because everything we are seeing is 

at the higher end of the scale, where perhaps it would have gone to the Crown Court at 

one time. Some of the lengthier reports - 12 pages to go through, you know, when we 

want to report for sentencing. They are really, really distressing crimes” (109) 

One of the magistrates explained the impact of this on their mental wellbeing, as they tended to take 

these case details home with them and found it more difficult to switch off from what they had heard in 

court. This is an important finding which suggests that the provision of further support or supervision by 

Her Majesty’s Courts and Tribunals Service for these community volunteers may be beneficial.  

One of the interview participants noted that some cases were being brought to JDP because the police 

did not have sufficient evidence to charge a young person, for example where they may have issued a 

partial or limited admission of guilt, and there is a risk that cases of this nature could undermine 

Page 59



 

33 
 

confidence in the JDP process. It is important that this out of court process does not become a means to 

circumvent young people’s legal rights, and that cases where there is any doubt about the young person’s 

responsibility are heard at court, e.g. “had there been no JDP, he wouldn’t have gone through. CPS would 

have thrown it out” (101).  

A further concern relating to this was connected to the requirement that a young person must have 

admitted the offence for referral to JDP. This may be particularly problematic in the case of young people 

with learning disabilities, a history of trauma, those without a parent or carer to support them, or in 

relation to offences with more complex legal definitions. One participant in particular was concerned that 

this could be open to abuse or that young people might feel pressure to admit guilt so as to avoid the 

charge to court. 

 “I guess my concern is that sometimes it’s sold as an alternative to court, and it’s a bit like 

that pressure to kind of… If you admit your guilt, then you can have an out of court 

disposal. And sometimes I have questioned whether that negates actual guilt; that idea of, 

you know,  – It’s better to say I’m guilty and go through this process than fight my 

innocence, and potentially face court” (101). 

By contrast, in the early days of the introduction of JDP, it seems that a significant number of young 

people were also being denied the opportunity for referral to JDP due to solicitors advising them to say 

‘No comment’ in police interview. However, this appears to have been resolved as the process has 

become embedded and solicitors more familiar with it: 

“solicitors are definitely more on board…so we’ve definitely seen a big decline in no 

comment interviews; which I think in terms of advice given to young people was one of the 

big kind of tripping points that we were experiencing.” (102)  

Five of the interview participants (103, 106, 110, 113, 114) referred to a recent trend in cases being 

bounced back from court to JDP, where the court felt that the police decision to charge was not 

appropriate and it could be better dealt with as an out of court case (e.g. an incident in a children’s 

home), or where the young person has decided to put in a guilty plea that had not been given earlier 

(perhaps as a result of new legal advice). The JDP Co-ordinator also plays an active role in checking the 

court lists to see whether there are any cases that should have come to JDP, and where necessary liaising 

with the Youth Offending Service Court Officer so that they can pull cases back from court as a further 

safety net. 

This jurisdictional ambiguity can be frustrating as it causes delays to being able to start working with the 

young person. However, these efforts to ensure that all young people who are entitled to benefit from an 

out of court disposal are enabled to do so indicates a ‘child friendly’ approach which prioritises children’s 

rights and welfare over more rigid and restrictive interpretations of due process. Further clarity of 

processes within the joint protocol may nonetheless be useful in ensuring delays are minimised, which is 

in the interest of both children and victims of crime. 

In addition, where a single incident involves a young person committing two different offences, with one 

more serious than the other, it is possible to separate these offences so that for example regulatory 

motoring offences may be dealt with at court so that points could be added to the licence, whilst related 

offences e.g. an assault could still be heard at JDP. There is therefore evidence that the JDP process has 

Page 60



 

34 
 

been integrated into the broader youth criminal justice processes with care and deliberation rather than 

simplistically tacked on as a largely disconnected ‘alternative’ system.  

 

Multi-agency Nature of the Panel 
 

For all the interview participants, the most central feature of JDP is the multi-agency nature of the panel. 

JDP membership is made up of a number of different professionals representing different agencies or 

services, and as with any new collaborative working initiatives, it took time for these relationships to 

become established. Participants indicated that in the early days of its introduction, the panel discussions 

often reflected the different perspectives that these roles bring, with the police/children’s social care 

relationship being described as “a bit them and us” with the police acting as a victims’ service and 

children’s social care acting as a children’s service. In part this reflected different understandings and 

terminology which sometimes caused confusion, for example where a victim’s request for ‘positive 

action’ was interpreted by police as a preference for charge to court, but others on the panel understood 

it to mean doing something positive with the young person (111). 

However, as the panel process bedded in, the research participants commented on how this relationship 

became more collaborative, wanting to work to the same aims and being “on the same page now” (106). 

This has created a better understanding of and respect for each other’s roles: “I don’t step into the police 

role. They don’t step into our role, in terms of every day; but actually through the JDP process, you just 

naturally have a better understanding of things from sharing information” (103). 

The establishment of trust within the professional relationships built within the panel have also 

supported “healthy discussion” and “professional challenge” (103). By having conversations in which the 

panel members must evidence and justify their claims or assumptions in the face of challenge from 

colleagues in services that do things differently, this makes for more effective decision-making in complex 

cases than if a single individual were to make the decision alone (101). The value in having multiple 

experienced professionals involved in the decision was highlighted by one of the youth court magistrates 

who expressed confidence in the panel as an alternative decision-making forum. Both of the magistrates 

interviewed considered this to be a more appropriate way of responding to young people with complex 

health and social care needs and looked after children in particular, because it prevented their 

unnecessary criminalisation. 

The multi-agency make-up of the panel was seen as especially important, so that each member of the 

panel brings their own expertise to the table whilst appreciating the importance of others’ expertise: “I 

don’t necessarily need to know all the stuff from the police from a legal point of view because I will never 

be an expert in that. I know the bit from the Children’s Services end, but they’ve got that bit. So I think 

that’s a complementary bit” (106). This was seen as a way of “creating a big picture, and putting the best 

things in place for [the young person]” (111), reflecting the emphasis on holistic approaches discussed 

below. 

In response to the Covid-19 pandemic, JDP swiftly moved to an online video conferencing format, 

something they had previously mooted but always rejected as too problematic. Whilst this experience 

has been a learning curve, with different platforms tested, there was confidence amongst the 

Page 61



 

35 
 

participants that this had not impacted their ability to maintain the same multi-agency decision-making 

approach or the regularity of the meetings (102, 103, 106). The participants noted the levels of staff 

enthusiasm for this new way of working, with everybody “trying to do the best they can in such difficult 

times” (109.) Three of the participants (102, 106, 108) described how the pandemic, and subsequent 

need to adapt has “forced our hand” and prompted change within the service, which was seen as too 

difficult previously. However, the outcomes have been such that there is an appetite to retain some of 

the changes on a more permanent basis. 

One of the pre-Covid challenges of this multi-agency approach had been the logistical implications of 

bringing everybody together in the same room, given that they might work within different locations 

across the county of Lincolnshire, leading to high travel expenses, the loss of the professional’s time 

whilst travelling, and the risks of panel members being delayed due to traffic incidents. As a result of the 

move to video conferencing, staff travel time had been “cut to zero” with the resulting savings roughly 

calculated to be around “£3000 in petrol money over 14 weeks” and “over 122 hours travelling to and 

from the meetings” (103). These are significant cost savings for Lincolnshire County Council, Lincolnshire 

Police and other partner organisations, and staff are freed up for other valuable activity, including time 

for a longer panel meeting (103) and to develop practice, as one panel member said, it had given them 

“more time to plan what I want to do with the young people” (112). There was therefore strong support 

for retaining this remote panel format even when face to face meetings will be permitted (102, 103, 106, 

111). 

 

Evidence Presented at JDP 
 

The principle of JDP decision making is that it should be evidence based and informed by the full range of 

information about that young person, the offence and the impact on the victim. This includes information 

from: 

• Police (NICHE / PNC database) 

• Children’s Social Care and Early Help (Mosaic database) 

• Youth Offending Service (Child View database) 

• Early Help 

• CAMHS 

• Community Paediatrics 

• ASB Team 

• Education 

Over time, participants noted that the amount of information being heard at JDP has increased. They 

further noted that whilst JDP relies upon effective information exchange, it has also promoted such 

practices, through building relationships and developing processes for sharing information. One clear 

benefit of this is that the different panel members come to understand each other’s roles better, and the 

different points of view that come with those roles. 

The participants highlighted the importance of this evidence-based, informed decision making as a more 

appropriate approach than the previous police led decisions which were made solely in response to the 

information held by the police. 

Page 62



 

36 
 

“actually, when you make the decision, you’ve made it on a good solid bank of 

information… and that for me is the comforting side of it. I haven’t just got details of that 

offence, and that’s what they did. What I’ve got is a sense of that young person, and what 

they’ve said, and what’s going on in their life; and all the other sorts of things, you know?” 

(106) 

According to one of the participants “The real value of the JDP is the discussion around the case, not the 

reading of the case” (116), because this allows the panel to consider context, circumstances and 

culpability in what are inevitably complex situations. It can lead to heated debate, and different opinions, 

but allows opportunity for all of those perspectives to be considered before a collective decision is 

reached (106). The decision is therefore not only informed by evidence but also debated within an arena 

that promotes professional challenge and justification of decisions made. 

This process of gathering and dissecting information was described by one participant as a form of 

assessment, which legitimises the decisions taken: 

“I think criticism could be raised that actually, some young people are being given 

outcomes without assessment; and we would say that actually, that information needs to 

be kind of broken down, discussed, digested, analysed, rated in a way that actually, you 

know, your panel discussions are an assessment.” (102) 

This assessment facilitates considerations of proportionality of outcome, and the needs of the young 

person, in a way which was not possible under the previous police led decision-making. There are of 

course some challenges in gathering and collating this information. It can be difficult to obtain the same 

detailed information about all young people. Particular challenges reported were for evidence about 

young people from out of the Local Authority area, and missing information from schools. Indeed, one 

participant commented on the need for more partnership working with schools (114). Whilst the panel 

can defer the hearing until the information is received, there was also an awareness that delaying the 

outcome is not beneficial to the young person or the victim.  

However, the recent introduction of video conferencing for the panel hearings has facilitated the 

engagement of busy professionals in information gathering and supporting outcomes (106).  One of the 

panel members interviewed discussed the future possibility of workers involved with cases being able to 

contribute to the panel via video call, where their written report has prompted further questions (102). 

This new technology could therefore improve the range and accuracy of information considered at JDP. 

The amount of information considered at JDP presented challenges for the running of the panel, with all 

the details being read out in the panel. This was very time consuming and not seen by all as the best use 

of time. A further innovation resulting from the pandemic is that in order to facilitate a remote, digital 

panel hearing, the documents are shared in advance with ‘pre-read’ time built into the schedule for the 

panel. By allowing everyone to work through the material at their own pace, this has helped the panel 

members “get a real sense of it” and subsequently improved the quality of the panel discussions and use 

of the information (102). 

Use of intelligence from the police database was seen to be a double-edged sword. For whilst it was seen 

as useful in ‘building up a picture’ or ‘giving you a flavour’ of that young person’s wider behaviours, which 

may identify safeguarding concerns (for example indicating potential criminal exploitation), there is also a 

Page 63



 

37 
 

clear risk here that this might lead to an escalation of disposal based on unsubstantiated claims which 

have not been proven in court, because of a perception that “this person is prolific!” (106) . One of the 

participants noted the ambiguity in the entries on NICHE, for example when NFA is identified, since this is 

rarely accompanied by sufficient information or context to understand the decision. Similar ‘intelligence’ 

can also arise through other services, in addition to their more formal records of service involvement. For 

example, support staff in We Are With You often received information from their young service users, 

about their peers and other young people in the community. There is a clear need to be cautious and 

measured in the use of intelligence, to reflect upon the credibility of the information and to consider the 

impact of its inclusion on the young person in terms of proportionality: “Intelligence is what it is, isn’t it? 

It’s not evidence” (106). The critical discussion and professional challenge evidenced at JDP meetings 

provide an important means of moderating this. 

 

Holistic View of Young People’s Lives 
 

The breadth of the information presented at JDP, alongside the multi-agency collaboration inherent in 

the panel can be seen as an effective way of promoting holistic ways of thinking for young people with 

complex needs. Eight of the 12 professional participants used the language of ‘complexity’ to describe 

the young people that came to JDP, their background, behaviours and their needs. As set out in the 

section above, the information that needs to be discussed at the panel for such complex young people 

can therefore be extensive and time-consuming to work through. However, it was seen as providing a 

broad overview of the young person’s life, described by one participant as “a good gateway into what’s 

going on for that young person.” (114) 

Within half of the interviews, across a range of different agencies, the term ‘holistic’ was used to describe 

the approach taken within JDP. This involved moving away from a narrow focus on the gravity of the 

offence. This holistic perspective is an attempt to understand the behaviour within the wider context of 

the young person’s current situation, to see “the bigger picture”, and to get “a better understanding of 

that young person’s world at the time of the offence” (103). One of the participants described it as trying 

to understand what “the true story” is for that young person and see beyond the story they might initially 

present, “what they are just telling you to get out the door as fast as they possibly can”. (108) There is an 

emphasis on the young person as an individual, understanding their lived experience, focusing on their 

needs, and what needs to happen next. The multi-agency nature of the panel, as described above, 

facilitates this holistic understanding of the young person’s life.  

Two of the participants noted that taking a holistic approach to the young person tends to reduce the 

level of punitiveness, and that this had been similarly experienced with the volunteers at Referral Order 

Panels. Seeing the surrounding circumstances of the young person’s life leads to a different 

understanding of the young person’s behaviour, its causes, and the potential solutions, which often 

require multi-agency responses. 

More recently as the JDP processes have developed, the panel have started to focus their discussions 

around three realms: Safety and Wellbeing Concerns, Risk of Serious Harm and Risk of Reoffending. This 

requires the same information to be gathered but collates it into relevant concerns, which echo other 

Page 64



 

38 
 

assessment processes used within Future4Me. This was seen as ensuring that the focus is on the most 

significant issues, provides clarity around the rationale for the outcome selected, and supports the 

panel’s confidence in their decision making. 

Engaging in a comprehensive and holistic assessment as part of the YRI also ensures that the 

interventions are able to address the full range of issues affecting that young person, including 

safeguarding and wellbeing issues that may be unrelated to the offence itself (102). This supports the 

development of young people more broadly. 

 

Principles of decision making 
 

The interviews with the professional participants revealed a number of different principles that impact 

panel decision-making. 

Balance: A common theme within the participants’ accounts of the JDP decision making process was that 

it involved ‘balancing’ (102, 108, 103) often competing agendas, pressures and information, and trying to 

find the best outcome in light of them all. In particular, the challenge of balancing the needs of the victim 

against the needs of the young perpetrator seemed to be at the heart of this problem-solving approach, 

but some participants noted that this balance wasn’t always achieved, and that the outcomes tended to 

tip towards the young person more than the victim at times. Similarly, there was seen to be an inherent 

task in negotiating between trauma informed and child first approaches, and the societal pressures 

around criminal justice and “what’s expected” (101). 

Consequences: As part of this balancing act, it was noted that there needed to be consequences for the 

young person resulting from their actions, such that, “We can’t let him get away with nothing” (101), 

although these consequences were not perceived as inevitably being punitive in nature. 

Circumstances: Whilst consequences are important, the underlying problems in the young person’s life 

must be addressed via the provision of support, “because for me it’s all about dealing with that child’s 

personal circumstances. The offence, and I don’t mean it to sound wrong, but it’s kind of a side issue” 

(113). 

Flexibility: The JDP allows for greater ‘flexibility’ around young people (105) in comparison to both the 

police response and statutory court ordered interventions which supports the panel to make the most 

appropriate decision for the young person. 

Justice: Principles of justice were seen as important although the contested nature of ‘justice’ was 

acknowledged by some, e.g. “the victims, they are just wanting justice; but what justice looks like 

obviously is different to everybody” (108) 

Defensible decisions: Given the complexity of the decision-making process, and the contested nature of 

‘justice’, it was seen as important to be able to justify the outcomes: “it is about you being defensible in 

the decisions you make” (115). 

Prevention of reoffending: In line with the statutory aim of the youth justice system, this was clearly 

important, such that “if support is put in place, it might end up that that person can actually not reoffend 

Page 65



 

39 
 

again; and that’s it; that’s less work for us to do in the long term” (113). Whilst this would include offence 

specific decision-making, it could also reflect opportunities to further motivate young people to realise 

their potential (116). 

Proportionality: “I don’t think it’s about soft or hard options, I think it’s about what’s proportionate” 

(103). Proportionality is often seen from a victim’s perspective, as a reflection of ‘justice’ being done, 

however this can be very emotive and lead to escalation. For the JDP, proportionality was especially 

important to consider in terms of community resolutions. There is a need to separate out safeguarding 

need from seriousness of the offence in order to protect children’s rights. Where safeguarding needs are 

high, but the offence is less serious, there is a need to remain proportionate to the offence and not 

escalate the response based on need – that can be done through signposting and support. 

Value judgements: The panel acknowledge that the decision making is not an objective and precise 

science. There are judgements to be made in trying to find the most appropriate outcome. “Because very 

few of these cases are straightforward, they are all value judgements in the end, in terms of what is the 

most appropriate outcome that is going to serve the interests of the community, the legal system; also 

the young person and the victims.” (116) 

Rehabilitation: There is a growing recognition that “actually punitive responses don’t necessarily work in 

order to reduce reoffending or kind of reduce risk” (101) and there is a need for rehabilitation instead: 

“probably the rehabilitation thing is important as well: how do we prevent this young person from doing 

something like this again, and help them recognise what it is they do, the consequences of what they do, 

both personally and on others; and why it is perhaps worth their while, beginning to think about how 

they can pursue another direction in their life. That’s what all of this should be about” (116). 

Public Safety: “At the end of the day. You have to be protecting the public.” (109). The panel therefore 

consider the impact of young people’s actions on community safety and how to reduce risks to the 

public. One PS identified a specific concern around young people committing driving offences, and 

consideration of whether they needed endorsements on their driving licence which can only be imposed 

by the court: “for me it’s about that public safety element, that we are kind of forgetting that” (113). 

Reducing risks to YP: Whilst the path to desistance may be non-linear for many young people, working 

with them to reduce risks to which they are exposed is a priority. “Although we’d rather they didn’t do 

cannabis as well, at least in comparison to the risks that they were at, they minimalised significantly.” 

(107)  

Child First Understanding: Some of the participants made reference to a ‘child first’ approach as a 

guiding principle of JDP: “I would hope that they are trying to understand the child first, and then think 

about the offence that has been committed in relation to the child and the childhood experiences, and 

the background, and understand the offence in relation to the holistic presentation of a child” (101). This 

was expressed by others as requiring an understanding that children are different from adults, and 

consciously recognising that we have all made silly mistakes as we are growing up (110, 113, 115) and 

many will grow out of it “with or without us” (115).  

Best Interests of the Child: The overall intentions of the panel are therefore to make the most suitable 

decision in the interests of that young person: “I think the test that I think for ourselves is … when you 

Page 66



 

40 
 

walk out that door, hand on heart, do you think you’ve done as much as you can, to try and support that 

young person; to kind of have the best outcomes” (106). 

 

(Non) escalation 
 

The professional interview participants described the pre-JDP system as being escalatory, and 

commented on how JDP had moved away from that approach (102, 106, 113). This escalatory approach 

was recognised as embedded within traditional policing practices and their subsequent decision making 

about young people, in which there is a ladder of resolutions that are moved through depending on the 

number of times the young person has come to the attention of the police, with a feeling that “actually 

police officers were looking to escalate young people up a ladder” (102). 

One of the central goals of JDP was therefore to move away this escalatory system and change police 

practice. Initial engagement of police within the JDP process continued to replicate escalatory thinking, 

with the assumption that the YRI being developed as Community Resolution was inherently low level on 

the offending ladder. However, by separating the level of support and intervention from the level of 

criminalisation and offence outcome, this removed the need to escalate the outcome in order to be seen 

to be tackling the behaviours of concern, promoting the use of the YRI.  

When initially introduced, the JDP decision took victim views into account in deciding the outcome, but 

that frequently led to further escalation and the panel quickly realised this and moved away from that 

approach. Ironically, there is evidence that in some cases where victims were unhappy with a Community 

Resolution and wanted a more formal outcome, the YRI was ‘escalated’ to a caution, even though that 

demanded less of the young person in terms of intervention or reparation.  

The panel were also attentive to the potential for escalation of Looked After Children, and subsequently 

created processes to allocate cases to social workers to avoid upscaling these vulnerable young people. 

The principles of non-escalation are particularly important where a young person appears at panel for a 

further offence. This means that the panel are not automatically obligated to escalate the response up 

the ‘offending ladder’. Rather they can take a more rounded and nuanced approach to deciding what 

response would be most appropriate in this case. 

“I guess a big consideration that we would look at when we have cases that have already 

had intervention previously, or are in receipt of intervention, is actually, what intervention 

was delivered prior to the re-offending … Is this a new offence, or actually is this a 

continued pattern of behaviour that we could satisfy ourselves that yes, the appropriate 

support is in place, and actually it’s a - Fingers up, I’m going to carry on doing it 

regardless?” (102) 

The panel therefore consider the support already in place, whether the offence type is similar or 

unrelated, and whether the new offence is less serious and therefore represents a step towards 

desistance (rather than evidence of entrenched behaviours). These are pragmatic decisions about how to 

most effectively work to reduce the young person’s offending. For young people who are already on a 

Court Order, the ramifications of a formal charge for a minor offence are significant, including as one of 

Page 67



 

41 
 

the interview participants described, being recalled to custody for a trivial offence (eg stealing a packet of 

crisps) committed whilst serving a DTO on licence (112). Return to court also means disrupting the 

package of work being delivered by the YOS officer, and the relationship being developed with the young 

person. 

Similarly, some young people may be returned to panel for non-engagement with their YRI. An escalatory 

approach might seek to enforce engagement by pushing the young person further up the ladder and 

escalating the response. Whilst this may be considered for cases interpreted as ‘wilful non-compliance’, 

this is by no means inevitable. the principles of non-escalation at JDP mean that decisions about 

consequences of non-engagement are made on a case-by-case basis, so as to avoid where possible the 

final option of progressing the young person through the criminal justice system. Before escalating to 

court, a Youth Caution or Conditional Caution may be offered, with the latter having a legal requirement 

to engage with the conditions attached.  

There seemed to be some uncertainty and ambiguity around whether the YRI is a voluntary intervention, 

and which therefore cannot carry consequences for non-engagement, or whether engagement is 

required as this was a condition of the decision not to criminalise, for example: 

“Well, it’s not voluntary because if it’s a JDP, they are sent to court if they don’t comply 

with it; … but with JDP, it’s a bit more like what do I do here? How long do I try to pursue 

this young person until I send him back to JDP? And sometimes, it’s the experience of my 

colleague, and she sent somebody back, and they said – Oh, keep trying. So that’s the 

thing: it’s a bit boundary wise, it’s looser than a Court Order… But you lose valuable time; 

and that’s a bit of a grey area.” (115) 

This ambiguity is more pronounced at the lower Tiers of the YRI, especially the Tier 1 referral into services 

such as We Are With You or Early Help. If the response is the referral itself, this does not inevitably 

necessitate engagement (107, 114).  

By contrast, a number of the participants noted that the voluntary nature of the YRI, coupled with the 

panel’s requirement of an admission of the offence, means that the YRI cases are often easier to engage 

than those a Court Order, with one participant noting that only around 4% of cases are returned to JDP 

for non-engagement (102). 

The interview participants showed awareness of a range of different issues that may lead to non-

engagement where it may not be appropriate to escalate the young person and further criminalise them, 

for example where their engagement is dependent upon parental support or co-operation (106), where 

there are financial or transport barriers to engagement (106), or communication and technology barriers 

(102), or where the intervention may not be suitable for that young person’s needs (114). Young people 

living in children’s homes were also seen as potentially finding engagement more difficult, and it was 

seen as particularly important to try to prevent escalation of these young people (114). In each case, the 

panel explore the circumstances of the non-engagement before making any decision about response: 

“I think what we have got better at doing is, if a case comes back, like today actually, we 

will look at – Let’s just not take it on face value that they haven’t engaged, what does that 

non-engagement look like? What’s going on with other services? What can we do 

differently? So we do try and do that; which has been really positive. So for the first 

Page 68



 

42 
 

question – What could we do differently, what have we done? Why is it not working? Have 

we given every opportunity?” (102) 

 

(In)consistencies 
 

The professional interview participants discussed the existence of inconsistencies within the previous 

system, and there is evidence that the JDP has improved levels of consistency in decision making, 

although this has not led to a corresponding consistency of outcomes. Prior to the establishment of JDP, 

decisions about whether to charge a young person to court or to issue a community resolution were 

taken by individual Police Sergeants, and it was difficult to ensure that decisions were being made with 

any degree of consistency (102). 

Whilst some of the participants noted that consistency has improved, others described their concerns 

about remaining inconsistencies between some cases. However, this apparent discrepancy can be 

explained through a distinction between consistency of process and consistency of outcomes. Those who 

noted cases which appeared inconsistent tended to refer to inconsistency of outcome, for example, 

where two young people committed the offence jointly but only one was charged to court: “Even I 

couldn’t explain to the victim why that was!” (114). 

Yet as discussed above the rationale for decision making at JDP considers much more than the offence 

alone, and tries to respond in a more holistic way that considers the full context of the case and the 

young person’s life. Some participants did show an awareness that ‘consistency’ of approach or process 

might not be the same as consistency in outcome, and that this is quite complex to achieve: 

“that’s the difficulty because we are looking at that individual young person, we’re tailoring 

that outcome for that young person, and that’s the difficulty about getting the consistency, 

because it could be right for that young person: two hours reparation, and maybe ten 

hours is right for these young people, but when you are looking at it, you think – well, 

there’s no rhyme or reason to this” (108) 

There was some discussion in the interviews about whether the membership of the JDP affects 

consistency of decision making. Whilst one participant described the consistent panel membership as a 

strength of the JDP, others noted the practice of rotating members, particularly from a large pool of 

Police Sergeants. There appeared to be some agreement that a smaller pool of panel members was most 

effective and supported consistency of decision making, in that a) they are more invested in the process, 

b) they have more experience and understanding of the panel, and c) they become more familiar with 

how/why decisions are made (114, 113, 106). Who takes the role of Chair was also seen as potentially 

impacting consistency: “… some of them are more leaning towards not punishing them at all, you know, 

the softly, softly approach. And some of them are quite, you know, direct.” (111 PS). 

Of course, it is worth noting that formal court processes are not immune from inconsistencies in decision 

making due to the inevitable human element, and within the Youth Court setting, this is further 

illustrated by the difference between those court sessions held by a district judge and a youth 

magistrates’ bench. 

Page 69



 

43 
 

Victims Role in JDP 
 

Processes for including the views of the victim at the panel have been improved since first introduced. 

Initially, this included only the victim information provided by the police which was recorded at the time 

of the offence, which was quite generic, often lacked detail and could be as little as “four/five words” 

(102). Within the new process, Victim Liaison Officers contact the victims directly to gather their views for 

the panel. “They’ll speak to them around their feelings; views around the offence, the impact etc; but 

more importantly, they’ll also speak to them about potential outcomes; so they will speak to them about, 

you know, potentially if we were to explore a Restorative Outcome, would you be prepared to engage in 

anything directly?” (102). Information about the victim is then included in the papers prepared for 

consideration at panel by the JDP co-ordinator (111).  

Some participants described occasions where the victim’s views had not been included and it wasn’t 

always clear whether that was because they did not want to contribute their views or had not had the 

opportunity to do so: 

“So, I’ve been on it a few times where I’ve not had the victim’s views, and it’s been 

relatively serious enough to think actually this needs to go back, and the officer needs to 

get those views. If they don’t want to provide those views, and they say – I’m not 

bothered. That’s fine, but it needs to be on there; it needs to be presented, really. Because 

otherwise we are becoming completely focussed on the perpetrator, and forgetting about 

the victim; and that happens a bit too much, really” (113) 

A victim of offences against their personal property described how they had been contacted by the VLO, 

to give them the opportunity to express their views and say what outcome they would like to see from 

JDP. However, they felt that they were asked to give this information without sufficient time to think it 

through, as they were contacted by phone for an immediate response for the panel hearing the following 

day: 

“it just caught me by the hop, because I was driving down from my house to go to a 

meal. So I couldn’t really say too much. They hadn’t given me time to think really. So 

I’m a little bit disappointed with that” (202) 

In one of the victim interviews, they described how the detailed victim statement that they had written 

had not been fully shared at JDP, with selected sections not read out because the panel “didn’t need to 

know that information” (203). They felt strongly that this undermined their statement about the life-

changing impact on the victim and their family:  

“I was asked to write an impact statement, and that impact statement was what I wrote. 

Why didn’t they read it? I’m not interested in them picking bits out of it. That’s not making 

it my impact statement, is it?” (203). 

One of the victims interviewed, who described the experiences from the retail perspective, felt excluded 

from the process on a number of levels, “because I’ve not been involved in it, and we don’t find out really 

what happens in these meetings; they are a bit behind closed doors for us” (201). Their main channel of 

communication was the police rather than VLO, who “don’t normally get involved” (201). They felt that 

Page 70



 

44 
 

they had never had an opportunity to feed their views into JDP, even when they were a victim of a 

physical assault whilst at work, and had never been asked to complete a victim satisfaction survey. They 

felt that “the process should be the same no matter who you are going through it. I might be an 

employee in security, but I’m not paid enough to be spat at, punched and kicked” (201). 

The panel can sometimes delay discussing a particular case if it is felt that there is insufficient detail from 

the victims, especially where the victim is another young person, or there are allegations of further 

victimisation taking place (103). 

Whilst some of the participants described the victim views as being put forward “in order to kind of guide 

the intervention” and taken into account in the decision making process (101), others noted the limits to 

this, for example: “Certainly there would be instances were victims haven’t been happy, erm, but they 

are few and far between; erm, and I think, yeah, the difference is we are not bound by that now” (102).  

The panel members interviewed saw a clear distinction between the views of the victim and the impact 

on the victim in terms of what should be taken into account within the decision-making process:  

“We are looking at, in terms of, of taking into account, you know, in terms of, impacts on 

victim; and the victim isn’t lost in sight of that, but actually the victim’s views or thoughts 

may not influence our decision: we will take that into account but may not be the deciding 

factor.” (106) 

There was an awareness that victims can often have quite punitive attitudes, reflecting the broader 

punitive views of society (101). Whilst these views are heard at JDP, it would not be appropriate to 

always take these into consideration, “because we’ve got to be realistic, some people want people hung, 

drawn and quartered, you know?” (113). There was the perception that older victims in particular could 

be more punitive, and want the young person to go through the court process: “it’s like they have 

forgotten that they had a childhood, or anything; and that kids do make mistakes and stuff; so you can 

generally tell when you get somebody’s date of birth, you kind of get an idea of how the conversations 

going to go” (114). However, there were examples of victims being sympathetic to the needs of the 

young person, particularly where they already knew the young person’s circumstances (108). Because of 

issues of confidentiality and data protection, very limited information about the wider contexts of the 

young person’s life can be shared with the victim. This can limit opportunities for the victim to fully 

understand what might have led the young person to behave in this way and to perceive the incident 

differently to the reality (101). However effective communication regarding the impact of JDP in reducing 

offending may provide assurance that this form of intervention is more effective than traditional, ‘justice’ 

oriented outcomes. Victims tend to favour punitive interventions as they perceive them as an effective 

deterrent but ultimately, they want to prevent future offending within the community and especially 

further offences against themselves (201, 202, 203).  

One participant described how there are some victims who do not want to be involved in the process and 

“just want to move on” (116). Commercial victims eg of shoplifting may want it to be dealt with, so it 

doesn’t happen again but have no personal interest in the case. By contrast victims of assault might be 

more personally invested but wish to avoid another confrontation and are worried it may increase the 

likelihood of further victimisation “because they are seen as being part of the process” (116).  

Page 71



 

45 
 

There are of course cases where the victimisation continues even after the perpetrator is given a YRI or 

court order, which leaves victims dissatisfied with the process. Racially aggravated offences in particular 

were noted as an example of this that was difficult to manage, with Victim Liaison Officers often getting 

called by the victim to address further victimisation incidents (108, 203). This can be one of the reasons 

for a victim’s preference for a Court Order or YCC, rather than just to be ‘punitive’ because these can 

impose restrictions on contact and exclusions from certain locations which might make them feel safer 

(114). 

The Victim Liaison Officer performs an important role sitting in between the panel and the victim, 

manging victim expectations around outcomes, and trying to “get them on board”. Whilst asking the 

victim to share their views, they also have to be very clear about the fact that “the panel won’t change 

their intervention based on what they say” (114) and thereby avoid any misinformation or 

disappointment. An important part of managing expectations is providing clarity about the likelihood (or 

otherwise) of a formal conviction, addressing the victim’s understanding of the work that will be done, 

and reassuring them that a “Community Resolution isn’t a soft touch” (102). The perception seemed to 

be that “generally, when you have explained the process and you explain about cautions and reprimands, 

and low level of intervention … most of them are ok about it” (114) and they “just want the kids to get 

help” (114). 

There is some evidence of a process to ensure that victims are kept informed about the panel hearing 

and the outcome. This is usually done through the Future4Me Victim Liaison Officers, and also sometimes 

via the police. However, in the victim interviews, they all shared their experiences of not feeling fully 

informed and a lack of clarity about the process, for example:  

“I just thought they were going to court, and nobody informed me that they wasn’t going 

to court… so I had no information at all; nobody corresponded with me, what’s going to 

happen; only got that call from [the VLO] the night before – They’re going to panel 

tomorrow. I said – They are not going to court? She said – No they are going to panel. So 

that’s all I know; nobody briefed me about that at all.” (201)  

It can sometimes be difficult for the VLO to justify the outcome to the victim (108), although the VLO can 

also advocate for the victim where they feel that the decision taken in JDP is inappropriate and doesn’t 

consider the needs of the victim. The victim might also feel differently about the outcome decided at JDP 

if they had more detail, but “it is a very fine line to tread sometimes about how much information you do 

disclose” (108). 

Four of the professional participants described how they have sometimes felt that the victim has been 

“forgotten” or overlooked in the JDP process (108, 111, 113, 114), and even that they seem to sometimes 

be an “inconvenience” (108) in what is a child-focused approach. Victims are not usually informed about 

the longer-term outcomes for that young person, such as whether they completed their community 

resolution. The limited number of VLOs in the service means they sometimes lack capacity to work as 

closely with victims as they might want to, and therefore tend to prioritise supporting individual and 

young victims over and above retail and commercial victims. Whilst one of the three victims interviewed 

appeared to have been fully informed about the outcome, the other two felt that they had not been 

given sufficient information about the kinds of interventions that the young person might need to engage 

with, how long the YRI would last, or whether it was completed. For one of the victims, where the harm 

Page 72



 

46 
 

was of a more significant and personal nature, it was felt to be important to know this, so as to achieve 

some “closure” (203). 

This was particularly challenging for commercial/retail victims as they might have had multiple incidents 

at their premises, and would receive an outcome letter identifying the incident by a case number which 

does not correspond to the police incident number previously received and was therefore difficult to 

interpret: “For them to go through JDP, and me never know what happens, that does get to a point 

where you have to kind of say that – This isn’t right.” (201). They attributed these problems to the fact 

that the police act as the main conduit for communication, but that they are not good at passing 

information on, in part because “they’re obviously busy, and they don’t really have the time to be coming 

back to us constantly” (201).  

The Covid-19 pandemic and subsequent lockdown did not change the Victim Liaison Officer’s work with 

victims greatly as much of the contact was conducted by phone in any case. However, it may have 

potentially created new opportunities for working with victims remotely, via video conferencing. The 

Future4Me participants described using Zoom to support a restorative justice meeting between an 

elderly victim and the young perpetrator who was serving a custodial sentence (105), and how victims 

were more willing to speak to the Referral Order panel members now that they could do so remotely 

(114). There was also some interest in whether video conferencing might be used to facilitate a verbal 

apology from a young person, as preferable to an in-person meeting (114). There was however an 

awareness of how video calls can lose some of the body language that might affect the success of the 

restorative encounter, and this can make it more difficult for professionals working with victims to get 

across levels of empathy (108).  

 

Voice of the Young Person at JDP 
 

As the JDP has developed, it is clear that the process incorporates some attempt to include the voice and 

views of the young person at the panel hearing. This is seen as valuable in providing “another piece of the 

jigsaw” (106), helping to understand the offence and also the wider circumstances of the young person’s 

life. The JDP co-ordinator tries to contact the young person pre-panel by phone, however a number of 

the panel members described how this was not always successful in practice, for example noting: “we 

just really struggle to get young people to answer, to talk to us” (102) and only achieve this in somewhere 

between a third and half of cases. In addition to any general reluctance to talk to a stranger about the 

offence, this may be the result of young people changing their number or losing their phones, and can 

also be due to cognitive, speech and communication difficulties, which are common across this group of 

young people (108).  

During the Covid-19 pandemic and lockdown, it was noted that communication with young people 

became easier as they tended to be at home rather than out with friends. Therefore even those young 

people who don’t have their own phone or chose not to share their number, could be contacted via the 

landline or by phoning the parent’s phone (102). 

Where young people don’t have direct contact numbers, or have chosen not to share them, contact is 

attempted through parents. However, frequently the young person is not at home, and this sometimes 

Page 73



 

47 
 

provides an opportunity to speak to the parent instead. Whilst this may be helpful, it should not be 

considered as equivalent to gathering the views of the child.  

Sometimes, it seemed that the panel might still hear a case without the voice of the child if that was the 

only missing piece of information. Including the voice for the child is consequently described as “a bit hit 

and miss… definitely the most difficult one to try and crack” (102). There is clearly an appetite for 

improving the extent of the participation of the child within the process, as one participant described: 

“you know it’s a little bit of a flaw in the process because … professionals are sitting round 

the table, making the decision, on behalf of that young person, and yes, we can say that 

we’ve had a conversation with the young person or bits and pieces like that, but I think it 

would make it …I don’t think I would particularly like to know that a group of professionals 

have sat in a room somewhere and decided my outcome without any conversation with 

me whatsoever. I think that wouldn’t sit well with me whatsoever.” (108) 

There were some interesting ideas proposed in the interviews, to move away from contact via phone, 

and make use of alternative communications preferred by young people, such as social media or an app. 

Conversations have already begun with the Children’s Services Participation Team to explore how they 

might support alternative strategies to promote young people’s participation. This is important work to 

develop, reflecting a Child First approach underpinned by the right to participation in the UNCRC. 

Some participants also expressed a view that young people should play a more central role in the panel 

itself, “because until they start talking to the young person, they don’t quite know where they are or 

what intervention they are going to have” (109). This is seen as an advantage of the Referral Order panels 

in comparison to JDP: “I think there’s always value in having a young person there as part of a 

proceeding. That’s because they have a right… it’s a process that’s about them” (116). Otherwise it 

becomes a process which is done to the young person, that happened at a distance, rather than one in 

which they had a role to play. This does not sit easily alongside the restorative approach advocated 

within the service. 

After the panel, the outcome is fed back to the young person, and initially this was the responsibility of 

the arresting officervi, however some logistical challenges arising out of the officers’ shift patterns meant 

that this was not always effective or timely. This process is reported to have improved as JDP has bedded 

in, and furthermore an outcomes letter is sent from the panel to the young person as an additional 

feedback mechanism, although this can sometimes sit unopened, so the police contact remains crucial. 

There is scope here also to embed a more participatory approach to engage young people with the 

outcome of the panel. 

After the outcome is completed, there is a process for obtaining feedback from the young person about 

their experiences of the interventions and service delivered, although as one participant noted “I’m not 

sure it’s at the right time, with the right person, in the right environment, and the right questions” (108). 

Of the five young people who responded to this question, three said that they had had the process 

explained to them. Two of the young people could not recall having had the process explained to them, 

but said that it has been explained to a parent instead (302, 304). For example one young person recalled 

their mother receiving letters but said “I didn’t really read any of them” (302). Some of these 

recollections appeared to be more relating to the explanation of the YRI outcome than of the JDP panel 

Page 74



 

48 
 

process and there seemed to be differences in who delivered that explanation, with young people 

referring to both the police (304) and allocated worker (303, 305). They also received the information 

through different mechanisms, including by both letter and phone call (301), in person with the worker 

(303, 305) and with one describing how the worker was “explaining it whilst writing it down so it’s easier 

for me to understand” (303).  

None of the young people described being asked for their views to feed into the panel. For one young 

person, there was confusion about which panel was being referred to during the interview as they 

responded “I’ve sat in front of two panels… I don’t understand which one you mean” (302).  

 

4.2. Effectiveness and Suitability of Interventions 
 

Intervention 
 

Allocation of worker 

There is evidence of a good deal of thought being put into the process of allocating a worker to deliver 

the intervention, based on a number of factors which all cohere around the needs of the young person, 

namely to minimise the number of different workers, reduce complexity, and to support a relational 

approach: “why introduce a new person when you already have that relationship?” (114). The panel will 

therefore consider positive relationships that are already in place, e.g. where a young person is already 

open to Early Help or has been allocated a Child Sexual Exploitation worker, “we’d look at that probably 

and say – what’s their relationship like with [the young person]?” (103).  

Where a worker has already been working effectively with a sibling and is therefore familiar with the 

family, they might be seen as a suitable allocation, and similarly, if the worker knows the local community 

well, and is familiar with the problems experienced there, as well as the potential services and support. 

Alongside this, the panel consider whether an identified worker is able to deliver the specified package of 

interventions and whether they have any specialist knowledge required, e.g. having undertaken training 

to deliver the AIM assessment for harmful sexual behaviours, or the Beyond the Blade knife crime 

awareness programme (103). However, a primary logistical consideration is also simply the capacity of 

the workers within their caseload (115). Within the integrated Future4Me team, there was a feeling that 

the workers, regardless of whether their background was Early Help or Youth Offending, should all be 

capable of delivering the outcomes of JDP, with additional training being put in place across the whole 

team e.g. around Beyond the Blade. Where the allocated worker was identified as not being the most 

suitable person to deliver a particular element of the package, consideration was then given to who could 

be brought in to do so (102). 

Bringing together the YOS and EH workers within the F4M team has raised some potential issues around 

allocation. YOS Officers in particular were concerned that their specific expertise and offending behaviour 

knowledge is being undermined and watered down, as even fairly high-level cases can be allocated to an 

Early Help worker. Early Help workers were seen as being less experienced in working to deadlines 

Page 75



 

49 
 

around completion of interventions and identifying when to return a young person to panel for non-

compliance, because they operate within a voluntary rather than statutory part of children’s services 

(112). There were also concerns about workers with lower levels of qualifications being allocated to work 

with young people with high levels of safety and wellbeing concerns: “I feel a bit confused when you’ve 

got unqualified workers working with them and they are at a high safety and wellbeing; So I don’t know, I 

don’t know whether that’s right. I think it maybe should be with a social worker or officer” (112). 

However, there is evidence that this allocation process has now been developed to consider more 

explicitly issues around risk and safety and wellbeing. vii 

By contrast, one of the of the participants felt strongly that there needed to be some flexibility around 

allocations, potentially allocating to a wider range of services beyond the Future4Me team, so as to best 

meet the needs of the child, particularly where they are health related: 

“I think we need to get better at…erm, working out what is useful, and who it’s useful to be 

delivered by. I think some people kind of think offending behaviour comes through to YOS, 

and actually a child engaging in offending behaviour doesn’t always necessarily sit with 

YOS. I think we need to…my view is we need to get more partner agencies involved to kind 

of support the outcome of the JDP, and really think about what these children need to 

desist from that type of behaviour; and I don’t think that automatically sits within an 

offending arena” (101) 

The young people spoke largely positively about the productive relationships they had built with their 

allocated workers, for example, “I enjoyed it, because you can get to know a person when it’s one to 

one” (305). This clearly supported their engagement and participation within the interventions:  

“I’m one of those people that if someone’s not nice to me, then I don’t want to do 

anything. I’m like – No, I’m not going to talk to you if you are being horrible” (308).  

In interviews, young people used words like “nice” (302, 304, 305, 308), “kind” (304, 308) and “super 

friendly and are willing to help” (301) to describe their allocated worker. One worker was seen as 

“respectful” because “she listened to me. She understood everything. She listened to my point of view” 

(305). This feeling of being listened to was echoed by another young person who said, “she listens and 

she cares what you’ve got to say” (302). Open channels of communication were seen as central to this as 

these two young people describe: 

“If you did not understand anything or had any problems, you were able to contact them 

and ask for help which was good. Communication is really important and the staff really 

demonstrates it.” (301) 

“We get on. I ring [allocated worker] quite often, like it’s never like a problem for me to do 

it.” (308) 

One young person (308) described how their worker achieved the perfect balance between care and 

control: 

 “she is still hard like, still doing what she was doing; if that makes sense. Like she got the 

point across; and got me to do the work, and did everything; but she was kind about it.” 

(308) 

Page 76



 

50 
 

This was achieved by trying to accommodate the young person’s other time commitments and routines 

and to deliver it in an accessible way: “she like splits it up so it doesn’t take too long. She engages you in 

it, even if it’s like boring” (308). The workers were therefore praised for their “help and encouragement” 

(301) and for explaining things in ways that the young person could understand (301, 303, 304, 308). 

Nature of the intervention and comparison with Youth Conditional Caution / Referral Order 

As part of the overall holistic approach, there was an emphasis on putting in place interventions which 

support positive outcomes for young people: “the offence itself is why, you know, they are receiving 

intervention and support, but the support and intervention just doesn’t focus on the offence, it 

recognises that we need to be dealing with wider issues, and look at those” (103). The participants 

described young people from challenging backgrounds in which they engage in anti-social and offending 

behaviours because “there isn’t actually anything else in their life, or they don’t see that they have 

anywhere positive to go” (106). For many of the young people they just need to have somebody to talk to 

and actually feel that they are being listened to, and treated with respect: “they feel like they are treated 

like an adult, and not like a child; so that makes a big difference to how they feel” (112). 

It was seen as important that the interventions are meaningful (102) to the young person, and that this is 

what makes it more beneficial than a mere caution (108). This includes ensuring that the outcomes are 

“direct and relevant” (102) rather than more generic, and that they have a positive impact on both the 

young person and the victims/wider community (103). 

The interviews revealed the overlap between the interventions/access to specialist services that can be 

offered on the YRI and those attached to the Referral Order, or indeed the Youth Conditional Caution. 

Access to the groupwork programmes, Status and #Filter, Attendance Centre requirements, health 

involvement from the Future4Me Clinical Psychologist or Speech and Language Specialist, and outreach 

work with Positive Futures and Youth Community Development, are offered across the spectrum (101). 

The same opportunities for victim work are also given (114). Some of the participants therefore likened 

the YRI to a mini-RO as it mirrored the work done without criminalising the young person (112, 113, 114), 

and for a potentially more limited period (3 months rather than a maximum of 12 months for the RO) 

although this period could be extended where necessary (114).  

Some differences were highlighted, however. For example, a Tier 3 YRI could not include an Exclusion 

Requirement, which was open to both the YCC and RO (102). There is also guidance on the differing 

number of reparation hours for each of the interventions to reflect the different positions on the 

‘offending ladder’ and the consequences of the offence (101, 116). It was further noted that whilst the 

interventions offered are very similar, there is more flexibility with the YRI: “we’re not so prescriptive” 

(101). This led to one Future4Me colleague to describe how this led to some inconsistency and lack of 

clarity around the interventions being delivered as it “depends on the worker really, and what 

intervention, what work they do with them… there doesn’t seem to be any kind of standard approach as 

to what intervention is given” (114). The YOS officers described working in very similar ways on a YRI and 

RO, in terms of way they provide the intervention, but that a different way of ensuring compliance is 

required (115). With the Referral Order, there is a contract signed, and if they don’t comply with it, then 

it can be taken back to the panel, whereas “with the JDP, it’s a lot more voluntary based” (114). 

Page 77



 

51 
 

The YRI Tier 3 was delivered within a maximum 12 week time period, although this could be extended 

voluntarily after that had ended but support was still needed (101). For some of the interview 

participants, this period of time had huge potential for getting to know a young person, and addressing 

the issues affecting their behaviours, and therefore should be offered to all young people, who under the 

Tiered system may have only received a Tier 1 or 2 outcome: 

“I think potentially, you know, we’re missing the trick really when it is just reparation they 

give. You know, the rep workers are great, but when they’ve only got a small amount of 

hours, they can’t build any relationship up, you know, and I think if you’ve got somebody 

working with that person for three months, you can find out a lot about what’s going on, 

for that young person.” (114) 

Some of the participants felt that 3 months was not a long time to work with a young person, particularly 

if you need to build a relationship of trust from scratch with them first, and there was therefore a limit to 

what could be achieved (101). Yet in other cases, the allocated worker might look at the assessment and 

consider whether it could be delivered in a shorter period, for example between 4 to 8 weeks (103). 

There appeared to be some flexibility here in relation to the nominal period of intervention, with an 

underlying principle of “minimum intervention from a criminal point of view, or disposal point of view, for 

the maximum impact” (106). 

One of the young people interviewed explained why they thought the 12 week period of intervention was 

appropriate: 

“I’ve had [allocated worker] for 12 weeks, which I think is a good amount of time, because 

it’s like two and a half months isn’t it, 12 weeks? So then obviously 12 weeks is like…I don’t 

know, if it was only a month, it wouldn’t have really done anything. If it was a bit longer, it 

would have been just dragging on…Because if someone is trying to tell me something, like 

teach me something, I’ve got to properly go through it for like an amount of time, 

otherwise it doesn’t stay in my head, really.” (308) 

Impact of Covid-19 on intervention 

During the Covid-19 pandemic and lockdown, there was an inevitable shift to remote, online delivery of 

interventions and support, with face-to-face contact reserved only for those children deemed as critical 

cases with high safeguarding concerns (103). The interview participants described both “successes and 

failures” (106) in relation to this delivery model.  

In terms of engagement, some young people responded better to the remote delivery, because of the 

reduced proximity of the worker, where they would feel uncomfortable having someone visit them at 

home and sit close to them (106). It was seen as being less intrusive than a home visit (112) and less 

intimidating than it is face to face (108), and therefore easier for a young person to open up and discuss 

issues they would have previously been willing to do so: “we’ve had some real interesting insights, some 

safeguarding things, that have been flagged up that probably we would have never known about in the 

past” (108). These successes have led some of the participants to express their view that remote video 

conferencing should continue as part of the suite of tools and approaches that can be used to help 

support engagement (103, 106, 108), not to replace face to face, but to “supplement and compliment 

what we do” (106). 

Page 78



 

52 
 

But for others, there were too many distractions to fully concentrate, with young people described as 

“looking around their bedroom” (108), “wandering around the house” (116) and sometimes with 

disruption in the background such as shouting (108). For some young people, especially those in a 

residential care home setting, their home environment meant that they struggled to get the necessary 

privacy, and didn’t feel comfortable talking with others around. Their bed sometimes appeared to be the 

only private space, which was described as “awkward” and raised concerns about how appropriate that 

was for such interactions, and the need for pre-planning “and just really doing that groundwork before 

you have the meeting, because you just do not know what’s going to happen when that young person 

comes to the other end of the phone, or on the screen, because it maybe bedlam going on behind them.” 

(108) 

The quality of Broadband speed and coverage in rural Lincolnshire can often be poor, and the limitations 

of the young person’s Wi-Fi access added to the challenges of engagement, as one participant said: 

“There’s a few guidelines: when you are doing this, sit still, so we don’t lose the signal!” (116). Staff 

working from home were also affected by this, as well as finding it challenging to develop new digital 

skills in a very short pace of time (106, 108). There was often an assumption that young people were 

usually more tech savvy and inherently more comfortable using digital technologies than the adults 

working with them (103, 106, 108 116) 

Some participants expressed their view that engagement was made easier where the worker had already 

met and built a relationship with the young person before the move to remote delivery because, as this 

worker notes: “unless you’ve got that relationship, it can be quite awkward; it can be quite impersonal” 

(112). There was some evidence when taking on new cases, of workers making an initial face to face visit 

before then delivering the work remotely, in order to support that relationship (102, 106, 112). However, 

in one interview it was suggested that the more impersonal remote contact might help to build the 

confidence to meet face to face. 

There was a strong emphasis on the need to be more “creative” (103, 106, 108, 112, 114), to “think 

outside the box” (106) in order to consider how best to engage with that young person (103). Whilst 

some adapted the more traditional printed worksheets, eg by emailing to the young person in advance, 

there was also an appetite to utilise digital tools, eg by creating interactive quizzes, asking the young 

person to do some research online, and to produce an information poster or a PowerPoint to show their 

learning and develop new skills (103).  The staff who were involved in this remote delivery of 

interventions were thankful for the support provided to develop new resources suitable for delivering in 

that context, noting that there were people in the team who were dedicated to “actively looking at 

resources, and compiling them, and sharing them; and putting a summary together” (103) as they would 

not have had time to do so themselves. 

Five of the six young people interviewed had experienced these remote intervention contexts, either 

exclusively or alongside some face-to-face meetings, and they were largely happy with how they had 

been delivered. They described a range of formats including phone and voice calling, video calls, use of 

email to share materials, and they had not experienced any particular problems with technology 

preventing them from engaging. For this young person, the remote engagement did not impact the value 

of the intervention and support provided: 

Page 79



 

53 
 

“I think [online working] was easier for both of us because…especially her obviously, didn’t 

have to come out, and for some teenagers, you feel it’s up to date because it’s online. 

When we met she could give me things to do, but when it was online she had to just write 

it down for me, but it didn’t change anything, it still was helpful.” (308) 

Another young person explained that, whilst their worker did pay them a visit during the period between 

lockdowns, they would have liked to meet their worker face to face more, because “when you talk to 

people you see their facial expression; it helps; it makes me focus a bit more, than over the phone” (305). 

However, they had declined the offer of using video calls because “I always look a mess” (305).  

Two of the young people noted the positive impact of Covid on their ability to comply with the 

requirements of their YRI, because “there was no way to go outside so not much social life” which helped 

them to stay out of trouble (301) and because, “It gave me something to do and made me think about it, 

because I didn’t have to go out, and I could think about it a bit more” (305). 

Group work 

Requirements to attend group work sessions can be attached to the YRI outcome, with three primary 

group programmes discussed by the participants: ReStore, Status and #Filter. The delivery and 

integration of these programmes into the YRI has evolved following reflections on experience and the 

responses of the young people attending them. 

ReStore is the dedicated programme delivered by external partner Restorative Solutions in response to 

shop theft. This was initially delivered in a groupwork format, but it became evident in the interviews 

that this hadn’t always been helpful: “we increasingly found that actually the dynamics between those 

young people became the overriding factor; rather than the reason they were there.  So that’s why we’ve 

taken it back down to one young person per session” (105). There had also been discussion around 

whether the allocated YOS officer could complete the workbook activities with the young person 

following the session delivered by Restorative Solutions, in order to integrate it further (105). 

Status is a groupwork programme specifically for young men, encouraging self-reflection about “that 

identity of who they are as young men in society, who they want to be” (106). This programme was seen 

as having had some very positive outcomes, and therefore a similar groupwork programme for girls had 

been developed - #Filter. There was an awareness that young people respond differently to different 

settings, and therefore “with some it needs the one-to-one work, and that’s the best way to do it. For 

some others, the best learning is through a group activity; it’s about being with others to kind of learn” 

(106). One of the young people interviewed discussed their experiences of the #Filter programme, 

although it was running in a one-to-one video call format due to Covid 19. In particular they appreciated 

the duration of 6 sessions: “that’s helped as well because any less than 6 would be – What’s the point? 

But any more than 6 would be – Is this still going on?” (308).  

In the early days of JDP, when the YRIs were tiered, a Tier 2 YRI could include a referral to a groupwork 

programme, but without a worker being allocated. The learning within the service about how effective 

this was led to some changes in respect of this: “that was relooked at to say essentially if we think 

someone needs groups work, do we not think that they need some intervention about how they’re 

actually embedding those learning into life other than attending the group work sessions?” (103) 

Page 80



 

54 
 

The Covid-19 pandemic and lockdown presented challenges to the delivery of the Status and #Filter 

groupwork programmes. They were initially suspended and then moved online, with the co-ordinators 

having to rewrite the programme for an online delivery format (112). It appears that whilst the intention 

was to continue to deliver them as groupwork, they have also been delivered on a one-to-one basis, for 

example one of the young people interviewed described their attendance at a one-to-one version of 

#Filter via Zoom (308). This individual session retained the important learning content, but delivered 

without the group interaction. One of the professional participants felt that a valuable opportunity was 

lost through this move:  

“for a lot of them, it is their social skills, and their social interaction, and in some instances 

they’re really reluctant to engage with any of them outside of their closest, best mate or 

whatever, and so that side of the order I think is hugely important in developing a social 

awareness, social skills and an appreciation, you know, developing empathy for others, and 

understanding of others having different perceptions and views” (116) 

Out of Area Cases 

One of the challenges in the delivery of interventions relates to cases where the young person moves out 

of area, and the postcode “lottery” (102) which characterises the out of court disposals having been 

developed following the LASPO Act 2012. Whilst Lincolnshire has developed a flexible suite of Community 

Resolutions that permit different levels of support and intervention, other areas do not have the same 

options open to them and it could sometimes be complicated to align the elements of the work required 

by the YRI to the services offered in the new host YOT, and discuss with them what would be appropriate 

as “every area has its own interpretation” (112). In particular, problems occurred where the YRI package 

of interventions could not be delivered without criminalising the young person, for example:  

“We could say – This feels suitable for Community Resolution Tier 3 one to one work. 

Young person then moves to Nottingham, who say - Actually we don’t deliver one to one 

work under the Community Resolution banner - We can do something holistic like this or 

this; actually the only way we can deliver it, intervention work, would be a Youth 

Conditional Caution.” (102) 

Whilst this only affected a small number of young people, it seems that Looked After Children were more 

likely to be impacted (102, 103, 106). However, one of the participants described how the YRI period was 

sometimes cut short where the young person had engaged well, rather than start from scratch with a 

new worker in a new service (114), revealing some useful flexibility in the response.  

 

Package of Support 
 

There was a clear emphasis on the provision of a “package of support” (103, 106) within the interventions 

delivered. This is seen as a holistic, “wraparound” (113) package which can address all of the areas of the 

young person’s life that are impacting their behaviour and future outcomes, and which is multi-agency in 

nature (116). This was also seen as being able to “join up the dots” between the services surrounding a 

young person, for example addressing their housing needs. There were some comments about the lack of 

Page 81



 

55 
 

variety of elements within the YRI, and it was suggested that a broader offer of activities and responses 

would be beneficial in building bespoke packages of tailored support (103). 

Some of the issues that need addressing may be seen as potential “quick wins” or “quick fixes” (108) that 

can be resolved fairly straightforwardly. For many young people, however, alongside these quick wins are 

a range of much more complex problems that need untangling and addressing, because “You can’t deal 

with somebody’s offending in isolation. It’s usually the result of something” (115). These might appear to 

sit outside the traditional remit of youth offending work, for example school attendance and exclusions 

(109), but are seen as important to JDP: “I think sometimes like you are trying to almost solve some other 

problems that are outside; but very much that is what we should be doing; because that’s what 

everybody should be doing.” (103).  

In particular, health needs are investigated as a matter of routine within the assessment process (115). 

This could include first and foremost ensuring that the young person is registered with a GP, as well as 

addressing physical, emotional and mental health issues, smoking and substance misuse, diet and healthy 

eating, sleeping patterns, and specific needs related to conditions such as ASD, ADHD, and Tourette’s 

Syndrome (115). Referrals to specialist services may be required, e.g. to CAMHS or We Are With You, and 

this can be further supported by sports interventions delivered via Positive Futures workers (108).  

Another important part of this holistic package of support is support for the family. One of the Youth 

Court magistrates interviewed noted that whilst the young people they see in court are increasingly 

complex and vulnerable, the JDP has much more capacity than the Youth Court to address the issues 

affecting young people within the home environment: “we [youth court] can’t really do anything on the 

social side to keep them safe and healthy. It sounds really sad to say that, but we have no real powers to 

say we should have social services intervention…  So it’s a hell of a responsibility these panels are doing 

really” (109).  

Through the multi-agency information gathering, JDP are well placed to identify where young people may 

need further support from their families, and to be able to see the risks involved where the young person 

may be seeking that support from elsewhere: 

“The aim is that families will step up and be supportive and all the things that, you know, 

children and young people need, for them to kind of nature and develop; and to come out 

as healthy, rounded adults in life; and to meet their expectations, you know, have positive 

aspirations; but we know that isn’t always the case; and I think it’s looking at how do we, 

you know, sometimes, how do you try and make sure that young person’s got that around 

them, because without it, what happens is you know that actually they will find someone 

who fills some of those gaps; and that person who fills that gap, might not be the most 

positive influence, but they’re the person that shows them attention, that makes them feel 

good, that make them feel part of something.” (106) 

The approach taken by JDP where a worker is allocated to engage with the family, is to recognise the 

“shared responsibility” for supporting the child, saying to parents/carers, “We would like to work with 

and support you and the family to try and look at how we can address this and stop this happening in the 

future” (103). This is not always easy, and some families may have previously rejected offers of support 

or be disinclined to see the behaviour as problematic (106, 111).  

Page 82



 

56 
 

For one young person interviewed, she felt that the support provided for her mother had been beneficial, 

although she didn’t know exactly what that had entailed as “that stays with my mum” (305). However, 

she described how the worker helps the family understand the intervention that’s being delivered and 

that as a consequence “it means my mum understands me a lot more”. Similarly, another young person 

noted that “I think my mum and dad trust me more since it happened, because I’ve got someone like 

[allocated worker] working with me” (308).  

One of the Youth Offending workers also identified a potential conflict within their roles where they are 

both working with a young person on a court order and providing more welfare focused support via JDP. 

Whilst the Court Order is statutory and breach can lead to return to court, the social support side is 

voluntary. Furthermore, returning breaches of an order to the court could lead the young person to be 

returned to custody, which is clearly in conflict with their welfare needs. It was therefore felt that “there 

needs to be some separation in roles, because then it kind of gets a bit muddy, in terms of what your aim 

is” (112). 

An integral part of the package of support is an appropriate exit strategy, to ensure that the support 

doesn’t just stop where there are remaining needs for that young person. There is evidence that this 

aspect of the package has improved as the service has developed: “I think previously, it kind of got to the 

three months and it was more sort of closed off, but I think now there’s just a lot more thought about 

what happens at the end of that, and what other services could pick them up. So I think people are 

working closer together to make a difference” (114). One of the participants advocated for a much more 

systematic, integrated “end to end” approach to thinking about the next steps for each young person, 

and developing pathways of support. 

“there needs to be an end-to-end framework for young offenders, in exactly the same way that there is 

an end to end framework for children who are motivated and go to school, college, university, 

apprentices; exactly the same. There needs to be a vision. There needs to be a staircase. There needs to 

be a pathway. I don’t care what you call it. There needs to be something where these children have a 

path to follow. They might not all follow it, and I know that there are agencies that do their bit, all the 

way along, what could be a path; but I’m not seeing a cohesion, in all of this, I’m seeing the few bodies 

that I’ve been engaged with, operating in isolation of each other” (116) 

One of the participants also highlighted their uncertainty as to whether all of the issues highlighted within 

the assessment are followed through fully “because of how disjointed that system is…  you’ve got to 

accept that organisations will take that on, and see it through; but I do wonder what happens – are all 

those needs met or addressed?” (113). 

 

Restorative elements 
 

Restorative justice or practice? 

For the JDP panel, “every outcome would need to be restorative” (102), however there were different 

ways of understanding what ‘restorative’ might mean. For some participants it reflected notions of 

restorative justice, in terms of a form of ‘payback’ (102, 111, 115), to “put right the wrong” (109), an 

Page 83



 

57 
 

“opportunity to make good, or apologise for the harm caused” (102). At the heart of that was “putting 

the person who has been harmed in contact with the person who has caused that harm” (105), either 

through a letter of apology, mediation, restorative conferencing etc.  

By comparison, for others there was a broader understanding of restorative practice as an alternative to 

a solely punitive response which involved working with the young person “to help them to look at how 

they do things, and actually to look at how they can do things differently” (106) rather than just telling 

them that what they did was wrong. A restorative practice approach also emphasises the importance of 

relationships in young people’s lives (106, 108) in order to help young people to “see the bigger picture” 

(111) and consider other people’s feelings. Some participants also described how a restorative approach 

needs to also help change the way others understand and respond to the young person, eg “for the 

police officer to be able to also understand the young person’s perspective” (115). 

One of the participants was clearly aware of this potential difference in terminology, but was loathe to 

see them as incompatible approaches:  

“whether it’s restorative practice or restorative justice, from my point of view, is, the 

overarching thing over both of them is just a restorative approach. We’re aware of both, 

and the debates that go on between those two kind of fields, but for me, and I think 

hopefully what I put across to staff, I’m not really bothered about if it’s restorative practice 

or restorative justice, are we working in a restorative way with this young person and the 

victim and the family, whatever.” (108) 

Another participant shared this view on the integration of these different elements of restoration, which 

he attributed to the fact that ‘victims’ and ‘offenders’ are also difficult to separate: “it is a restoration 

across the board, right from the victim perspective, and the offender’s perspective, I would say. This 

comes back to my perhaps naïve view that the offender often, maybe always, is a victim as well; certainly 

for youngsters” (116) 

It was seen as important that the views of the victim were considered when deciding on the restorative 

or reparative activity planned. Where the victim has said that they would like a letter of apology, then 

this would be facilitated where possible (114). Even in cases where the victim does not want to receive 

the letter, the young person may be asked to write one as part of the victim empathy work set (103). 

However, not all young people might be capable of writing this letter or reflecting upon the feelings of 

the victim, especially those young people with more complex lives: “particularly if you’ve been through 

sort of through trauma, then actually survival is all you are thinking about; and thinking and feeling, well, 

you know, what’s that about?” (105). Therefore, the victim’s preferences cannot always be 

accommodated, and it may not be in the interests of either party to pursue this.  

Two of the participants identified concerns about the Panel formally recommending a restorative 

conference, even where the victim has said that they would not want to participate in that or have any 

further interaction with the young person (108, 114). Victims may not support a restorative justice 

conference in part because “they don’t realise how powerful a conference is” and see it as a soft option 

(108). Equally, for some victims they don’t want to have further contact, and it may be sufficient for them 

to simply have their voice heard and their views fed back to the panel via the VLO, for example, “often 

they’ll say – I just want them to understand how they’ve hurt my child, and I don’t want them to do it 

Page 84



 

58 
 

again. So, I think that is often the restorative part for the victim” (114). Conferences can also be 

logistically difficult to organise, to get everyone around the table together, and involves considerable 

preparation work to assess risks and ensure that all parties are appropriately prepared (108, 114, 115). 

Four of the young people who were interviewed said that they had been asked to write a letter of 

apology to the victim(s) of their offence. Two of these young people had already done so, with one saying 

that they had found the process “really easy to be honest. I’m a nice person” (305). One young person 

couldn’t remember if they had in fact written the letter, and the final one said this aspect of the 

intervention seemed to have been forgotten about. Whilst they expressed regret for what they did, they 

were not keen to send a written apology to the victim because of a longer history of dispute and a 

perception of their own victimisation during that period:  

“I knew her, before this she’s always been horrible to me, for a few years before this; 

obviously, I was just lashing out, but I don’t know if I’d want her to read it, or anything, 

because I never really liked her anyway! That sounds so bad!” (308) 

A letter of apology can therefore be seen as an oversimplification of the complexity of some cases.  

Of the three victim interviews, the two who had been victimised in a more personal capacity (rather than 

the retail context) both discussed the value of letters of apology, however only one of them had received 

such a letter. The victim who had not received it had requested one, and felt that it was important in 

showing that the perpetrator had “learned the error of their ways” (203) so as to support the victim to 

move on. Having had no update, they were “left wondering” (203) whether this had been forgotten 

about (as described by the young person above), written but not shared with them, whether the young 

person had refused to write a letter or written a letter that was insincere or inappropriate for sharing, or 

whether a decision had been taken that this should not be required of the young person as part of their 

YRI. Where a victim has requested a letter, it is therefore crucial that they are kept updated about 

whether / when they are likely to receive this. 

For the victim who had received letters of apology from the young people responsible for the damage to 

their property, this appeared to be a valuable opportunity to learn more about the young people, their 

feelings about the offence, and their aspirations for the future.  This therefore seemed to contribute to 

greater confidence in the decision-making and outcomes: 

“Based on the letters from each of them, they seemed to have got their lives sorted out, 

and I wish them all the best, and I hope they do what they said they were going to do, and 

get their lives sorted, because it’s hard for kids if [they] have not come from a nice 

background; they’ve had a bad start to life, and I accept that it’s not their fault.” (202) 

The victim had not been given an opportunity to respond to the letters, but equally did not feel that they 

would have wanted to do so in any case, as the apology had put an end to matters. 

Reparation 

A key part of the restorative approach within JDP was seen to be reparation, “to see that they are giving 

something back, it’s acknowledging that they’ve done wrong” (106) and is an opportunity to repair the 

harm that has been caused to the victim and the community (112, 114). In some cases, this was seen as 

Page 85



 

59 
 

being quick and easy to organise so that the young person could make a link between their offence and 

the reparation activity: “You’re doing these six hours next weekend because of that" (102). 

Reparation can be direct or indirect, depending on what is appropriate in the context of that case. Direct 

reparation is seen as preferable where possible (108), particularly where it literally repairs the harm 

caused to the victim, e.g. repairing damage to property or gardening work (101). Some victims are keen 

for this to happen and the VLOs try to facilitate this where possible (114). Furthermore, there was also 

some discussion about how this direct reparation could be further used as an opportunity to facilitate a 

conversation between the young person and the victim (where appropriate and with risk assessments 

undertaken). This can be beneficial for the victim to see the young person as “just a young lad who’s 

done something daft” (108) and also for the young person in supporting the development of victim 

empathy and this preventing future offending. However, victim empathy work may need to be put in 

before the encounter and reparation activity in itself is unlikely to make a difference: “I think it’s got to 

be a whole package and I don’t think three hours of rep or a letter of apology alone can do that; I think 

it’s wrong, and I think it’s letting them down. I do think it’s got to be a bigger picture” (114). 

Direct reparation may not be appropriate for all types of offence or for young people with more complex 

needs (101). The majority of reparation activity is indirect and is making reparation to the wider 

community rather than the individual victim. This was described by the retail security victim that was 

interviewed as a form of “community payback” (201). This could be at the request of the victim, for 

example where the reparation contributes to a local project or charity the victim supports, which 

maintains the relevance of the reparation to the victim. Alternatively, it could be doing some work within 

the local community where the offence took place (101). For some young people who are very 

disengaged, it was described as unrealistic to assume that they are going to work well within a 

community setting without a lot of preliminary work being done with them first (108) so there are 

important questions about the timing of the reparation and this may be difficult to achieve within a three 

month YRI and provides added pressure on the reparations team to deliver within the time frame (108). 

The number of reparation hours allocated seemed to vary and did not always clearly relate to the severity 

of the offence, for example 10 hours reparation for malicious communication, compared to 2 hours for 

arson. Decisions about reparation were also made in different settings, with the JDP setting the hours in 

some cases, and then the case manager doing so in others. There may be scope for developing a clearer 

protocol on the allocation of reparation hours, in order to ensure proportionality alongside child first 

approaches to justice. 

There is the perception for some that generic reparation requirements can just become a formality, a 

‘tick box exercise’ (102, 114) to complete the intervention, rather than a meaningful activity with real 

benefits and genuinely restorative outcomes (102): “they were given three hours reparation; and I didn’t 

feel that did repair any harm; it didn’t do any work with the young people, and it certainly didn’t tell the 

victim that there’s justice there” (114). 

One participant identified some lack of clarity around what is delivered as reparation where the case is 

allocated to Early Help staff: “their interpretation of what reparation is, I’ve no idea! So it could be 

anything, I don’t know. I don’t see those outcomes” (108). Whilst it was acknowledged that there “may 

be some excellent pieces of work there” (108) the participant was also aware of activity that did not on 

the face of it appear to be reparative or restorative: “you said you are going to bake some cookies, but 

Page 86



 

60 
 

can you explain to me, where are we repairing?” (108). Some of this ambiguity may relate to the different 

interpretations of ‘restorative’ in the contexts of restorative justice and restorative practice, and these 

may to some extent align with the two arms of the Future4Me service, YOS and Early Help. However, 

activities such as baking can also provide opportunities to talk more informally, and can be an 

opportunity for victim awareness work for example. Flexibility of approach and responsiveness to the 

needs of the individual are important features of the service which support positive outcomes for young 

people. Closer integration of staff from the two arms of the service, so as to de-emphasise some of their 

more traditional rigid distinctions, may be of value in further developing this approach.  

Reparation and restorative work with victims appears to be more difficult where the victim is a 

commercial or retail organisation, and this may be due to the fact that it is a less personal form of 

victimisation, that the company can’t spare the staff time to get involved, or that it goes against company 

policy to do so. Use of a dedicated restorative justice organisation to deliver the ReStore programme in 

partnership with Shop Watch, on their behalf was a potentially useful way to overcome some of these 

challenges, and to help young people see the bigger picture around shop theft (105, 114). However, there 

still appear to have been some problems in engaging the representative of Shop Watch with the process 

and with communication difficulties (114). The retail victim interviewed described how they had been 

involved in restorative justice projects on a number of occasions, including both through the ReStore 

scheme, and also on a more informal community resolution basis with the local PCSO, working with the 

young people and their parents or carers to avoid formal processing. The aim was on “mentor[ing] kids to 

teach them how their behaviour is affecting people” (201). 

The Covid-19 pandemic posed a significant challenge to reparation opportunities organised by the 

Future4Me team as a result of both social distancing requirements and the redeployment of staff to 

pandemic responses, with reparation initially being withdrawn in most cases.  

“So at present we’ve essentially lost the ability to factor community reparation hours into 

any outcome. Our community rep team, a lot of them have been re-deployed. At present 

they are, it’s changing by the week, but certainly up to this point, they’ve not been able go 

out and deliver face to face community reparation out with young people.” (102) 

Flexibility was seen as key so as not to penalise young people for failing to undertake the necessary 

reparation hours where opportunities were not available: 

“if they’ve got 30 hours reparation, it doesn’t all have to be 30 hours face to face now; it 

might be 10 hours face to face, and the rest of the time, the young person’s taken it on 

their own initiative, or there’s some guidance, some help to complete tasks at home; but 

it’s making sure that we do it in a way that victims feel as though they are not getting away 

with whatever they’ve done; so it is kind of making sure that it is kind of robust, and ticking 

those boxes as well; so yeah, I think there’s…it’s opened up new avenues that I think were 

already kind of there, but it’s kind of forced out hands a little bit; in a good way.” (108) 

Where the offence was committed within the home environment, and where appropriate and the 

parents agreed, the young person could be asked to undertake reparation hours within the home, for 

example decorating jobs, painting the garage, mowing the lawn, or helping to feel trees, with the parents 

providing photographs to evidence the reparation has been completed (103, 108, 114). Reparation 

Page 87



 

61 
 

activities were also developed that could be completed at home, even though the reparation was being 

made to the victim or community beyond the family. Examples of this included: 

• Arranging flowers to be delivered to a care home where they engaged in ASB 

• Building and filling planters for the local railway station 

• Construction of a bird box for the victim  

• Building a bench for the residential children’s home in which they live 

Being more creative 

There were concerns that the restorative elements of the YRI were really limited to reparation. And that 

this was problematic because “restorative doesn’t mean reparation” (108). There was certainly an 

appetite for thinking more “creatively” (101, 108) about what might be possible as restorative activity, 

that might go beyond reparation as merely ‘unpaid work’, and support the young person’s engagement 

and aspirations too, as illustrated in this example: 

“we had a young lad that refused to do any reparation, that desperately wanted to be a 

boxer, and it was about how we be creative around telling him that actually we will do a 

boxing session with him, if he completed his reparation within a boxing club, by doing 

things like collecting up and washing up all the towels. You know can we be a bit 

more…and then we’ve got a child not only doing a restorative element of their order, or 

their intervention, but also giving that person the kind of…enhancing that person’s ability 

to divert themselves away from young behaviour.” (101) 

It was noted that it’s difficult to be creative in this way when you don’t have that thinking space within 

your work (101). There is evidence that the Covid-19 pandemic and lockdown may have not only created 

space for thinking but also necessitated more creativity in how restorative and reparative work might be 

undertaken. For example, for some young people who had caused damage to a model railway, and 

whose community reparation had been halted due to Covid, the victims requested that they use the 

reparation hours to build a model railway of their own, in order to better understand the harm they had 

caused and the impact on the victims (112, 114). This activity emphasises the restorative elements over 

and above reparation. 

There was also discussion of how the allocated worker could play more of a role within that restorative 

activity, rather than passing it over to the reparations team, with evidence of good practice described by 

one of the YOS officers working in partnership with the VLO:  

“I believe in joint work. So if I’ve got a good idea about something, and the restorative bit, I 

try to implement in every order I deal with; not only my advice. It’s always…the best pieces 

of work we’ve had, we’ve done in liaison with the victim liaison officers. They do their bit. I 

do my bit, and hopefully we can come together, and achieve something for both parties; 

because victims should be the focus of YOS; well one of them; but equally the victim 

should then understand a bit about what’s happened to these young people. So many of 

them have so much happening in their lives, and on many occasions, it’s not good stuff.” 

(115) 

 

Page 88



 

62 
 

4.3. Supporting Young People to Reach their Potential 
 

Between prevention and intervention 
 

One issue emerging from the interviews was the fact that the Lincolnshire YOS had previously had a 

youth crime prevention service, to step in early and support young people ‘at risk’ of offending. In the 

absence of such a pre-offence prevention service, JDP offers an opportunity to deliver interventions to 

young people at the earliest stage, when they are “on the cusp of criminality or anti-social behaviour” 

(106) and therefore was seen by some of the participants as “bordering between prevention and 

intervention” (101). This is particularly so for the youngest children they work with, for example: “this 

was like an 11 year old boy; had no formal experience of the criminal justice system. So it was really 

difficult from my perspective because I had to kind of look at it as a ‘preventiony’ kind of case” (112). As 

part of the non-escalatory model, the service may need to consider the extent of the prevention offer for 

young people prior to their first offence. However, this may best be delivered through a partner agency 

and wider youth service provision, that is not directly connected to youth justice to avoid net-widening 

effects and protect the rights of children. 

Early intervention is advocated in order to steer a young person in the right direction (111), to avoid the 

escalation of behaviour, before it “becomes out of hand” (107). It is also seen as a valuable opportunity 

to ensure a child’s needs are being met (101), and to identify risk of exploitation and “get a grip of it 

earlier” (114), rather than picking it up further down the line. The participants described the focus of JDP 

as going beyond the offending behaviour to “change somebody’s life” (114), “get their lives in order” 

(113) and get them “back on track again”. Some of this was simply about educating young people (111), 

through providing information to help them stay safe (107), helping them to understand their actions and 

their consequences (111), and looking at alternative decision-making strategies (106). It therefore 

provides an opportunity to “make a difference” (114) and was described by three participants as giving 

young people “a chance” (110, 114, 115, 116). 

The young people interviewed, described these kinds of education and information elements of their 

intervention package, in terms of the completion of worksheets, for example: 

“they decided for me that I should complete 4 written tasks. Which were aimed for me to 

see what could have happened due to my actions, reflect on my group of friends and do 

they influence me, consider the effects on local community, my family and the other 

person’s family.” (301) 

The young people talked about how they better understood how and why the incident happened, the 

impact on other people (305, 308), and how to avoid this happening in future because it “makes you 

think twice before…and you put yourself in different situations, and you think before you do it” (308). 

 

 

Page 89



 

63 
 

Preventing criminalisation of the young person 
 

One of the most important elements of the JDP that came through in almost all of the interviews was the 

fact that it avoids the criminalisation of young people. This was described as the “guiding principal” (101), 

and the development of JDP was identified as a response to the “high level of young people going to 

court for quite minor offences” (112) and the increasing number of FTEs within the county (102, 103, 

115).  

In the immediate short term this was described by two participants as important to avoid subjecting the 

young person to the traumatic experience of attending court: “you know, it is very difficult to have a child 

go through a court case and have to stand up in court. Sometimes I think that does lasting damage to a 

child” (101). By diverting them and avoiding court, it was seen as having “a big impact on the young 

person’s emotional wellbeing, if they don’t have to experience that process unnecessarily” (112).  

For the young people interviewed, one of the most important elements of the JDP/YRI process was the 

fact that it had enabled them to avoid engagement with the formal criminal justice system. Two of the 

young people talked about the anxiety that they had felt around the prospect of going to court and their 

relief at hearing they were not required to do so, as one young person said, “when I heard that, I calmed 

down a little” (303). The intervention was described as “less stressful than going to court, going through 

all that” (305). For one young person, they associated court with custodial sentencing, which added to 

their concerns, and they saw the advantage of JDP being that “you don’t go to jail” (301). The fact that 

JDP prevented the delays of waiting for a court hearing was also seen as important, so that they could 

move forward and put these events behind them: 

“For me it about 1-2 weeks, and personally for me it was real quick, because I wanted to 

finish it as fast as I could and forget about it.” (301) 

Five of the six young people interviewed felt that the decision was made fairly quickly and they had not 

had to wait too long. However, for the young person who had a longer wait for their JDP hearing 

(described as a few months), this was a difficult waiting period:  

“I was actually very nervous, because I didn’t know what was going to happen, and I was 

worried that I might be put to court.” (304) 

For most of the professional participants at the heart of this desire to avoid criminalisation was the 

recognition of the long-term impact of the criminalisation process “because it can affect their whole life, 

can’t it” (111). There was an awareness that for many young people they had simply made a “silly 

mistake” (111) and would be unlikely to offend again regardless of outcome (102) but needed the 

opportunity to put things right. 

The core concern was therefore to prevent the longer-term impact of labelling as a result of the criminal 

record (102) because “once somebody already has a criminal record, even though some of them are kind 

of quashed at 18, it’s still that idea that they’ve been through that process and there is still an element of 

labelling; there may be further impacts of being excluded from school” (101). The impact on their career 

was also seen as important: “Getting a job, earning, it’s going to defer them working in certain types of 

careers” (109). This is especially pertinent for certain offences where the name of the offence might be 

Page 90



 

64 
 

perceived as particularly serious, even where the specific incident might have been lower level, e.g. 

burglary (111) or sexual offences (101). The impact of diverting these is therefore significant. 

For one participant who worked with both children and adults, they could see the long term impacts 

clearly: “You know, I’ve worked with numerous kind of adults as well, who have ended up with criminal 

records, as young people, and that criminal record still follows hem, although often convictions are spent, 

that criminal record can follow that person, throughout life, and put obstacles in their way.” (107) 

One of the most problematic aspects of the criminalisation of young people was seen to be where this 

accrual of a criminal record was not accompanied by any intervention or support, notably in the form of 

the Youth Caution (102, 103, 106, 113, 114):  

“sometimes they’d have just a caution for an offence; so equally, they could go out and 

commit the same offence again, and there’d be no level of work or erm, not necessarily 

just intervention, somebody working with the young person to find out what else is going 

on in their life. It could be that Early Help is needed to try and put things right, for that 

young person.” (114) 

The JDP was seen as an explicit attempt therefore to replace the Youth Caution with a more appropriate 

form of community resolution that could addresses young people’s behaviours and their underlying 

causes.  

One of the young people interviewed discussed how JDP had de-escalated their outcome to a YRI rather 

than a caution: “I was meant to get a caution, and then it got brought down…I can’t even remember what 

it was, one below a caution. That’s what the panel decided, I think” (308). She clearly understood the 

implications of that and why it might be beneficial to her in the future: 

“I think she said [the caution] stays on [your record] for five years, till I’m 18, so obviously 

mum was quite worried, because obviously the assault and everything, but she got it 

brought down, and that’s it, so now there’s nothing like that; so if there’s anything in the 

future that I want to do, I won’t be able to not do it” (308) 

This justification for non-criminalisation was also therefore underpinned by emphasis on the welfare of 

the child: “I mean the whole Youth Court is the welfare of the child; and not to criminalise. That’s what 

we are thinking about, every time we do anything. Every sentence we are considering, it’s always the 

welfare of the child” (109). 

 

Supporting aspirations 
 

There is evidence that the JDP work to support young people’s aspirations, and this starts at the point of 

assessment: 

“When we’re considering assessments, that’s a really thorough assessment, in terms of 

you know, it’s not just looking at the offence, it’s looking at what that kind of support work 

is, what that aspiration for that young person is, and whether we can support that." (103) 

Page 91



 

65 
 

Two participants (112, 115) focused on the way that supporting young people’s aspirations was 

embedded in their short period of intervention, through supporting their education, developing life-skills 

and networks, building their self-esteem, and believing in them to improve their confidence: “So it’s… 

about prioritising what the needs are and trying to help as much as you can within that short space in 

time” (112).  

The interventions focused on education, training and careers, for example through support for college 

applications, building a portfolio or CV, providing a mock job interview, and building their network of 

support (106, 112, 115). More than that, however, it was seen as being about the need to help the young 

person to think about what kind of person they want to be, support them to see that they have more 

options open to them, and empower them to make positive choices about their life: 

“So all the time, it is around trying to look at, their aspirations, and for them to achieve 

positive outcomes as they can do; because what we are wanting them to do, is we’re not 

just wanting them to not engage in criminal activity, we want them to have the best 

chance they possibly can in life” (106) 

There was an emphasis on a strengths-based approach to find out what the young person enjoys and 

what their talents are, because: “I’ve never met somebody that don’t have potential for something” 

(115). One of the participants, whilst agreeing with the sentiment, was less confident that this was an 

effective element of JDP:  

“Is this process, the JDP, giving that child, that young person a greater sense of self-worth 

and recognition of what they can achieve? Why it might be worth the while doing 

something different with their lives? Some, yeah; but how many I don’t know.” (116) 

It was seen as important by some to give young people new opportunities that may not have been open 

to them previously, and to refer them into positive activity which does not form part of the formal 

offence outcome. The development of the Future4Me service with its Communities and Interventions 

team supports this by bringing together in a single hub a range of positive activity opportunities, 

including Positive Futures sports outreach, and education mentors, with ‘match meeting’ opportunities to 

connect young people with the right services and provide positive role modelling opportunities (103). 

“what we are trying to do is look at how that young person might turn a corner, might 

change their behaviour, might make different decisions, might engage in a more positive 

peer groups; or whatever, because that actually, their choices going forward will be more 

positive, and so the opportunities they have access to, are greater.” (106) 

Five of the young people interviewed described how they had received support for their aspirations, and 

were looking towards the future in a positive way. They identified that they had been supported to 

access college courses (301, 305), to find an apprenticeship (304) and they could see how getting into 

further trouble with the police would impact their hopes and aspirations for the future: “Well, I think I’ll 

have a good life without any crime anymore. And I’ll just have a happy life” (304). Another young person 

described a feeling of optimism for the future “because she made me see a bit more clearly” (305). 

 

Page 92



 

66 
 

Vulnerable young people are supported 
 

The development of the JDP as an alternative decision-making forum has enabled more detailed 

consideration of vulnerability in young people that come to the attention of the police, in order to offer 

them appropriate support: “that’s something that we are really mindful of” (103). 

Looked After Children 

Looked After Children, in particular those whose offences take place within residential homes, were 

identified by the interview participants (103, 109, 110, 12. 113, 114) as a group who have benefited from 

the panel, as they see “quite a lot of people come through JDP that are looked after” (103). By looking in 

detail at the circumstances of the offence, this has brought to attention the fact that the protocol in place 

to prevent the unnecessary criminalisation of LAC is not always being followed, and raised questions 

about the suitability of the behaviour management policies and practices within the residential homes in 

the county.  

“we’ve got some single point of contacts within the police for the care homes; so I think we 

should need to look at what support we are potentially offering the care homes, in terms 

of, are we confident about their behaviour management policy? What do they do when 

new bank staff comes in? How are those messages reiterated in terms of what safety plans 

can be in place before they need to even call the police; I’m not saying for them not to call 

the police; it just for me just seems that…more so than young people that aren’t LAC, we 

get criminal damage for the LAC.” (103) 

This in part is because of the fact that the ‘victim’ in these cases is the residential home or other 

accommodation provider, and they therefore have an interest in pursuing a case against the young 

person (103) and the victim liaison officer has a role to play in managing this tension. However, it was 

also noted by one of the participants that staff within these settings are not always best suited to the job 

of working with such vulnerable children (114), and there is scope for wider support by JDP to help the 

providers understanding of the processes and the impact on children (103). Improving the visibility of the 

protocol with accommodation providers may ensure it is applied correctly and consequently have the 

potential to prevent cases coming to JDP. 

One of the Youth Court magistrates was clear that “We don’t think it’s necessarily their place to come to 

court, definitely” and was therefore supportive of out of court resolutions that avoid criminalisation, but 

equally wasn’t entirely sure that JDP was the right forum either, doubts echoed by other participants. 

These are behaviours that would be dealt with informally within a family home environment, often 

involving kicking doors or breaking things as a result of anger and frustration. One of the roles of JDP has 

therefore been to reflect upon whether this case should have been dealt with within the residential 

home, in line with the protocol, and how appropriate it was to call the police out to deal with it. There 

were also questions raised about what kind of intervention JDP could put in place for a LAC that should 

not already be there for them in view of their looked after status (106). 

It is worth noting that these concerns about the appropriateness of a JDP outcome were echoed in one of 

the interviews in relation to a young person on a Child Protection Order but who remained within the 

family home, asking, “how do we best support him; because actually, kind of, this route doesn’t feel…this 

Page 93



 

67 
 

route doesn’t feel appropriate, to kind of give this person an order that we complete through the JDP” 

(101). The value of JDP is that it at least provides a forum for these questions to be raised, in a way that 

was not possible when these decisions were police led. 

No Further Action 

For these cases that come to JDP involving a looked after child whose offending behaviours were within 

the residential home, and the panel feel that the protocol was not adhered to, they have the power to 

make a No Further Action (NFA) decision. This outcome appears to be used rarely but predominantly for 

younger children (114) and LAC cases (103, 106, 113) where there seemed to be little action that could be 

taken further than what was already in place, (106) and it was seen as not being in the public interest to 

pursue the case (113). One of the Police Sergeants interviewed did express some concerns regarding the 

procedural inconsistency in allowing JDP to make an NFA decision on public interest grounds, as policy 

within Lincolnshire Police is that this would usually need the consent of a Police Inspector: “I do think that 

undermines the responsibility of the supervision that’s already in place”.  

Some questions were also raised about the recording of NFA decisions on the police database without an 

adequate explanation for why that decision as taken, as NFA outcomes can still be used in future 

assessments and are included in the information brought to the JDP (113). It needs to be remembered 

therefore that this is not an entirely benign outcome which raises two points for consideration. Firstly, it 

is crucial that the residential homes and Lincolnshire police follow the protocol to prevent the 

criminalisation of LAC, in order to avoid JDP having to take NFA decisions at all. JDP have a role to play in 

holding accommodation providers to account for incidents that have not followed policy, but also 

supporting them to understand the processes more fully (103). Secondly, where JDP do make a NFA 

decision, a full explanation of that needs to be provided to prevent ambiguous police jargon being 

misconstrued at a later date. 

Exploitation and safeguarding 

JDP play an important role in preventing and tackling child exploitation, because of the wide-ranging 

information they receive about each young person even before they have received a court outcome: “it is 

really an opportunity to find out what’s going on with that person, and try and get in there and make a 

difference. You know, not just to stop them reoffending, but stop them becoming victims of exploitation” 

(114). Whereas initially, the panel might have relied upon information from other agencies to highlight to 

JDP any concerns around exploitation, there was a growing recognition that the panel might in fact be 

best placed to identify exploitation: “so we are relying on being told whether this person’s a concern in 

terms of child exploitation, if that’s something that need to be considered… but actually there’s those bits 

that we might be the people that identify; or we should be at least looking out for those indicators” (103). 

This may require further training for panel members in understanding indicators of exploitation and new 

processes to ensure this is considered “in a more analytical way” in each case (103). 

The key partner agency which referrals are made to for substance misuse is We Are With You and they 

share a clear emphasis on safeguarding. All staff at WAWY are fully trained in safeguarding and in using 

child exploitation screening tools. They complete safeguarding referrals if they have concerns regarding 

child exploitation, and will share intelligence about child exploitation with the police. They are also 

represented on the multi-agency child exploitation meetings alongside the Future 4 Me team, providing 

Page 94



 

68 
 

effective information sharing and partnership working to tackle the exploitation of young people (107). A 

simple Tier 1 YRI which involves a referral only, therefore still provides safeguarding opportunities for 

vulnerable young people. 

For one of the participants, there was a clear concern that young people had to be caught up within the 

criminal justice system in order for their safeguarding interests to be monitored, and that this led to a 

perverse situation that those children outside the system were also out of sight of services and therefore 

open to exploitation or neglect: “when they are out of the system, they are out of the system” (116). 

However, there is evidence that the introduction of JDP has allowed for new opportunities to identify, 

assess, and support children without subjecting them to formal criminal justice processing. The panel has 

a strong emphasis on keeping children safe at all levels (106) and escalating safeguarding concerns to the 

relevant agencies (108), although there is an acknowledgement that it is easier to pick up the critical, high 

level cases than to identify lower-level safeguarding concerns (102). Future4Me staff working to deliver 

YRI interventions also focus on safeguarding work, producing safety plans in the same way that they 

would for their statutory caseload (112). The development of ‘trauma-informed’ thinking and practice 

within Lincolnshire Children’s Services and the Future4Me team is also noted as an important response to 

these vulnerable young people (101, 103, 105), who are often ‘victims’ in their own right (116). 

Three of the young people interviewed discussed the ways that they felt that the interventions received 

had helped them to stay safe. These included building self-esteem, healthy relationships and staying safe 

online (308), preventing further bullying (304), thinking before you act (305, 308) and how to avoid 

dangerous situations, as this young person explains: 

“She just made me understand like, who to hang around with, who not to hang around 

with. What dangers to put myself into, what dangers not to put myself into. Like when I 

went into town, she told me what dangers there were out there; keep myself out of 

them. Because I used to hang out with drug dealers, and people that used to fight; and I 

got myself into so much trouble.” (305) 

Assessment and support 

There is a robust assessment process in place for those young people who are given a YRI and opened to 

the service, which focuses not only on the offence, but also what support is required, and the aspirations 

of the young person (103). This is a bespoke, locally produced assessment form, rather than the Youth 

Justice Board’s AssetPlus which was used for statutory cases. This assessment is seen as being more 

family focused as it is undertaken with the young person’s family and they are asked sign the assessment 

and agree to the work: “it was obviously a lot shorter than Asset. So I’d write it up, take it to the family, 

they’d read it, and then they’d sign it if they were happy with it; and then just annotate any comments 

that they had” (112). 

Understanding young people’s behaviour in order to put the offence in context was seen as crucial within 

both the informal assessments at JDP and the more rigorous assessment process, to “get to the crux of 

the matter” (106), avoid making your own assumptions about the behaviours (105), and to arrive at the 

best solution for the young person (116). The young person’s actions were often seen as the result of 

something else that was happening in their life (103), for example as this professional described, “they 

might have gone out, they might have got drunk, and they might of kind of, you know, kicked somebody’s 

Page 95



 

69 
 

fence; whatever it is, but actually Mum might have died yesterday; and actually that…it’s about the 

context as well, I think is important; and I think we get that, it’s one of the strengths through the JDP” 

(106). 

JDP and the allocated YRI workers in the Future4Me team look to identify additional and unmet needs 

(102), and to put appropriate support in place (102). This can include early help within the home (114), 

supporting the family and building stronger family relationships (101, 102), education mentors for young 

people who are NEET (102), issues around inter-personal relationships (101), or addressing needs around 

their medical conditions (106). These can be seen as preventative strategies that seek to address their 

needs whilst “not allowing them to fester” (101). 

It is worth noting concern from one participant about the potential impact of conducting an AIM 

assessment, because simply having been assessed for harmful sexual behaviours in this way can sit on the 

young person’s records and “mar him for the rest of their life”. In one case discussed, this could have had 

particular ramifications for the young person given his other vulnerabilities and needs, and the housing 

and special placements he will require in the future. JDP, through being able to have this discussion and 

hear from the professional advocating on his behalf, were able to take the decision not to complete the 

assessment and thereby support this young person’s future. 

 

4.4. Stakeholder Confidence in the Process 
 

Professional Understanding of JDP 
 

There is evidence that confidence in the process has grown as the JDP panel has bedded in and 

developed. At the outset there was a lack of understanding with other agencies, and there was therefore 

a need for further training (115). A number of respondents reported that early in the introduction of the 

JDP process, there was a lack of understanding by solicitors in particular, which impacted upon their 

ability to advise the young person they were representing. They often recommended a no comment 

response, which prevented the case being referred to JDP. However, this has improved as JDP has 

bedded in and there is much better knowledge and awareness amongst the legal profession: “solicitors 

are definitely more on board…so we’ve definitely seen a big decline in no comment interviews” (102). 

At the time that the interviews were being undertaken, 6 out of the 15 professional respondents did not 

feel that they had a full understanding of the JDP process, including who was involved in decision making, 

how those decisions were arrived at, or what principles were considered. These included staff working 

within the YOS, youth court magistrates, and representatives of partner organisations into which young 

people might be referred for interventions. There was a perception of a siloed approach where “we’ve 

got all these separate agencies, and they are all so…well we are not encouraged to really get together 

and liaise… We sort of, you know, are in our own little tunnel, if you like; just in our own little bit; not 

fully understanding the other side of what happened” (109 JP). 

They felt it would be useful to be provided with more information on JDP and the opportunity to attend a 

panel as an observer: “I’ve never attended one … probably we should all attend one, you know, to know 

Page 96



 

70 
 

what happens.” (115 YOS). There is evidence that some attempts were being made to provide more 

information and training; the magistrates in particular were expecting this to take place soon. However, 

in terms of the opportunity to attend the panel, there seemed to be some logistical challenges in 

achieving that: “I’ve never even been to a panel. You know, when they first set up, we were invited along, 

and it was one of those things that we could never quite sort of coordinate the dates, and then it sort of 

disappeared into the ether” (105 Partner). The follow up interviews in response to the Covid-19 

pandemic suggest that the move to video conferencing has actually facilitated this happening for some 

people, overcoming logistical barriers to attending (103, 109). It was also noted that schools were not 

initially aware of JDP, but the police have been involved in providing information  and talks to teachers to 

explain the new processes and support understanding (111).  

 

Public attitudes to Youth Justice 
 

“I don’t think it’s about soft or hard options, I think it’s about what’s proportionate, and 

what’s going to make a difference and an impact; and I don’t believe it’s a soft option for a 

young person to have to do rep hours, or to have intervention that they’ve not necessarily 

asked for before.” (103 JDP) 

There is an awareness of the potential tensions between the historically dominant political and criminal 

justice agendas that guide youth justice services, and the more recent movement towards more child first 

approaches. There are challenges in developing responses that meet public and victim expectations 

around proportionality, retribution and deterrence, whilst also acting in the best interests of the child 

with a longer view on supporting their development towards adulthood. One of the interview 

participants described having to “negotiate between the kind of trauma informed and child first and 

holistic developmental needs of a child, and the kind of societal pressures of criminal justice, and what’s 

expected.” (101 YOS) 

Five of the professionals interviewed referred to JDP, the YRI and even the change of name from YOS to 

F4M as being perceived as somehow ‘soft’ or ‘lightweight’, by the police, YOS staff, victims, and even 

sometimes by the young person and their family. They shared some concerns about the perceived 

credibility of the service, including from within partner services, including the police and accommodation 

providers, and the criticism that the focus on the young person has led to a lack of support for victims.  

However, the YOS staff were quick to refute such claims and to assert the robustness of the response. 

This has included building relationships, and clarifying the alternative interventions attached to the 

disposal. There is also evidence that such concerns from partner agencies have reduced as the service has 

bedded in, especially from the police (see section 5.3). But more work may be needed to share more 

widely the success stories and positive data around outcomes and interventions. 

 

 

 

Page 97



 

71 
 

Police Engagement with JDP 
 

The interview participants reported that when JDP was first introduced, there was some lack of 

understanding and engagement from within the police. This resulted in officers sending cases through to 

court when they could have been heard at JDP and even for those cases coming to JDP, there was a 

tendency to recommend caution or charge without suggesting YRI, as one of the Police Sergeants 

described:  

“I think when it first came in, we have to put a recommendation on what’s going to 

happen: probably caution, charge or whatever, but now I know there’s things like the 

Status Program, and there’s other things we can do, then my officers, we will discuss what 

the best outcome is, and recommend those things; whereas at the beginning, we didn’t: it 

would be like the old fashioned way of caution, charge; and not knowing.” (111 PS)  

There was an emphasis on escalatory approaches based on the ‘offending ladder’ and community 

resolutions were considered to be very low level, with some confusion around the language of 

community resolution and what that might include:  

“I think early days, we were probably fighting against a lack of understanding from police 

officers then when they heard the term Community Resolution, that was a very fixed 

image of a very simplistic outcome; but actually, now, what we are saying is actually, you 

know, we could send a young person to court and give them a three month order. It’s 

going to look exactly the same. The work’s is going to be the same” (102 JDP) 

There were also concerns from one of the participants that in some cases, young people were coming 

through who had admitted guilt, but there was not enough evidence to criminally convict them (101). 

However, the panel members described how the willingness of the police to overcome these issues and 

make the JDP work was always there, and could be seen both from the commitment of senior managers 

and sergeants engaged in decision making at panel (103). This has strengthened as the process has 

become further embedded, and the outcomes have become more evident, so that the officer in charge 

has more confidence in the process (102, 103), as described by this Sergeant who had witnessed these 

shifting police attitudes:  

“I think at first, we were all a bit, police side, was that – Oh, it’s a bit wishy-washy. But I 

think the more that you see, it does work, and it’s definitely worth, you know, I think kids 

should be given a chance really, and you know, that opportunity.” (111)  

One panel member described a change towards a more ‘realistic’ approach, and improved police 

understanding that ‘throwing the book at them’ doesn’t necessarily reap (106 JDP EH). Indeed, 

confidence in the JDP and YRI has now reached levels where some officers are referring to JDP even 

where a community resolution could be given by the police.  

 “a lot of police officers now; they’ll send them to us just to check. So we weren’t getting 

them in our door to start with, now we are getting the ones even when we have given 

them the freedom to give them the CR. But that’s nice.” (102 JDP)  

Page 98



 

72 
 

Therefore, whilst early on after the introduction of JDP there was a desire to move away from 

problematic police discretion in decision making, due to the use of Youth Cautions In particular, now 

there are some attempts to reassert the value of discretion in appropriate cases, and to feed back about 

the quality of decision making so as to empower officers to take those decisions themselves without 

feeling they need to have them double checked and approved. This also prevents delays where JDP 

would give a police led community resolution in any case. 

There is evidence that JDP has enabled more effective multi-agency working focused on the child: “So I 

think from a police point of view…we used to do a lot of silo work, and it’s changing massively now, and 

quite rightly that, you know, we deal with a child and that’s it: job done.” (113 PS) and as a result the 

thinking of everyone on the panel has developed along more of a holistic, trauma informed approach 

(101). 

There were at the time of interviewing still some cases going to court which should not have done so, and 

some residual issues around officer recommendations reflecting an enforcement attitude, but that this 

was part of a process of “winning police officers over one at a time, as we were dealing with them” (102). 

The participants highlighted the need for the Sergeants who sit on the panel to ensure they feed down 

their understanding to police constables, response officers and PCSOs (111), so that the officers have a 

good awareness not just of the JDP panel itself, but also the interventions delivered and the wider work 

of the Future4Me team (113, 114). According to one of the Sergeants:  

“I don’t know an awful lot about what goes into the packages; that’s something that would 

probably be quite useful, really, having that; because we get, on the table, you’ve got the 

tiered outcomes for the Community Resolution, but it would be quite useful to have that; 

like a document to say this is what could be put in place. So I think that would be quite 

useful.” (113) 

Nonetheless the respondents discussed the considerable journey that the police went on to facilitate 

such changes in their practices, identifying not just the scale of the change, but also the speed and 

smoothness with which this had happened (106), which was in part attributed to the strong leadership 

and involvement of the police at a high level in developing the approach. 

 

Young People’s Confidence in the Process 
 

The young people interviewed found it difficult to express what they thought the purpose of JDP might 

be. They were aware that they made the decision but not how the panel might be different from court, 

other than them not having to attend. One young person when asked what they knew about JDP simply 

replied “I don’t know what it is” (303), and another said, “I know what it is, but I don’t know what it 

means” (304). They had little understanding of how decisions were made, what kinds of people might be 

involved in making them, or what might be discussed about their lives at panel, although they were 

sometimes happy to speculate, for example: 

Page 99



 

73 
 

“I have no clue, but if I had to guess I would suppose it depends. If it is not a major instance 

they may not need a extreme action to help the person, but if it was a major crime and 

they believe the person can change that’s then they decide.” (301) 

“they try to assess whether they are going to commit another crime again, I do believe, 

and if there is a high chance that they will, they will go to court. But if there is a medium or 

low chance, then they have a chance to get the intervention.” (304)  

They also tended to conflate the different elements, including the decision-making panel, the assessment 

process, and the intervention delivered by their allocated worker. One young person was under the 

impression that their worker sat on the JDP panel and made the decision not to send them to court, 

whilst another thought that the panel decide what should happen after the receive the plan from the 

allocated worker. 

However, they were mostly satisfied with the outcome from the panel. Five of the six young people 

responded to the question about whether they felt the outcome was fair, with four of them agreeing that 

it was fair. Just one young person disagreed:   

“I felt the outcome was not fair but was not fully disappointed because it did not involve 

the court” (301) 

For this young person, they did not perceive it as fair because they felt that they were “only acting in self-

defence” (301) and yet received the same outcome as everyone else involved in the incident. However, 

they still acknowledged that the intervention had helped them to see what could have happened and the 

effects on other people. With the benefit of hindsight, some of the young people at the end of their 

intervention were able to see its value more clearly: 

“I think it’s worked better because I think I’ve understood like different things… [it’s been] 

helpful and supportive. Obviously, it’s taken out my time, and I’ve got to do it, but it’s been 

helpful.” (308) 

“I don’t think I need any more help currently. She did an amazing job with what she had to 

do… and she really did help.” (304)  

The young people’s confidence in the process is perhaps best illustrated in their advice to other young 

people: 

“I would tell them they are really lucky; it may seem boring or involve many tasks but it is 

much better than ending up with a criminal record and getting fined which would not help 

their family. My advice would be to do what they say and reflect on what they did, because 

if they do not change they will ruin their future” (301) 

“I would tell them that all of the people there will be nice and helping you get through 

what’s happened.” (304) 

“[I would tell them] to listen. Because people that are in trouble think they are like big and 

hard. They don’t want to listen to anyone. But listen. The way isn’t going to court. Listen.” 

(305) 

Page 100



 

74 
 

“[I would tell them] that it is beneficial, and don’t try to act like you don’t need it, or that 

you're too cool for it; and it’s not as bad as it sounds; and it works.” (308) 

 

Victim Confidence in the Process 
 

For all three of the victims interviewed, there was limited understanding of what JDP is, who sits on the 

panel, and how decisions are made, although one of the participants did identify that there are multi-

agency professionals sitting on the panel (203). Whilst the retail victim showed some support for the 

introduction of JDP in principle, describing its aims as “very noble”, they felt that knowing more about 

how decisions were being made at JDP could potentially change the way they think about the numerous 

cases they had involvement with (201).  

One of the victims who had a less clear understanding of the panel make up and process had 

consequently started to speculate about this and built their own narrative about why JDP might have 

been created: 

“I don’t know anything about the panel; nobody has explained how it works, who’s on the 

panel. Are they ex police officers? Are they probation officers? I haven’t got a clue. Nobody 

told me anything about the panel. And that’s the disappointing thing; not knowing about it 

at all.” (202) 

“I think it must be either trying to save on money, and at the same time, it’s employing 

somebody to sit on panels. I don’t know if these people get paid to sit on panels? What 

kind of people sit on panels? Tell me that.” (202) 

There is a clear danger where victims have not received sufficient explanation about the panel, that they 

might fill in the gaps themselves, and there is therefore a potential opportunity to improve victim 

confidence in the process by providing more detailed information to them about it.  

The retail victim described the high volume of incidents they had dealt with for their employers, saying 

“I’ve probably had the best part of a hundred cases go through JDP” (201). As a consequence, they 

characterised JDP as an “always refer service” (201) and that the only outcome they had experienced was 

the Youth Restorative Intervention. 

For this victim, when they were subject to a personal assault in the course of their employment, they felt 

that they did not receive the same support because of the employment context:  

“as soon as you have the security tag onto it, people see it in a different light: as if it’s more 

part of the job then actually dealing with it as a victim; so normally the level of support you 

get as somebody in security, than a general person, will be very different.” (201)  

There was a lack of satisfaction and confidence in the police identified by all of the victims who shared 

their experiences, with the most explicit expression of this here: “I don’t have any confidence in any of 

them. There was only one police officer that came round, and that was the last police officer; he was 

decent.” (203). 

Page 101



 

75 
 

One of the victims received a letter from the police explaining the outcome which was phrased in such a 

way to make assumptions about victim punitiveness and their likely response to the outcome, and to 

distance the police from the decision-making (in spite of police representation at panel): “this is probably 

not the result that you are hoping for. The decision was decided by the JDP, not by the police”. This 

framing of the outcome seems to be unhelpful in promoting victim confidence and it would be more 

beneficial to help the victim understand how that decision had been arrived at. In fact, this individual was 

more disappointed by the delay and lack of communication, rather than about the outcome of the panel 

itself. 

There was a perception amongst the victims interviewed that JDP and the YRI outcome was more lenient 

than court, with one saying that “JDP do like to ‘baby’ people” (201) and the other: “I don’t know because 

I’ve never been told any of the outcomes, but I do feel, that it’s all about restorative and – Poor little 

angels. Just give them a course, you know?” (203). They expressed the need for more emphasis on 

punishment to reflect the harm caused (203) and the risk to the public (201). However, these perceptions 

lack appreciation for the fact that there is little by way of punishment that could be meted out by a court 

in a Referral Order that could not be integrated into a YRI, as unpaid work/reparation is the core element 

of both. There was also some anger expressed when the young person responsible repeated the 

behaviour but did not appear to have been escalated to court so it felt like they had “got away with it” 

(203). The victims certainly tended to have more confidence in the use of JDP and the YRI outcome for 

younger people and first time offences, but had alongside this an expectation of a tiered or escalatory 

approach for future or more serious behaviours: “there has to be a point where you draw the line, and 

unfortunately, we’ve not experienced that line ever been drawn, when it’s come to JDP” (201). 

Whilst the retail security victim described having had very little contact with the VLO, for one of the other 

victims interviewed, the VLO contact had been experienced as a supportive process, with the VLO in this 

case being described as having “done an immense job- I can’t fault her” (203). In this case, the VLO 

seemed to have opened good channels of communication with the victim, who noted with confidence 

that “if I was to text her to ring me, she will ring me” (203). However they explained that receiving 

communication from both the police and VLO was confusing, with conflicting information offered from 

each. They called for the VLO to act as a single point of contact to provide greater continuity, because 

“emotions are high as it is” (203). Another issue raised by this was the need for more effective multi-

agency support processes, including establishing a Team Around the Child response for young victims 

(203). 

Two of the victims interviewed explained how they felt about the fact that the young people responsible 

for the offences against them remained in their local area (in both cases living in the same small villages 

as the perpetrators), with fears that further offences might be committed against them. There was a 

sense of powerlessness to take action to prevent this, with one of the victims saying, “whatever I do, I’m 

wrong; that’s my opinion” (202) and that the police didn’t seem concerned or take it seriously, even 

where the victimisation was ongoing (203). One of the participants also noted that they would have liked 

the young person responsible for the offence to have to read (or be read) their victim impact statement 

so that they understood the harm they had caused. They were not aware of whether that had happened. 

The victim interviews therefore highlighted the need for increased support, because “nobody actually 

champions the victim within the process” (201). 

Page 102



 

76 
 

4.5. What Does This Tell Us? 
 

 JDP has improved consistency in decision-making: the panel balance a range of principles and concerns 

in their decision making, reflecting a problem-solving approach, and justifying the outcome. 

JDP is explicitly non-escalatory and prevents the criminalisation of children: successfully implemented 

as the primary response to young people’s offending and is not limited to first time or low-level offences. 

JDP takes a holistic and evidence-informed approach: it sees the full context of the child’s life, rather 

than the narrow view of the offence only that the previous police led decisions were based in.  

JDP has strengthened multi-agency approaches to supporting young people: including effective 

information sharing procedures, and improved understanding of other services. 

JDP has led changes in organisational thinking and culture: police, courts and the legal profession have 

followed this lead and developed new ways of working as their understanding of JDP has grown. 

There are robust assessment processes in place: these consider safety and wellbeing issues as well as 

offence analysis. 

YRI increases the range of disposals available: it provides an opportunity for the delivery of interventions 

which largely mirror the RO, but without charge to court. 

YRI puts together a package of support: offence focused work is embedded within a wider multi-agency 

intervention package to address the needs of the young person, and support aspirations. 

YRI includes restorative justice approaches: some elements of restorative justice are included, e.g. 

apology and reparation, but are not required of the young person solely upon the request of the victim. 

YRI includes restorative practice: the YRI may be seen as a form of restorative practice in that it reflects a 

high support, high challenge approach of working with, rather than doing to. 

The Covid-19 pandemic led to some creative developments: this should be further encouraged so as to 

make the reparation opportunities meaningful and restorative, and to expand the offer. 

The panel are not afraid to use the NFA outcome: this is an important backstop measure to protect 

vulnerable children, especially younger and looked after children, and to review adherence to protocols. 

Victims do not understand or feel included in the process: they lack understanding of how decisions are 

made and feel that their voice is not always heard. There may be scope for using technology to support 

victims to contribute. 

Commercial victims feel particularly excluded: this is especially problematic where there is an individual 

victimised in the course of their employment role, and they may need more support. 

Victims can receive contradictory support and information from police and VLO: they would prefer a 

single point of contact with the VLO.  

Young people are largely happy with the outcome: they are relieved to have avoided court and a 

criminal record, although their understanding of JDP is poor, and their views not always included.  

Young people express satisfaction with the YRI: they see the value in the interventions and support 

provided and think their worker has done a good job in delivering it. 

 

Page 103



 

77 
 

Young people engage with the relationship: there is evidence of effective relationships being built 

between the worker and the young person, with trust and communication promoting engagement. 

Young people express confidence and optimism in their own futures: they highlight the changes in their 

attitudes and thinking, and the growth of their self-esteem. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 104



 

78 
 

5. Conclusions and Recommendations 
 

5.1. Conclusions 
 

The objectives of this evaluation were to  

1. Evaluate the appropriateness and effectiveness of the Joint Diversionary Panel process for 

making decisions about outcomes for young people who have admitted an offence  

2. Review the effectiveness and suitability of any subsequent Youth Restorative Interventions 

being delivered as out of court disposals.  

The conclusions of the evaluation can be best summarised by returning to the key local outcomes set out 

in Chapter 1, as the anticipated benefits of the introduction of the JDP and YRI. 

Has JDP improved victim confidence and satisfaction? 

Whilst this evaluation has been unable to make comparisons with victim satisfaction levels prior 

to the introduction of JDP, there is clear evidence that: 

• Victim satisfaction with the JDP is good (62% were satisfied overall), but may be impacted by 

a lack of information, timeliness of responses, perceived proportionality of the outcome, and 

their understanding of the impact on the young person. 

• Victims don’t always fully understand what JDP do, and they would like more involvement in 

the process. 

• Victims sometimes feel their voice is not heard and the impact of the offence not considered 

in the panel’s decision. 

• The Victim Liaison Officers play a pivotal role in communication with and support for victims, 

and are victims preferred choice as a single point of contact. 

• Commercial victims receive less support even where there is an offence against an individual 

member of staff. 

Has JDP enhanced community safety and reduced reoffending? 

It is beyond the scope of the data within this evaluation to offer comparisons about reoffending 

rates over time, however the following observations can be made: 

• JDP do consider issues of community safety in their decision-making, and have 

developed their case analysis to focus explicitly on Likelihood of Offending and Risk of 

Serious Harm. 

• Reoffending rates for young people appearing at JDP (receiving any outcome) are 24% 

which is lower than the 38% national reoffending rate for young people in the criminal 

justice system. 

• 75% of the JDP hearings are a young person’s first appearance, and 93% of hearings are 

for a first or second appearance. It is a very small minority therefore that return 

repeatedly to JDP, suggesting that the majority are supported to grow out of offending. 

 

 

 

Page 105



 

79 
 

Has JDP improved confidence of stakeholders that the CJS is fair and proportionate? 

It is beyond the scope of this evaluation to make comparisons with confidence levels prior to the 

introduction of JDP, however, the following observations can be made: 

• JDP has led changes in organisational cultures and enhanced multi-agency partnerships in 

Lincolnshire, resulting in changed working practices, enhanced information sharing, and 

improved understanding of other services. 

• The professionals interviewed from a range of agencies showed high levels of confidence in 

JDP as an alternative to formal criminal justice responses. 

• Professional stakeholder understanding of and confidence in the panel has improved over 

time since the introduction of JDP, as a result of improved communication and awareness-

raising. 

• There is evidence of ongoing service development in response to feedback from service users 

and partners on what works, with improvements made to the model. 

• The young people in the service are key stakeholders and they express their satisfaction with 

the outcome, especially the diversion from court and a criminal record. 

• Young people’s confidence in the system is largely derived from the relationship of trust 

built with their allocated worker, who they perceive as supportive, kind and approachable. 

Has JDP ensured that young people are not criminalised unnecessarily? 

• JDP has been successfully implemented as the primary response to young people’s offending 

behaviour and is not limited to first time and low-level offences.   

• JDP takes an explicitly non-escalatory approach which reduces the formal criminalisation of 

children and prevents their escalation up the offending ladder. 

• Non-escalation is facilitated in different aspects of the decision-making, including critical use 

of intelligence, careful responses to breach, and considerations of proportionality. 

• The panel are not afraid to use the No Further Action outcome to prevent the criminalisation 

of the most vulnerable children, including the youngest and looked after children. 

Has JDP increased the range of interventions available for those young people that engage in ASB and 

offending behaviour with the aid of Early Help/YOS and other agencies? 

• The introduction of JDP has increased the range of disposals available through the creation 

of the Youth Restorative Intervention (YRI). 

• The YRI fills an important gap in existing responses by delivering a wide range of 

interventions that might be attached to a Referral Order, but without criminal charge. 

• JDP has almost entirely removed the use of the Youth Caution in Lincolnshire, because this 

gives the young person a criminal record but does not offer any support or intervention. 

• By working in partnership with Early Help and other partner agencies, the YRI has increased 

the level of welfare support available to young people in conflict with the law. 

• There is some good use of restorative justice elements within the interventions, and these 

have become more creative as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic. 

Have young people and their families been diverted away from statutory involvement with 

Children’s Services by adapting a needs focussed holistic approach? 

• JDP takes a holistic approach to decision-making, supported by the multi-agency 

membership of the panel, including both criminal justice and children’s services 

representation. 

Page 106



 

80 
 

• JDP decision-making is evidence-informed and considers the full context of the child’s life, 

rather than a narrow offence focus. 

• The emphasis on high support and intervention alongside a reduction in criminalisation 

reflects the restorative practice approach used within LCC Children’s Services. 

• Robust assessment processes, alongside the potential allocation of the intervention to an 

Early Help worker supports non-statutory family support from LCC where needed. 

Does JDP support children to be ready for adult life? 

• The YRI provides a bespoke package of support for the young person which goes beyond 

offence focused work and looks to support their longer-term potential and aspirations. 

• Interventions are asset-based and seek to engage young people through their own strengths 

and interests. 

• Young people express confidence and optimism in their futures, discussing their plans for 

future work and study, and noting improvements in their self-esteem and life-choices. 

• The holistic, multi-agency approach ensures that vulnerable young people are appropriately 

supported to be as able to succeed as their peers. 

• JDP take a ‘problem solving’ approach which is particularly suitable for supporting 

vulnerable young people with complex lives as it considers whether some outcomes might 

do more harm than good and further entrench disadvantage. 

Does JDP support children to be safe and healthy? 

• JDP provides an important mechanism for ensuring children are safe and protected from 

harm and exploitation, by drawing together information from multiple sources and seeing 

the full picture. 

• The introduction of the YRI as a form of ‘interventionist diversion’ has allowed children and 

families to be supported as soon as problems emerge, without having to wait for the young 

person’s behaviour to escalate. 

• Safety and Wellbeing concerns are of equal consideration at JDP as the risk of reoffending.  

• The allocated worker considers the young person’s broad needs, including their physical and 

mental health, and supports them to access relevant services. 

• Young people described how they were now likely to avoid risky situations and had been 

supported to stay safe and out of trouble. 

 

The overall findings of the evaluation are that: 

Lincolnshire’s Joint Diversionary Panel has provided a robust and effective process for making informed 

decisions about young people in conflict with the law, which: 

a) prevents their unnecessary criminalisation; and   

b) diverts them into supportive and preventative interventions. 

The introduction of the Youth Restorative Intervention for use by the panel has significantly improved 

outcomes for young people in the county whilst maintaining community safety. 

 

Page 107



 

81 
 

5.2. Recommendations 
 

Whilst acknowledging the valuable contribution and success of the JDP and YRI initiative, this evaluation 

has also identified the potential for further service development and improvements in a number of areas. 

 

Develop a young person participation strategy 

The evaluation has revealed significant challenges in including the voice of young people at panel 

hearings, reflected in the difficulties engaging young people in the research interviews. Young people’s 

understanding of and participation in the JDP process is limited. There is scope for developing a more 

participatory approach in which young people’s views and contributions are embedded more 

systematically into the process. This could be extended to include a restorative social justice which 

supports the young person to address the issues impacting other young people in their community. 

Expand the Future4Me offer 

There is evidence of a wide range of practices and interventions delivered via the YRI, but there was also 

an appetite amongst the professional participants for developing more creative and meaningful activities 

that draw upon the strengths and interests of young people. Building upon the creative emergency 

approaches which the Covid-19 pandemic and lockdown prompted, the Future4Me team could broaden 

and enhance the offer of positive diversionary activities and opportunities for young people’s social 

inclusion and citizenship, in partnership with other agencies. These could be used to support restorative 

work with young people, but might also generate opportunities for pre-offence prevention and diversion 

work. 

Increase victim participation 

Victims would like further involvement in the process and support to have their voice heard. Whilst it is 

important to separate victim needs from the outcome for the young person, so as not to undermine the 

non-escalatory approach, there is scope for enhancing victim inclusion, information and communication. 

Victim satisfaction is strongly correlated with their understanding of the process and being informed 

about the outcome, and it is therefore crucial that they receive clear information about: 

• Whether their case is going to court or to the JDP and why 

• What JDP is, who sits on it and the rationale for diversion from court 

• The disposals available and how they compare to those at Youth Court 

• Latest updates on their case, whether it has been heard at panel, the outcome and whether 

any intervention was completed 

The victim survey analysed in this report was a useful tool in gathering victim views, but the design and 

distribution of the survey needs rethinking to provide more reliable data.  

 

 

 

Page 108



 

82 
 

Undertake enhanced data analysis 

The opportunity for quantitative data analysis has been limited within this evaluation. It would be useful 

to engage in a more systematic collection and analysis of service data, in particular focusing on:  

• Thresholds for cases coming to JDP, and for subsequent decisions to charge to court 

• The outcomes and longer-term impact for more serious offences with higher gravity scores. 

• The comparison of data for young people charged to court against those receiving a YRI. 

• The differences in outcomes based on age, gender and LAC, as well as inclusion of data on 

ethnicity and nationality which is not currently routinely analysed. 

Improve communications and share success stories more widely 

Confidence in JDP amongst professional stakeholders has improved through communication, but wider 

public lack of information may impact their confidence in the panel and contribute to more punitive 

views. There is scope for further public relations work to share the purpose and successes of the JDP and 

YRI, e.g. by holding a public information event.  

Page 109



 

83 
 

References 
 

Case, S., Creaney, S., Coleman, N., Haines, K., Little, R. and Worrall, V. (2020) ‘Trusting Children to 

Enhance Youth Justice Policy: The importance and value of children’s voices’ Youth Voice Journal, Special 

Issue November 2020, ISBN:978-1-911634-23-2. 

Creaney, S. and Smith, R. (2014) ‘Youth justice back at the crossroads’ Safer Communities 13(2): 83-87. 

Gray, P. & Smith, R. (2019) ‘Shifting Sands: The reconfiguration of neoliberal youth penality’ Theoretical 

Criminology, 25(2): 304-324. 

Haines, K. and Case, S. (2015) Positive Youth Justice: Children first, offenders second, Bristol: Policy Press. 

Haines, K., Case, S., Davies, K. and Charles, A. (2013) ‘ The Swansea Bureau: A model of diversion from the 

Youth Justice System’ International Journal of Law, Crime and Justice, 41 167-187. 

Kelly, L. and Armitage, V. (2015) ‘Diverse Diversions: Youth Justice Reform, Localized Practices, and a 

‘New Interventionist Diversion’?’ Youth Justice, 15(2): 117-133. 

Newbury, A. (2011) ‘‘I Would Have Been Able to Hear What They Think’: Tensions in achieving restorative 

outcomes in the English youth justice system’ Youth Justice, 11(3): 250-265. 

Smith, R. and Gray, P. (2019) ‘The Changing Shape of Youth Justice: Models of practice’ Criminology & 

Criminal Justice, 19(5): 554-571. 

Soppitt, S. and Irving, A. (2014) ‘Triage: line or nets? Early intervention and the youth justice system’ 

Safer Communities, 13(4): 147-160. 

Wachtel, T. (2016) Defining Restorative, International Institute for Restorative Practices, 

https://www.iirp.edu/images/pdf/Defining-Restorative_Nov-2016.pdf 

White, R. (2003) ‘Communities, conferences and restorative social justice’ Criminal Justice, 3(2), 139-160. 

Youth Justice Board (2021) Strategic Plan 2021-2024, Youth Justice Board for England and Wales, 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/966

200/YJB_Strategic_Plan_2021_-_2024.pdf 

Youth Justice Board / Ministry of Justice (2019) Standards for Children in the Youth Justice System 2019, 

Ministry of Justice, 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/957

697/Standards_for_children_in_youth_justice_services_2019.doc.pdf 

Youth Justice Board / Ministry of Justice (2020) Youth Justice Statistics 18/19, England and Wales, 

Statistics Bulletin, Ministry of Justice, youth-justice-statistics-bulletin-march-2019.pdf 

(publishing.service.gov.uk) 

 

Page 110

https://www.iirp.edu/images/pdf/Defining-Restorative_Nov-2016.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/966200/YJB_Strategic_Plan_2021_-_2024.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/966200/YJB_Strategic_Plan_2021_-_2024.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/957697/Standards_for_children_in_youth_justice_services_2019.doc.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/957697/Standards_for_children_in_youth_justice_services_2019.doc.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/862078/youth-justice-statistics-bulletin-march-2019.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/862078/youth-justice-statistics-bulletin-march-2019.pdf


 

84 
 

 

Notes: Changes to the Service in the Evaluation Period 
 
 
i We Are With You is the new name for the charity previously known as Addaction and Young Addaction. 
This name change occurred in February 2020 during the evaluation period but We Are With You is used 
throughout the report for consistency. The new name was chosen to reflect the ethos of the 
organisation, working with people as equal partners in their recovery. 
 

ii Changes have been made to the core membership of the JDP during the evaluation period. Core Panel 
members now include representatives from LCC Children's Education, with 3 colleagues rotating 
attendance at panel. This was piloted from October 2019, and they became permanent panel members in 
January 2020. 

Victim Liaison Officers have also been added to the Core Panel membership, with the 2 VLOs from the 
Youth Offending Service rotating attendance at panel, becoming permanent panel members in February 
2021. This change was made to increase the focus and consideration of the victim views within panel 
discussions and decision making. VLO's have an up to date and informed understanding of the JDP 
process which supports the communication with VLO's prior to and post panel and improve the 
timeliness of the outcomes from JDP being shared with victims by the VLO's. 

The number of Neighbourhood Policing Team Police Sergeants acting as rotating panel members has 
been reduced from 10 to 6. 

 
iii The JDP referral form was updated during the evaluation period and the section in which the Police 
Officer in Charge recommendation had been previously requested was removed. As demonstrated in the 
evaluation this recommendation was not something that was taken into account in the panel decision 
making, was not aligned with the panels final decision and did not take into account the additional 
information that panel considered as this was not available to the Officer in Charge at the time of 
recommendation. 

 
iv There are no longer specialist CSE workers within LCC. These roles were ended when the Future4Me 
team was established 

 
v During the evaluation period a separate Harmful Sexual Behaviour Panel has been established. The 
format and function is the same as JDP but it deals specifically with sexual offences. The core panel 
membership is different and includes JDP Chair and Coordinator, Police Sergeant from Police 
Safeguarding Hub, CAMHS HSB Specialist, Youth Offending Officer experienced in working with young 
people displaying HSB and Victim Liaison Officer. The panel has been in place since April 2021. 

 
vi An outcome letter is no longer posted to the young person following panel. This decision was taken 
following concerns about the confidential nature of the contents of the letter. The JDP Coordinator has 
continued to reinforce with police colleagues, through training events, updates etc the need for the 
outcomes to be shared with young people in a timely manner. 

 
vii The allocation process has been revised during the evaluation period. Since the end of 2019, when an 
offence focused assessment is completed as part of an outcome from JDP and the safety and wellbeing 
and / or risk of serious harm is high then a Youth Offending Officer will case manage these.  
 

Page 111



This page is intentionally left blank



       
 

Open Report on behalf of Heather Sandy - Executive Director - Children's Services 

 

Report to: Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee 

Date: 19 November 2021 

Subject: 
Children In Care (CIC) Transformation - Residential Estate 
Expansion Programme 

Decision Reference:   Key decision? No   

Summary:  

This report invites the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee to consider a 
report on the Children In Care (CIC) Transformation - Residential Estate Expansion 
Programme, which is being presented to the Executive Councillor for Children’s 
Services, Community Safety and Procurement for a decision between 22 and 30 
November 2021. 
 
The views of the Committee will be reported to the Executive Councillor as part of her 
consideration of this item. 
 
 

Actions Required:  

The Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee is invited to: - 
 
1) Consider the attached report and to determine whether the Committee 

supports the recommendations to the Executive Councillor as set out in the 
report. 

 
2) Agree any additional comments to be passed on to the Executive Councillor in 

relation to this item. 
 

 
1. Background 
 
The Executive Councillor for Children’s Services, Community Safety and Procurement is 
due to consider a report on the Children In Care (CIC) Transformation - Residential Estate 
Expansion Programme between 22 and 30 November 2021. 

 

 

 

Page 113

Agenda Item 6



2. Conclusion 
 
Following consideration of the attached report, the Committee is requested to consider 
whether it supports the recommendations in the report and whether it wishes to make 
any additional comments to the Executive Councillor.  Comments from the Committee will 
be reported to the Executive Councillor.  
 
 
3. Consultation 

 
The Committee is being consulted on the proposed decision of the Executive Councillor 
between 22 and 30 November 2021.   
 

 

 

 

 
 

 
4. Appendices 

 

These are listed below and attached at the back of the report 

Appendix 1 Children In Care (CIC) Transformation - Residential Estate Expansion 
Programme to be presented to the Executive Councillor for Children’s 
Services, Community Safety and Procurement between 22 and 30 
November 2021 

Appendix A Equality Impact Analysis 

 
 

5. Background Papers 
 
No Background Papers within section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 were used 
in the preparation of this Report.  
 
 
This report was written by Tara Jones, Head of Service – Children in Care Transformation, 
who can be contacted on 07774 405040 or tara.jones@lincolnshire.gov.uk.  
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 114

mailto:tara.jones@lincolnshire.gov.uk


 

       
 

Open Report on behalf of Heather Sandy - Executive Director - Children's Services 

 

Report to: 
Councillor Mrs P A Bradwell, OBE, Executive Councillor: 
Children's Services, Community Safety and Procurement 

Date: Between 22 – 30 November 2021 

Subject: 
Children In Care (CIC) Transformation - Residential Estate 
Expansion Programme  

Decision Reference: I022290 

Key decision? Yes  
 

Summary:  

This report provides the Executive Councillor with the business case for the use of 
£1.5m of allocated Council capital funding from the Residential Children's Home 
Capital Programme to invest in two new children's homes in Lincolnshire.  
 
The report sets out the case for providing two new homes which will provide 
significant benefits to ensure that more local and high quality provision can be put in 
place within Lincolnshire without the reliance on costly and distant externally 
commissioned placements. It then goes on to specify the preferred areas of the county 
where it would be suitable to locate new children's homes, subject to appropriate sites 
and buildings, and subject to capital scheme appraisal approval. 

 
 

Recommendation(s): 

That the Executive Councillor for Children's Services, Community Safety and 
Procurement:- 
 
1) approves the use of £1.5m of Council capital funding to provide two new children's 

homes in Lincolnshire; 
 
2) Subject to approval of the capital scheme appraisal, approves the provision of a 

Children's home in Lincoln through the relocation of existing services from Strut 
House to refurbished residential accommodation at St Francis Special School and 
the alteration of Strut House to form a Children's Home; and  

 
3) Subject to approval of the capital scheme appraisal and identification of a suitable 

site approves the use of the balance of the funding towards providing a second 
children's home in either East Lindsey or South Kesteven. 

 

Page 115



 

Alternatives Considered: 

1. Not to expand in-house provision and continue to provide children's home places 
using the existing available in-house provision and continue to commission external 
placements through an Open Select List process often at a higher cost and in a 
saturated market. Due to rising demand this would lead to continued overspending 
against the Children In Care (CIC) Out of County Residential budget. 
 

2. Provide only one new children's home. Based upon the predictions and trends this 
would not be sufficient to reduce costs within the Out of County Residential 
budget, increase the much needed capacity and fewer children will be placed 
within Lincolnshire and near to their communities. 
 

3. Increase capacity within in-house fostering. The Council already has a strong 
service and high percentage of CIC placed in internal fostering provision. Despite a 
strong market identity and ongoing recruitment campaign, this has to be taken in 
the context of a national shortage of foster carers and the increase in independent 
agencies recruiting from the same pool. We also know from research that for a 
small cohort of children with complex needs, residential care is a positive first 
placement, whereby they can receive trauma based care to prepare them for the 
transition to a family setting, thus reducing the potential of unplanned moves.  

 
 

Reasons for Recommendation: 

To ensure that in-house provision meets the sufficiency requirements for CIC in 
Lincolnshire. Two additional homes will provide the places needed to ensure that more 
places are available at homes closer to the communities of those young people that 
need the places the most, closer to their support networks, and support better 
outcomes. It will also ensure that rising costs are addressed to allow reinvestment and 
improvement into the system to fund the delivery of the new homes and to secure 
cost savings. The existing model is not sustainable, and to only provide one new home 
would not be sufficient to meet all of the requirements as set out in the business case. 
The proposed new homes would also seek value for money from the Local Authority’s 
(LA) capital assets to maximise best use of existing sites and/or buildings. This business 
case also supports the ambition of the Corporate Plan to enable everyone to enjoy life 
to the full and the Plan's objective to intervene effectively to keep vulnerable people 
safe, making sure CIC and care leavers get the best opportunities. 
 

 
1. Background 
 
The Council has a Children's Services system which is working well and a CIC Service which 
is outstanding, although there is more we can do to deliver excellent outcomes for 
children and families. The increase in children being placed in externally commissioned 
placements is increasing and will become unsustainable unless appropriate action is 
taken. The Transformation Programme provides the opportunity to explore and identify 

Page 116



the opportunities and benefits across the child's journey from Edge of Care to Leaving 
Care:- 

1. To reduce the need for statutory intervention in families lives, by providing the 
right help to the right children at the right time and for the right duration. 

2. To support families to come to their own solutions by focusing upon building 
networks which they have in place. 

3. To improve outcomes for our CIC, by providing care locally within 
Lincolnshire rather than care at a distance to keep children and young people 
within their own communities where they can be close to their networks. 

 
The Residential Children's Home Capital project is one workstream sitting under the CIC 
Transformation Programme. In 2019 following a review of the CIC Service, £1.5m of 
Capital funding was earmarked within the 10 year capital programme to be funded by the 
Council for the expansion of the current residential Children's Home Estate through the 
creation of two new Children's Homes. 
 
The Strategic Case 
 
Lincolnshire County Council (LCC) is reliant on commissioning external residential 
placements for children in order to meet our statutory obligation to provide 
accommodation for children who are unable to be cared for by their parents and/or 
families.  Increasingly the scarcity of good quality placements has resulted in costs within 
the private sector spiralling.  LCC has a history of lower demand across social care and a 
strong balance of internal placement provision, compared to the national average. The 
impact of the pandemic has seen an increase in CIC and less children exiting care.  
Historically Lincolnshire only placed children and young people in external residential 
provision that had the most complex needs.  This is changing, as the Council now places 
children with lower needs out of county due to a lack of capacity within in-house 
provision. The current rate of CIC is 47.7 per 10,000 and projected to be 51 per 10,000 by 
2022.  
 
The actual costs for out of county (OoC) residential care for children over the last four 
years are increasing as follows: 
 

2016/17 £4.534m 

2017/18 £5.592m 

2018/19 £5.771m 

2019/20 £7.044m 

2020/21 £11.548m* 

2021/22 £10.666m** 

*It should be noted that the increase in 2020/21 was largely caused by the impact of the pandemic. £3.986m 

was met from the Covid grant in 2020/21, as identified placement to OoC that were caused by the pandemic. 
**In 2021/22 the actual forecast is £10.666m with £4.127m being met from the Covid grant. 

 

Page 117



As at 23 August 2021, there were 99 children and young people in external placements, 
compared to 46 in 2018/19.  We are seeing the biggest increase in children aged 5 to 12 
which is 31, compared to 9 in 2018/19. Whilst the 13 plus age group is our lowest cohort 
of care starters, their weekly average cost of a placement is the highest amongst all of the 
age cohorts. 
 

Independent placement market conditions are volatile; demand is outstripping supply, 
costs are rapidly rising and are unsustainable, and children are being placed at a distance 
from their networks. While local authorities have a duty to ensure there is sufficient 
provision in their area to meet the needs of the children in their care, it is increasingly the 
case that we are operating in a national market where providers are able to set the terms 
of engagement. In this environment local authorities struggle to shape their market; 
individually they lack the ability due to the relatively small number of children they are 
each responsible for placing, and providers are able to fill their provision with ‘easier to 
manage’ children from across England and set whatever price they choose. Local 
authorities bid against each other and drive up the price; Cordis Bright research for the 
Department for Education (DfE) showed that the more local authorities commissioned 
placements within a home, the higher the average fee being charged (Department for 
Education, 2020e). In all of this it is easy for the child’s experience to be lost. 

 
The capacity within our good to outstanding residential provision is insufficient to meet 
current and future demands, and those children placed in these internal settings have 
consistently better outcomes. The critical factor is recognising high cost does not equate 
to better outcomes. The occupancy of all of our in-house homes is almost always at 100%, 
with space only available as children transition out.  
 
We are predicting that the national upward trend in the numbers of CIC will continue as 
will the numbers of children presenting with complex emotional health needs and the 
need for them to receive trauma informed care.  Lincolnshire children's needs are always 
best met within their own communities where they can be close to their networks and 
receive support from strong local services.  
 
The objective of the project is to deliver two new buildings over the next three years to be 
used as Children's Homes that will meet current and predicted need and within the capital 
funding available.  The buildings need to be in agreed suitable locations and fit the criteria 
required by the Children's Homes Regulations 2015 and Ofsted.  They need to provide the 
right environment for children and young people to feel safe and thrive. 
 
Following a process to assess existing LCC property assets and preferred suitable 
geographical locations, three potential sites have been shortlisted and are being 
considered: 
 

1. Lincoln property, hopefully with an early 2022 completion of works and opening of 
first home in September 2022 (subject to costs and the Capital Appraisal decision 
in November 2021). Currently at Royal Institute of British Architects (RIBA) Stage 3 
for detailed design to prepare for going out to tender. Planning application has 
been submitted and approval granted. This is the proposed highest priority 

Page 118



solution for one of the two new homes. It would also lead to significantly improved 
short breaks provision through the relocation of Strut House to be co-located with 
St Francis Special School. 
 
The proposed project is to make use of the former residential accommodation at 
St Francis Special School which would be extensively refurbished and modernised 
to become a five bed short-breaks home for Strut House to relocate to. It would 
provide enhanced facilities to ensure a wider and more complex range of needs 
could be met. The re-location would then free up the existing Strut House which 
would become an ideal new children's home. These two projects are combined as 
one and are subject to the appropriate capital appraisal scheme and decision 
(please see the Lincoln Children’s Home report due for an Executive Councillor 
decision between 23 and 30 November 2021). 

 
2. New Build on an East Lindsey site could be open in summer 2023 (subject to cost 

and capital appraisal scheme decision at a later date). Currently at RIBA Stage 2. 
This project is dependent on additional capital being secured through a bid to the 
Department for Education (DfE) as it is not deliverable within the available £1.5m. 

 
3. Use of an existing LCC property in South Kesteven which requires remodelling and 

refurbishing. Currently progressing to RIBA Stage 2. Structural surveys are taking 
place on an existing property to determine if this is an economically viable option 
for a second home. If we are unable to progress with the preferred East Lindsey 
new build proposal then this would be the proposal put forward for a second home 
and would also be subject to the capital appraisal scheme decision as required at a 
later date. 

 
Progression post RIBA Stage 3 will be subject to a capital appraisal scheme decision, based 
upon cost and best value.  Potential 50% match funding is available through the new 2021 
DfE Children's Homes Capital Funding. Following an information event with the DfE, 
Lincolnshire will be applying for 50% match funding for two projects (1 and 2 above). The 
outcome of the bid will be known in November 2021. If the bid is unsuccessful then it is 
proposed that 1 and 3 are progressed utilising the £1.5m. 
 
Running in parallel to this project is the Residential Reform Project, where work has 
already commenced in respect of developing the Statement of Purpose, establishing 
revenue costs, staffing structure, recruitment of staff and the Ofsted registration timeline.  
 
The proposed annual budget for the operation of the two new homes is £0.637m, which 
includes:  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 119



 

Staffing: 

 1 x Homes Manager – G12 

 1 x Assistant Manager – G10 

 2 x RCO 3's – G9 

 5 x RCO 2's  - G7 

 6 x RCO 1's – G5    

£561,190.00 
 

Allowances (including Sleep in's)                                £21,440.00 

Premises related                                                          £11,100.00 

Transport related                                                         £8,280.00 

Ofsted BAU Budget £3,500.00 

Other supplies and services   £31,400.00 

Sub Total £636,910.00 

  
There will be initial one-off set up revenue costs for both homes, including furniture, white 
goods etc. which will be secured through one-off funding streams. 
 
The return on investment scenario based on two homes being fully operational at a capital 
cost of £1.5m is as follows: 
 

Return on Investment 

Homes Configuration 
Weekly 
Saving 

Annual 
Saving 

£1.5 
Million 

4 Bed Unit 6-12; 4 Bed Unit 12-18 £10,794 £561,288 2.67 Years 

 
The profile of the savings during the start-up share of the new homes will be subject to 
the opening date and planned child placements, however the forecast annual savings are 
£0.561m when the two homes are fully operational. These forecast savings are being put 
forward into the Council's medium term financial plan to support the Council's overall 
financial position. 
 
 
2. Legal Issues: 
 
Equality Act 2010 
 
Under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, the Council must, in the exercise of its 
functions, have due regard to the need to: 
 

 Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 
prohibited by or under the Act. 

 Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

 Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

 

Page 120



The relevant protected characteristics are age; disability; gender reassignment; pregnancy 
and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; and sexual orientation. 
 
Having due regard to the need to advance equality of opportunity involves having due 
regard, in particular, to the need to: 
 

 Remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic. 

 Take steps to meet the needs of persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not share it. 

 Encourage persons who share a relevant protected characteristic to participate in 
public life or in any other activity in which participation by such persons is 
disproportionately low. 

 
The steps involved in meeting the needs of disabled persons that are different from the 
needs of persons who are not disabled include, in particular, steps to take account of 
disabled persons' disabilities. 
 
Having due regard to the need to foster good relations between persons who share a 
relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it involves having due 
regard, in particular, to the need to tackle prejudice, and promote understanding. 
 
Compliance with the duties in section 149 may involve treating some persons more 
favourably than others. 
 
The duty cannot be delegated and must be discharged by the decision-maker.  To 
discharge the statutory duty the decision-maker must analyse all the relevant material 
with the specific statutory obligations in mind.  If a risk of adverse impact is identified 
consideration must be given to measures to avoid that impact as part of the decision 
making process. 
 

An Equality Impact Analysis has been completed (Appendix A).  In summary the analysis 
indicates that if new provision for Children's Homes is created there would be a long-term 
positive impact on more young people in the wider Lincolnshire area. 

 
Joint Strategic Needs Analysis (JSNA) and the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) 
 
The Council must have regard to the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) and the 
Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) in coming to a decision. 
 

The JSNA and the JHWS have been taken into account during the preparation of this 
report on the proposal to build two new children's homes. 

 
If the residential provision is created then it will ensure that CIC gain support for the 
development of the life skills they need and it is not considered a negative impact. 

Page 121



 
The proposal to have more in-house children's home placements will help ensure that 
people will continue to be supported in all areas including mental health and managing 
health conditions and/or disabilities. 
 

Any new homes would help reduce any distances that young people might be from their 
support groups.  It is expected that there would be a positive impact on health and safety 
and general wellbeing. 

 
Crime and Disorder 
 
Under section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, the Council must exercise its various 
functions with due regard to the likely effect of the exercise of those functions on, and the 
need to do all that it reasonably can to prevent crime and disorder in its area (including 
anti-social and other behaviour adversely affecting the local environment), the misuse of 
drugs, alcohol and other substances in its area and re-offending in its area. 
 

 
3. Conclusion 
 
It is critical that Lincolnshire has enough children's homes in the right areas that can 
provide high quality care for children and young people who need to be cared for by the 
Council. This report sets out why existing provision is insufficient and details the scope and 
expected outcomes of the capital programme. 
 
The decision is required from the Executive Councillor to determine whether to approve 
the proposal to build two new children's homes in Lincolnshire (Lincoln and either East 
Lindsey or South Kesteven) using the allocated £1.5m from the capital programme. The 
factors to consider in making this decision are within this report and must be considered. 
 
The Council believes that this proposal is in the best interests of children and young 
people, particularly for those young people that are some of the most vulnerable in our 
society and need the highest level of care. This proposal will support the future 
sustainability of specialist provision across Lincolnshire for CIC and help meet the 
ambitions of the CIC Transformation Programme. It would also seek to use existing assets 
and value for money which will be explored in more detail through the capital scheme 
appraisal for each project. 
 

This duty has been considered but no negative implications have been identified as young 
people in care will have individualised care plans to support their highest needs and the 
homes are closely monitored through the Residential Children's Homes Regulations, Care 
Standards, which fall under the Ofsted framework. Mechanisms must be put in place to 
ensure that any risk to possible increases in potential crimes and anti-social behaviour are 
mitigated against. With the opportunity to have young people located closer to their 
support networks it will present the opportunity to have a positive effect on CIC. 

Page 122



It is recommended that this proposal is implemented. The advantages of implementing 
this proposal are detailed earlier in the report. 
 

4. Legal Comments: 
 

The Council has the power to provide the new Children's Homes referred to. 
 
The decision is consistent with the Policy Framework and within the remit of the 
Executive Councillor. 
 

 

5. Resource Comments: 
 
The recommendation to deliver two new children's homes to support the increased 
demand of the Children In Care cohort will ensure the children and young people that 
access the provision will remain within their local communities and be able to access 
high quality of care. 
  
The pandemic has resulted in an increase in externally commissioned residential 
placements, however pre-pandemic, the market conditions for external placements 
were not favourable for Local Authorities with high unit costs and significant demand 
nationally for placements. This demand continues to drive placement costs up.  
 
Within the Council's 10 year capital programme, £1.5m is earmarked to support the 
delivery of creating two new children's homes. The return on investment on the capital 
expenditure is favourable. In addition, the homes will secure long term revenue 
savings for the Council, since the operational delivery of the internal homes are more 
cost effective than externally commissioned residential placements.   
 

 
 
6. Consultation 

 
a)  Has Local Member Been Consulted? 

Yes 
 

b)  Has Executive Councillor Been Consulted?  

Yes 

c)  Scrutiny Comments 

The decision was considered by the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee on 
19 November 2021. The comments of the Committee will be reported to the Executive 
Councillor.   
 
 

 

 

 
 

Page 123



d)  Risks and Impact Analysis 

The CIC Transformation Programme has a detailed risk and issues log, which is updated 
at regular intervals and has external challenge through the CIC Transformation 
Governance Board.  

7. Appendices 

 

These are listed below and attached at the back of the report 

Appendix A Equality Impact Analysis 

 

8. Background Papers 
 

Document title Where the document can be viewed 

Proposal on the Future 
of the Boarding 
Provision at The St 
Francis Special School – 
Decision on 9 March 
2021 

https://lincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?I
D=686 
 

 
This report was written by Tara Jones, Head of Service – Children in Care Transformation, 
who can be contacted on 07774 405040 or tara.jones@lincolnshire.gov.uk.  

Page 124

https://lincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=686
https://lincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=686
mailto:tara.jones@lincolnshire.gov.uk


 

Equality Impact Analysis 5 June 2015 V12        1 
 

 

  
Equality Impact Analysis to enable informed decisions 

 
The purpose of this document is to:- 

I. help decision makers fulfil their duties under the Equality Act 2010 and  
II. for you to evidence  the positive and adverse impacts of the proposed change on people with protected characteristics and ways to 

mitigate or eliminate any adverse impacts. 
 
Using this form 
This form must be updated and reviewed as your evidence on a proposal for a project/service change/policy/commissioning of a service or 
decommissioning of a service evolves taking into account any consultation feedback, significant changes to the proposals and data to support 
impacts of proposed changes. The key findings of the most up to date version of the Equality Impact Analysis must be explained in the report 
to the decision maker and the Equality Impact Analysis must be attached to the decision making report. 

 
**Please make sure you read the information below so that you understand what is required under the Equality Act 2010** 

 
Equality Act 2010 
The Equality Act 2010 applies to both our workforce and our customers. Under the Equality Act 2010, decision makers are under a personal 
duty, to have due (that is proportionate) regard to the need to protect and promote the interests of persons with protected characteristics.  
 
Protected characteristics 
The protected characteristics under the Act are: age; disability; gender reassignment; marriage and civil partnership; pregnancy and maternity; 
race; religion or belief; sex; sexual orientation. 
 
Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 
Section 149 requires a public authority to have due regard to the need to: 

 Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation, and any other conduct that is prohibited by/or under the Act 

 Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share relevant protected characteristics and persons who do not share those 
characteristics                                           

 Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

P
age 125



 

Equality Impact Analysis 5 June 2015 V12        2 
 

 

  

The purpose of Section 149 is to get decision makers to consider the impact their decisions may or will have on those with protected 
characteristics and by evidencing the impacts on people with protected characteristics decision makers should be able to demonstrate 'due 
regard'. 
 
Decision makers duty under the Act 
Having had careful regard to the Equality Impact Analysis, and also the consultation responses, decision makers are under a personal duty to 
have due regard to the need to protect and promote the interests of persons with protected characteristics (see above) and to:-     

(i) consider and analyse how the decision is likely to affect those with protected characteristics, in practical terms, 
(ii) remove any unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation and other prohibited conduct, 
(iii) consider whether practical steps should be taken to mitigate or avoid any adverse consequences that the decision is likely to  have, for 

persons with protected characteristics and, indeed, to consider whether the decision should not be taken at all, in the interests of 
persons with protected characteristics, 

(iv)  consider whether steps should be taken to advance equality, foster good relations and generally promote the interests of persons with 
protected characteristics, either by varying the recommended decision or by taking some other decision. 

 

Conducting an Impact Analysis 
 

The Equality Impact Analysis is a process to identify the impact or likely impact a project, proposed service change, commissioning, 
decommissioning or policy will have on people with protected characteristics listed above. It should be considered at  the beginning of the 
decision making process. 
  
The Lead Officer responsibility  
This is the person writing the report for the decision maker. It is the responsibility of the Lead Officer to make sure that the Equality Impact 
Analysis is robust and proportionate to the decision being taken. 
 
Summary of findings 
You must provide a clear and concise summary of the key findings of this Equality Impact Analysis in the decision making report and attach 
this Equality Impact Analysis to the report.   

P
age 126



 

Equality Impact Analysis 5 June 2015 V12        3 
 

 

  

Impact – definition 
 

An impact is an intentional or unintentional lasting consequence or significant change to people's lives brought about by an action or series of 
actions. 
 

How much detail to include?  
The Equality Impact Analysis should be proportionate to the impact of proposed change. In deciding this asking simple questions “Who might 
be affected by this decision?” "Which protected characteristics might be affected?" and “How might they be affected?”  will help you consider 
the extent to which you already have evidence, information and data, and where there are gaps that you will need to explore. Ensure the 
source and date of any existing data is referenced. 
You must consider both obvious and any less obvious impacts. Engaging with people with the protected characteristics will help you to identify 
less obvious impacts as these groups share their perspectives with you. 
 
A given proposal may have a positive impact on one or more protected characteristics and have an adverse impact on others. You must 
capture these differences in this form to help decision makers to arrive at a view as to where the balance of advantage or disadvantage lies. If 
an adverse impact is unavoidable then it must be clearly justified and recorded as such, with an explanation as to why no steps can be taken 
to avoid the impact. Consequences must be included. 

Proposals for more than one option If more than one option is being proposed you must ensure that the Equality Impact Analysis covers all 
options. Depending on the circumstances, it may be more appropriate to complete an Equality Impact Analysis for each option. 
 

The information you provide in this form must be sufficient to allow the decision maker to fulfil their role as above. You must include 
the latest version of the Equality Impact Analysis with the report to the decision maker. Please be aware that the information in this 

form must be able to stand up to legal challenge. 
 

P
age 127



 

Equality Impact Analysis 5 June 2015 V12        4 
 

Title of the policy / project / service 
being considered  

Children in Care Transformation 
Programme Right4U 

Person / people completing analysis Tara Jones/Tracey  Robinson 

Service Area 
 

Children's Services Lead Officer Tara Jones – Transformation Manager  
Tracey Robinson Programme Manager  

Who is the decision maker? 

 
DLT  How was the Equality Impact Analysis 

undertaken? 
Desktop Analysis 

Date of meeting when decision will 
be made 

tbc Version control 0.1 

Is this proposed change to an 
existing policy/service/project or is 
it new? 

New LCC directly delivered, commissioned, 
re-commissioned or de-
commissioned? 

Directly delivered 

Describe the proposed change 

 
 
 

Programme Overview 
 

Lincolnshire' Children in Care (CIC) numbers remains low in comparison with national and statistical authorities. From 2018 to 
2019 the number of CIC in England per 10k population has increased to 65; Lincolnshire's increased from 43 per 10k in 19/20 to 
45.9 at October. The total number of CIC in Lincolnshire has increased since April 2020; as at Oct 2020 it is sitting at 665 however 
the number of children in INM Residential and IFA placements has more than significantly increased in the last 12 months. The 
proportion of Lincolnshire CIC in INM Residential or IFA placements as at 31/03/2020 is now over 10%; 12 months ago it was 
below 6.5%.  The impact on the INM budget will be substantial – a £4.3m overspend is currently forecast for 2020/21. 
 

2.1. Children in Care Transformation Programme Right4U which has been created to ensure that we are providing the right 
help to the right children at the right time and for the right duration.  We have a Children's Services System which is 
working well and a Children in Care Service which is outstanding, although there is more we can do to improve excellent 
outcomes for children and families, particularly taking into account the impact of Covid 19. More specifically the 
pandemic has brought about a cost pressure, driving up costs within the external market place and impacting upon the 
availability of placements. Furthermore the availability of in house foster placements has reduced as some carers are 

Background Information 
 

P
age 128



 

Equality Impact Analysis 5 June 2015 V12        5 
 

 

 

 

self-isolating or reluctant to accept new children. The Transformation Programme will provide resource and capacity to 
respond to these challenges.  

 

The transformation Programme provides the opportunity to explore and identify the opportunities and benefits across the 
child's journey from Edge of Care to Leaving Care. 

1. To reduce the need for statutory intervention in families lives, by providing the right help to the right children at the right 
time and for the right duration. 

2. To support families to come to their own solutions by focusing upon building networks which they have in place. 

3. To improve outcomes for our Looked After Children and Young People, by providing care locally within Lincolnshire rather 
than care at a distance to keep children and Young People within their own communities where they can be close to their 
networks. 

The Transformation Programme will focus upon identifying high value opportunities for improvement and diagnostic work is 
currently being undertaken to identify the priority work-streams. It is really important that we all identify what we need to be 
doing across every part of the child's journey to prevent escalation of need and improve outcomes. 
 
The CiC programme is scheduled to run until 31st March 2023 and is made up of the following workstreams: 
 

 Residential Estates Expansion 

 Valuing Care 

 Practice Excellence 

 Early Help Strategy 

 ReThink Fostering 
 Strategic Placement Planning 

 

P
age 129



 

Equality Impact Analysis 5 June 2015 V12        6 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Evidencing the impacts 
In this section you will explain the difference that proposed changes are likely to make on people with protected characteristics. 
To help you do this  first consider the impacts the proposed changes may have on people without protected characteristics before then 
considering the impacts the proposed changes may have on people with protected characteristics. 
 
You must evidence here who will benefit and how they will benefit. If there are no benefits that you can identify please state 'No 
perceived benefit' under the relevant protected characteristic. You can add sub categories under the protected characteristics to make 
clear the impacts. For example under Age you may have considered the impact on 0-5 year olds or people aged 65 and over, under 
Race you may have considered Eastern European migrants, under Sex you may have considered specific impacts on men. 
 
Data to support impacts of proposed changes  
When considering the equality impact of a decision it is important to know who the people are that will be affected by any change. 
 
Population data and the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 
The Lincolnshire Research Observatory (LRO) holds a range of population data by the protected characteristics. This can help put a 
decision into context. Visit the LRO website and its population theme page by following this link: http://www.research-lincs.org.uk  If you 
cannot find what you are looking for, or need more information, please contact the LRO team. You will also find information about the 
Joint Strategic Needs Assessment on the LRO website. 
 
Workforce profiles 
You can obtain information by many of the protected characteristics for the Council's workforce and comparisons with the labour market 
on the Council's website.  As of 1st April 2015, managers can obtain workforce profile data by the protected characteristics for their 
specific areas using Agresso. 

P
age 130

http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/
http://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/residents/community-and-living/equality-and-diversity/a-strategic-approach-equality-and-diversity/valuing-our-workforce/community-and-workforce-statistics/52342.article


 

Equality Impact Analysis 5 June 2015 V12        7 
 

 

 

 

Age The success of the CiC programme will ensure that young people in Lincolnshire who benefit from the council's services 
will be helped to lead healthier, happier and more fulfilling lives. It is at the childhood stage that life patterns, life chances 
and eventual outcomes are effectively set, and by putting families of vulnerable children at the heart of social work 
practice (Relationship based practice), the council is aiming with its partner organisations to raise the aspirations of the 
children whose needs require council support. 

Disability Children with disabilities are statistically likely to have poorer outcomes than their non-disabled peers, for complex 
reasons which are understood by practitioners. By putting disabled young people and their parents at the heart of our 
practice, we will address the obstacles that stand in the way of this group achieving, collectively and individually, their own 
and their families aspirations. This approach will guide, social work, education intervention, health assessment and social 
and cognitive development. 

Gender reassignment Children and young people who are beginning the process of questioning, changing or reaffirming their gender identity are 
particularly vulnerable to discrimination, disavowal, and dismissal. This can happen in families, school and health settings, 
and social settings and with peer groups. By instilling gender issue awareness and reformed practice into our social and all 
other children's services work, CIC seeks to build the self-confidence, strength of purpose and  goal-setting ability of 
practitioners, parents, and young people to deal with the  issues arising with confidence. The knowledge brought to the 
matters by LGBT groups and communities will be welcomed and incorporated in the theory and practice of social work and 
young people's support. 

Marriage and civil partnership The family unit is at the heart of the CiC philosophy, and its role is emphasised in restorative practice, relationship-based 
practice and a 'signs of safety' practice framework, which builds on families' strengths. CIC does not define 'family' in a 
traditional or narrow sense (traditionally; man, woman and children as a single unit), and embraces the diversity of family 
forms and structures that have emerged. The key consideration is: is the family unit that presents to practitioners striving 
for and supporting its members (particularly children and young people members) and is it effective in doing this?. The 
approach and methodology makes no dogmatic insistence on a 'correct' or model family structure but does not shy from 
criticising any arrangements which might present an actual or potential threat to a child or young person's welfare. 

Pregnancy and maternity Because the foundation of good and excellent children's social care is exceptional early help arrangements, CIC practice 
always embraces the consideration of clients who are pregnant, and seeks to ensure that young people who are parents to 
be, as well as the unborn child, are within the scope of its reach and practice methodology. Any barriers to consideration 
of support for people affected by pregnancy are thus challenged rigorously. A specific programme of recognition of the 
issue of pregnancy and maternity in the sense of how it affects access to services, support and other interventions, is 
embedded in the workstream approaches. 

Positive impacts 
The proposed change may have the following positive impacts on persons with protected characteristics – If no positive impact, please state 
'no positive impact'. 
 

P
age 131



 

Equality Impact Analysis 5 June 2015 V12        8 
 

Race Although it is often perceived as a mono-cultural (mainly white, anglo-saxon) society and community, Lincolnshire has a 
surprising cultural and ethnic diversity, particularly in its larger towns and in Lincoln itself. CIC practice and philosophy 
seeks to ensure that race awareness, and anti-racism is embedded in social work and school support practice, as well as in 
all other areas of children's services work. 
 

Religion or belief Children's  Services clients are supported and their needs  assessed  within a framework which  recognises of their 
religious and cultural beliefs,  and the aim is to ensure that discrimination does not arise indirectly or directly  as a result of 
established practices and traditional ways of working as much as from deliberate acts of discrimination.  

Sex The gender and sex discrimination  danger is monitored by our social work and children's support practice, and the 
collation of statistical support for a methodology and practice which ensures that sex/gender discrimination is countered 
at all opportunities in the council's work. 

Sexual orientation Sexual orientation should be irrelevant in terms of one's experience and opportunities for support and development, 
education, work, social interaction, and so on. The reality of discrimination demonstrates that sexual preference can have 
a disadvantageous effect on people's lives and prospects. For the Council, we recognise that this process begins early, 
through conscious measures countering discrimination against this category of clients. 

 

 

If you have identified positive impacts for other groups not specifically covered by the protected characteristics in the Equality Act 
2010 you can include them here if it will help the decision maker to make an informed decision. 

 
Children, young people and families  - the Children in Care  programme sets out to deliver the following  positive impacts: 
 
1. To reduce the need for statutory intervention in families lives, by providing the right help to the right children at the right time and for the right duration. 

2. To support families to come to their own solutions by focusing upon building networks which they have in place. 

3. To improve outcomes for our Looked After Children and Young People, by providing care locally within Lincolnshire rather than care at a distance to keep children 
and Young People within their own communities where they can be close to their networks. 

 

P
age 132



 

Equality Impact Analysis 5 June 2015 V12        9 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Age No perceived adverse impact. We anticipate positive impacts as above 

Disability No perceived adverse impact. We anticipate and expect positive impacts as above 

Gender reassignment No perceived adverse impact. We expect positive impacts as above 

Marriage and civil partnership No perceived adverse impact. We expect positive impacts as above 

Pregnancy and maternity No perceived adverse impact. We expect positive impacts as above 

Negative impacts of the proposed change and practical steps to mitigate or avoid any adverse consequences on people with 
protected characteristics are detailed below. If you have not identified any mitigating action to reduce an adverse impact please 
state 'No mitigating action identified'. 
 

Adverse/negative impacts  
You must evidence how people with protected characteristics will be adversely impacted and any proposed mitigation to reduce or eliminate 
adverse impacts. An adverse impact causes disadvantage or exclusion. If such an impact is identified please state how, as far as possible, it 
is justified; eliminated; minimised or counter balanced by other measures.  
If there are no adverse impacts that you can identify please state 'No perceived adverse impact' under the relevant protected characteristic. 
 

P
age 133



 

Equality Impact Analysis 5 June 2015 V12        10 
 

Race No perceived adverse impact. We expect positive impacts as above. 

Religion or belief No perceived adverse impact. We expect positive impacts aa detailed above. 

Sex No perceived adverse impact. We expect positive impacts as above 

Sexual orientation No perceived adverse impact. We expect positive impacts as above 

 

If you have identified negative impacts for other groups not specifically covered by the protected characteristics under the Equality Act 2010 you 
can include them here if it will help the decision maker to make an informed decision. 

 

P
age 134



 

Equality Impact Analysis 5 June 2015 V12        11 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Objective(s) of the EIA consultation/engagement activity 
 

N/A 

Stakeholders 

Stake holders are people or groups who may be directly affected (primary stakeholders) and indirectly affected (secondary stakeholders) 

You must evidence here who you involved in gathering your evidence about benefits, adverse impacts and practical steps to mitigate or avoid 

any adverse consequences. You must be confident that any engagement was meaningful. The Community engagement team can help you to 

do this and you can contact them at consultation@lincolnshire.gov.uk 

 
State clearly what (if any) consultation or engagement activity took place by stating who you involved when compiling this EIA under the 
protected characteristics. Include organisations you invited and organisations who attended, the date(s) they were involved and method of 
involvement i.e. Equality Impact Analysis workshop/email/telephone conversation/meeting/consultation. State clearly the objectives of the EIA 
consultation and findings from the EIA consultation under each of the protected characteristics. If you have not covered any of the protected 
characteristics please state the reasons why they were not consulted/engaged.  
 

P
age 135

mailto:consultation@lincolnshire.gov.uk


 

Equality Impact Analysis 5 June 2015 V12        12 
 

 

 

 

Age  

Disability  

Gender reassignment  

Marriage and civil partnership  

Pregnancy and maternity  

Race  

Religion or belief  

Who was involved in the EIA consultation/engagement activity? Detail any findings identified by the protected characteristic 

P
age 136



 

Equality Impact Analysis 5 June 2015 V12        13 
 

Sex  

Sexual orientation  

Are you confident that everyone who 
should have been involved in producing 
this version of the Equality Impact 
Analysis has been involved in a 
meaningful way? 
The purpose is to make sure you have got 
the perspective of all the protected 
characteristics. 

Yes, but the EIA is viewed as a 'living document' and the effects or impact on the client groups who have protected 
characteristics will be monitored, and examples of positive impacts and outcomes will be added to the document to 
demonstrate the effects. 
 
Any negative developments or outcomes will also be monitored and recorded, with the important caveat that action will be 
taken to nullify or counter any negatives. This too will be recorded and monitored. 

Once the changes have been 
implemented how will you undertake 
evaluation of the benefits and how 
effective the actions to reduce adverse 
impacts have been? 

The Children in Care programme will be evaluated with benefits measured.  This will take place regularly, with periodical, 
annual and end of project input and recording/evaluation. P

age 137



 

Equality Impact Analysis 5 June 2015 V12        14 
 

 

 

 

Are you handling personal data?  Yes 
 
If yes, please give details. 
 
Staff details 
Foster Carer Details 
Children details if appropriate 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Actions required 
Include any actions identified in this 
analysis for on-going monitoring of 
impacts. 

Action Lead officer Timescale 

Specific examples to be identified noted 
and recorded on this EIA as a 'living 
document'. 
Updated versions of this EIA to be 
published half-yearly 

Tara Jones/Tracey Robinson 
 
Tara Jones/Tracey Robinson 
 

Quarterly and half-yearly 
 
 
Half-yearly 

Signed off by  Date Click here to enter a date. 

 

 

Further Details 

P
age 138



       
 

Open Report on behalf of James Drury - Executive Director - Commercial 

 

Report to: Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee 

Date: 19 November 2021 

Subject: Lincoln Children's Home 

Decision Reference:   Key decision? No   

Summary:  

This report invites the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee to consider a 
report on the Lincoln Children’s Home, which is being presented to the Leader of the 
Council and Executive Councillor for Resources, Communications and Commissioning, 
and the Executive Councillor for People Management, Legal and Corporate Property 
for a decision between 23 and 30 November 2021. 
 
The views of the Committee will be reported to the Executive Councillors as part of 
their consideration of this item. 
 
 

Actions Required:  

The Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee is invited to: - 
 
1) Consider the attached report and to determine whether the Committee 

supports the recommendations to the Executive Councillors as set out in the 
report. 

 
2) Agree any additional comments to be passed on to the Executive Councillors in 

relation to this item. 
 

 
1. Background 
 
The Leader of the Council and Executive Councillor for Resources, Communications and 
Commissioning, and the Executive Councillor for People Management, Legal and 
Corporate Property are due to consider a report on the Lincoln Children’s Home between 
23 and 30 November 2021. 

 

 

 

Page 139

Agenda Item 7



2. Conclusion 
 
Following consideration of the attached report, the Committee is requested to consider 
whether it supports the recommendations in the report and whether it wishes to make 
any additional comments to the Executive Councillors.  Comments from the Committee 
will be reported to the Executive Councillors.  
 
 
3. Consultation 

 
The Committee is being consulted on the proposed decision of the Executive Councillors 
between 23 and 30 November 2021.   
 

 

 

 

 
 

 
4. Appendices 

 

These are listed below and attached at the back of the report 

Appendix 1 Lincoln Children’s Home to be presented to the Executive Councillors 
between 23 and 30 November 2021 

Appendix A Existing Site Plan 

Appendix B Proposed Floor Plans 

 
 

5. Background Papers 
 
No Background Papers within section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 were used 
in the preparation of this Report.  
 
 
This report was written by Matthew Stapleton, Senior Project Manager, Corporate 
Property, who can be contacted on 07766 384257 or 
matthew.stapleton@lincolnshire.gov.uk.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 140

mailto:matthew.stapleton@lincolnshire.gov.uk


             
   

Open Report on behalf of James Drury - Executive Director - Commercial 

 

Report to: 

Councillor R D Butroid, Executive Councillor for People 
Management, Legal and Corporate Property 
 
Councillor M J Hill OBE, Leader of the Council and Executive 
Councillor for Resources, Communications and Commissioning 
 

Date: Between 23 and 30 November 2021 

Subject: Lincoln Children's Home  

Decision Reference: I025141 

Key decision? Yes 
 

Summary:  
 
This project will relocate Lincolnshire County Council’s existing short breaks home to a 
location on the St. Francis Special School site in Lincoln. This will be remodelled to 
enhance the offer, increasing space whilst ensuring the service is accessible for children 
with complex needs.  
 
The vacated home, Strut House at St. Catherine's, will be remodelled and refurbished to 
become a four-bedded Children's home in July/August 2022, for children aged 6 to 12.  
 
This report provides a scheme appraisal and recommendation for the procurement of 
the remodelling to both buildings. 
 
 

Recommendation(s): 
 
That the Leader of the Council and Executive Councillor for Resources, Communications 
and Commissioning approves the scheme appraisal for the carrying out of works to 
remodel St. Francis residential wing and the current Strut House in Lincoln. 
 
That the Executive Councillor for People Management, Legal and Corporate Property:- 
 

1) Approves the Council entering into a construction contract for the carrying out of 
works to remodel St Francis residential wing by way of a traditional tender 
process; 

 
 

Page 141



2) Approves the use of the SCAPE minor works construction framework to appoint 
Lindum construction to carry out the minor refurbishment of the existing Strut 
House; and 

 
3) Delegates to the Executive Director – Commercial authority to determine the final 

form and approve the entering into of the final contract under 1) above. 
 
 

Alternatives Considered: 
 

 Do nothing - This option is not recommended as it will not meet the goals of the 
Children in Care (CIC) Transformation Programme, which the Council is currently 
adopting and which will greatly enhance the lives and outcomes of Children In Care in 
Lincolnshire. 
 

 Reduced scope – Whilst it would be possible to carry out less extensive works to the 
St Francis site, this would drastically impact on the level of care that children with 
complex and wide ranging needs would receive. 
 

 Procurement – Use of framework for the main works has been considered; however, 
as most of the work is internal refurbishment within the residential block, it is 
considered to be a relatively straightforward build which should not require 
extensive contractor involvement in the design process. Therefore, in order to try 
and achieve best value for the Council, it is felt that a traditional single stage tender 
route should be used. 

 

 Purchase of a property to deliver the St Francis element of the project – This was 
considered but it was felt that it would be costly and not allow the Council to make 
best use of resources. To divert a substantial part of the available budget to the 
acquisition of a building when the Council already has a suitable one would not be 
beneficial. 

 
 

Reasons for Recommendation: 
 
Approval is sought for the project to deliver refurbishment of St Francis and St. 
Catherine’s because: 
 
1. It helps deliver the objectives of the CIC programme for Lincolnshire.  Principally:  

 

 The CIC Transformation Programme’s key strategic priority “to improve outcomes 
for our Children and Young People, by providing care locally within 
Lincolnshire rather than care at a distance to keep children and Young People 
within their own communities where they can be close to their networks”. 

 It will increase the availability and accessible capacity of suitable short term care 
places in Lincoln. 

Page 142



 It will provide a new four bed Children’s Home in Lincoln. 

 It will reduce the number of children having to be placed in out of County care 
provision.  

 The reduced need for out of county provision will contribute towards revenue 
savings as part of the CIC programme and enable Children’s Services to offer both 
long term savings and service improvements. 
 

2. The proposed works and timetable for delivery will allow the Council to begin 
making the revenue savings as laid out in the CIC Transformation Strategy.  

 

 
1. Background 

 
1.1 Wickenby was the name given to the temporary Children’s Home set up at the 

beginning of the Covid-19 pandemic in the residential wing of St Francis Special 
School which temporarily closed its residential provision in March 2020. St Francis 
Special School is a Local Authority (LA) maintained school that until recently had 
residential provision which came under the Department for Education’s (DfE) 
'boarding' classification of a school.  

 

1.2 At the request of the Governing Body, the LA, as the decision maker, consulted on 
the closure of the residential accommodation; a separate purpose built wing of the 
school (always been used for this purpose for the many years it has existed). In 
March 2021 the decision was taken by the Executive Councillor for Children's 
Services, Community Safety and Procurement (following scrutiny by the Children 
and Young People Scrutiny Committee) to close the residential accommodation 
permanently. 

 
1.3 Options have been considered regarding the use of the accommodation given that 

the school no longer requires it for boarding; it is run down and underutilised. The 
preferred option is to invest into the buildings to refurbish, remodel and 
modernise them to continue as residential accommodation for short breaks 
(respite care) to enable the existing Strut House to relocate to St. Francis to offer 
improved facilities and an enhanced offer, to allow them to meet a wider range of 
needs for a greater percentage of time than is currently possible in the more 
limited building at Strut House, where it is now at St Catherine’s.  
 

1.4 Many pupils using Strut House are on the roll of St Francis Special School, therefore 
co-locating the two offers significant benefits for staff, young people and their 
families.  
 

1.5 Strut House will be converted into a Children’s Home for 6 to 12 year olds and add 
much needed capacity into Lincolnshire to help meet the ambition of the CIC 
Transformation Strategy. 

 

1.6 Between 22 and 30 November 2021, the Executive Councillor for Children's 
Services, Community Safety and Procurement will be asked to approve proposals 

Page 143



for the development of a new County Council run Children's Home in Lincoln based 
on the above proposals. 

 
2. Procurement 
 
2.1 The construction of the scheme will be procured in accordance with the Council's 

finance and procurement regulations. 
 
2.2 The use of a traditional single tender process for the main works at the St. Francis 

site is felt to be the most appropriate procurement route. It offers the following 
benefits:  

 
• Generally lower cost for this type of scheme due to reduced overheads and 

scope when compared to a high value / high risk scheme 
• Access to a wider range of contractors 
• Opportunity to engage with local supply chain 
• Contractor experience with process gives clarity and more interest.  

 
2.3 Given the very low level of cost involved in the St. Catherine's refurbishment (circa 

£79k), it is felt that using the SCAPE minor works framework will be appropriate 
because the contractor is local and able to mobilise quickly, which is appropriate 
for this project. 

 
3. Scope of Works 
 
3.1 The Lincoln Children's Home will be housed in the former residential wing of St 

Francis Special School, off Wickenby Crescent in Lincoln.  
 

3.2 The project will create five specialist bedrooms, accessible bathrooms, dining and 
kitchen space, soft play and sensory rooms for the children who will be using the 
facility.  

  
3.3 Great emphasis has been placed on making the environment as welcoming as 

possible and the internal layout has been altered to provide bedrooms that are of 
a suitable size and not overwhelming. Bathrooms have been re-configured to 
provide both accessible spaces but also more normal, domestic style bathrooms. 
 

3.4 The works specified above are substantial and involve considerable structural 
changes to the building. This includes new windows to large parts of the building, 
replacement of all suspended ceilings with more suitable plastered ones, removal 
of some walls and construction of others. There are also several bespoke hoists 
with associated tracks and reinforcement required. 
 

3.5 All of the above means that the cost of remodelling is above that which might 
normally be expected for this type of building but which will provide an excellent 
environment for the children staying on site and enable staff to give them the best 
possible care. 

Page 144



 
3.6 The project will also create a new, secure reception area with an administration 

office and small waiting area. 
 

3.7 On the first floor of the building, the existing staff flats will be refurbished to 
provide training and multi-agency meeting spaces for a variety of uses, together 
with kitchen and break room for staff and further administration offices. 
 

3.8 External areas will also be enhanced and new secure fencing erected around the 
property, within the existing St Francis site. 

 
3.9 The intention is for construction work to commence in February 2022 for 

completion in June 2022.  
 
3.10 The car park will be remodelled to provide an improved drop off and pick up area 

and further parking for the increased staff numbers. 
 

3.11 The remodelling of St Catherine’s will see the existing short-term provision altered 
to provide more suitable long term Children’s Home accommodation. 
 

3.12 A new accessible shower room will be created, bedroom spaces will be remodelled 
and refurbished and much of the ground floor décor will be refreshed and 
updated. 
 

3.13 Work on the St. Catherine’s element of the project will follow on directly after the 
St. Francis element is complete and the current service has relocated to the new 
facility. Completion is scheduled by the end of August 2022. 

 
3.14 The total project budget is just under £1.3m. The scheme can be fully funded from 

the Council’s capital funds allocated to deliver two new children’s homes, but a bid 
has been submitted to the DfE for a grant to cover 50% of the project cost. If the 
bid is successful the project will be funded from a 50/50 combination of both LCC 
capital funds and DfE match funding. If the bid is not successful the project will be 
fully funded by the LCC Children’s Services New Children’s Homes capital budget.  

 
4.  Project Budget  
 
4.1 The project budget for the St Francis, Lincoln Children's Home, is approximately 

£1.16m. The breakdown of cost is as follows: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 145



Construction Budget 

Item Cost  

Remodelling Works £696,913 

BCIS Tender Inflation  £11,200 

Contractor's Preliminaries £87,114 

Project Risk £156,806 

Subtotal Construction Budget £952,033 

Kier Technical Fees £193,767 

BCIS Construction Inflation Estimate £16,801 

Total Project Budget £1,162,601 

 
4.2 The feasibility for St Catherine’s, provided by Lindum Group in 2020 and updated in 

August 2021, gives a cost of £79,820.82. This is broken down as follows (NB: these 
headings do not follow the process usually adopted by LCC / Kier): 

 

Construction Budget 

Item Cost 

Pre-Construction Charge £2,324.88 

Design Costs £6,750 

Design Management Charge  £312.50 

Preliminaries £13,427.50 

Schedule of works £44,462.30 

Construction Fee (SCAPE) £2,043.64 

Project Risk £10,500 

Total Project Budget £79,820.82 

 
5.  Value for money 
 
5.1 Using technical expertise via the partnership with Kier ensures that all costs are 

compared with industry averages. Corporate Property refers to the Building Cost 
Information Service (BCIS). The BCIS, part of the Royal Institution of Chartered 
Surveyors, collects cost and price information from construction projects across the 
UK. This information is analysed and interpreted by the BCIS and then made 
available to the industry. The BCIS information may be referenced to assist with cost 
planning in a number of ways including budgets and benchmarking. The budget 
costs for the St. Francis element of the project have been compared with the BCIS 
data to benchmark the proposed work against similar projects in the UK. 

 
5.2 Both elements of the Lincoln Children's Home project will involve the remodelling of 

an existing property. For comparison purposes the separate remodelling elements 
have been compared to BCIS independently (see below). This is the only way that a 
scheme like this can be benchmarked.  

 
5.3 In respect of the cost of remodelling, the BCIS data shows a mean cost of £1,541 per 

m² with a highest cost of £2,424 per m².  The cost of the St Francis element of the 

Page 146



Lincoln Children's Home project is £1,575 per m² and so falls within the normal 
range. 

 
5.4 The cost per square metre for the works at St Catherine’s is low in comparison to the 

normal BCIS range but this is because the works are relatively light touch and do not 
involve major structural or remodelling works. 

 

BCIS Comparison - Remodelling 

  St. Francis  St Catherine's BCIS 

Remodelling Budget £968,834 £79,820    

Remodelling Area 615m² 192m2  

Cost per m² £1,575 / m² £415 / m2 £2,424 / m² 

 
6. Design approval process: 
 
6.1. The design process for the St Francis element of the project has involved service 

managers from the existing Strut House and Children’s Homes. They have had input 
throughout the design and have made a range of recommendations and requests to 
help the design team meet the very specialist needs of the service users. 
 

6.2. Feasibility reports have been prepared at different stages within the Royal Institute 
of British Architects (RIBA) design process and these have been presented to 
Children’s Services for both design and budgetary approval.  

 
6.3. The project has also formed part of the wider Children’s Services Residential Estates 

Expansion workstream. This has meant that the designs for the St Francis site have 
been presented to the Project Board on a regular basis and that sign off for design 
changes or items impacting on the budget have been agreed by the wider team. 

 
6.4. Senior management within Children’s Services have also been included within 

project decision making as part of the Board and the Executive Director of Children’s 
Services has had oversight of the process at various stages.   

 
7. Cost Control 
 
7.1. Given the level of uncertainty within the construction industry, Corporate Property, 

alongside Kier Project Managers and Quantity Surveyors, actively manages all 
contractors delivering the capital programme and has sought opportunities to 
reduce costs in the design process, whilst meeting all of the essential requirements 
of the service. Various measures have been undertaken and are described below. 

 
7.2. The area to be refurbished within the St Francis building has been reduced down 

from that originally proposed within the initial feasibility. This included both of the 
former bedroom wings together with the central block and first floor. In response to 
high cost estimates the front bedroom wing was removed from the project scope 
and additional bedrooms created within the main wing. 

 

Page 147



7.3. The external appearance of the building has also been altered to reduce costs as a 
number of the windows have had to be changed to facilitate access to some of the 
bedrooms. It was intended to have a new cladding system across the whole building 
and for all windows to be changed to match the new ones which are needed. To 
reflect the need to keep costs down, the cladding has been replaced by partial 
render and existing UPVC windows have been retained where possible.  

 
7.4. Works to external spaces have been kept to a minimum, whilst still seeking to 

deliver a pleasant and safe environment for the residents of the facility.  
 
7.5. All of the decisions above have been taken in partnership and with support from 

Children's Services.   
 

7.6. By only building what is needed and consistently challenging costs, Corporate 
Property can provide assurance that the build will meet service users needs in an 
appropriate and cost effective manner. 

 
8. Supply Chain Volatility 
 
There are significant cost pressures within the construction industry arising from a 
shortage of labour and materials within the supply chain. Corporate Property is typically 
seeing cost inflation in the order of 7.5% - 10% above expected levels. 
 
This is a local, regional, national and global issue which impacts on all capital projects. The 
reasons for the supply chain shortage are multi-faceted and often interdependent: 
 
8.1. Global supply chains have been severely disrupted by Covid-19. For example, factory 

shut-downs and industry running at reduced capacity has created supply problems 
for materials from semi-conductors through to timber. 

 
8.2. Brexit is disrupting the smooth inflow of goods into the UK; this is because additional 

checks at ports have created a backlog in clearing containers. This is also 
compounded by the HGV driver shortage meaning that shipping containers are 
taking much longer to be distributed from ports, contributing to longer lead-in 
times. 

 
8.3. There is a global shortage of shipping containers, leading to astonishing inflationary 

pressures on the cost of shipping freight. The price for a 40ft container from China to 
Europe has risen by nearly 500%, as of April 2021.  

 
8.4. There has been a significant upsurge in demand as the UK economy emerges from 

lockdown; this is also replicated in the United States of America which is competing 
for the same source materials as the UK. The United States recently committed to 
legislation which allocates $1.2 trillion for infrastructure projects. 

 
8.5. There is a shortage of labour within the construction industry as a result of migrant 

workers returning to their home country and from high profile, high spend 

Page 148



construction activity like HS2; this has driven up costs through increased wage 
demand.  

 
8.6. Social distancing has pushed up costs due to increased cleaning and more welfare 

facilities required on site and Covid-19 is still leading to supply chain disruption due 
to positive tests and self-isolation.  

 
8.7. The lack of qualified HGV drivers, due to the UK skills gap, ageing workforce, etc., is 

impacting on the timely delivery of materials to merchants and to construction sites, 
leading to potential delays for project completion. 
 

8.8. There is an overall risk budget in this project of £156,806 to cater for unforeseen 
design and construction risks. 

 
8.9. The risk pot for the project is large (approximately 12.5%) but at present it is felt 

prudent to retain this in order to ensure that costs do not go above agreed levels. 
 
9. Legal Issues: 
 
Land Issues 
 
The proposal to relocate LCC's existing short breaks home to a location on the St. Francis 
Special School site in Lincoln engages legislation enacted to protect land which is 
comprised in a school site.  
 
Under the provisions of the Academies Act 2010, prior approval of the Secretary of State is 
required before this proposed change can be implemented. 
 
The Council is in communication with the Department for Education (DfE) to verify the 
precise nature of application(s) which must be submitted.  Information received presently 
suggests that the DfE regard the change proposed as amounting to both a change of use 
of school land, and an appropriation. Under the terms of the legislation, separate 
concurrent applications are required to cover each element. 
 
The Council must wait to receive all necessary approvals from the Secretary of State 
before any change affecting the residential wing at St Francis Special School can be 
implemented. 
 
These issues will be addressed prior to the decision to award a contract under the 
delegated authority granted by numbered recommendation 3. 
 
 
Equality Act 2010 
 
Under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, the Council must, in the exercise of its 
functions, have due regard to the need to: 
 

Page 149



 Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 
prohibited by or under the Act. 

 

 Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

 

 Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

 
The relevant protected characteristics are age; disability; gender reassignment; pregnancy 
and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; and sexual orientation. 
 
Having due regard to the need to advance equality of opportunity involves having due 
regard, in particular, to the need to: 
 

 Remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic. 
 

 Take steps to meet the needs of persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not share it. 

 

 Encourage persons who share a relevant protected characteristic to participate in 
public life or in any other activity in which participation by such persons is 
disproportionately low. 

 
The steps involved in meeting the needs of disabled persons that are different from the 
needs of persons who are not disabled include, in particular, steps to take account of 
disabled persons' disabilities. 
 
Having due regard to the need to foster good relations between persons who share a 
relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it involves having due 
regard, in particular, to the need to tackle prejudice, and promote understanding. 
 
Compliance with the duties in section 149 may involve treating some persons more 
favourably than others. 
  
The duty cannot be delegated and must be discharged by the decision-maker.  To 
discharge the statutory duty the decision-maker must analyse all the relevant material 
with the specific statutory obligations in mind.  If a risk of adverse impact is identified 
consideration must be given to measures to avoid that impact as part of the decision 
making process. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 150



The Equality Act duty has been considered and it is considered that if a new Children's 
Home is created there would be a long-term positive impact on more young people in the 
wider Lincolnshire area. 
 
The refurbishment of the St Francis residential block as a short break respite care facility 
preserves and enhances facilities for children with disabilities and their carers with an 
overall positive impact. 
 
The design of both buildings will ensure accessibility regardless of protected characteristic. 
 

 
Joint Strategic Needs Analysis (JSNA) and the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) 
 
The Council must have regard to the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) and the 
Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) in coming to a decision. 
 

The JSNA and the JHWS have been taken into account during the preparation of this 
report on the proposal to build a new children's home and relocate Strut House to 
enhanced short breaks facilities. 
 
If the residential provision is created then it will be ensured that pupils gain support for 
the development of the life skills they need and it is not considered that educational 
standards or attainment will be negatively impacted. 
 
The number of places in care homes across Lincolnshire will be increased, improving how 
and where they are provided, and young people will continue to be supported in all areas 
including mental health and managing health conditions and/or disabilities. 
 
Any new homes would also help reduce any distances that young people might be from 
their support groups.  It is expected that there would be a positive impact on health and 
safety, and general wellbeing. 
 

 
Crime and Disorder 
 
Under section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, the Council must exercise its various 
functions with due regard to the likely effect of the exercise of those functions on, and the 
need to do all that it reasonably can to prevent crime and disorder in its area (including 
anti-social and other behaviour adversely affecting the local environment), the misuse of 
drugs, alcohol and other substances in its area and re-offending in its area. 
 

 
 
 

The section 17 matters have been taken into account but there are not considered to be 
any implications for the section 17 matters arising out of the decision. 
 

Page 151



 
10. Conclusion 
 
10.1 The Children in Care Transformation Strategy has identified a need to improve the 

provision of both specialist short-term care and long-term residential care for 
children in Lincolnshire. It also offers an opportunity to reduce revenue costs by 
bringing children currently placed out-of-county back into Lincolnshire. 

10.2 The Executive Councillors are therefore requested to approve the tender for the 
works and the award of a contract within the available project budget of £1.3 
million. 

  

11. Legal Comments: 
 

The Council has the power to enter into the contracts proposed. 
 
The proposals are compliant with the Council's procurement obligations. 
 
The decision is consistent with the Policy Framework and within the remit of each of the 
Executive Councillors. 
 

 

12. Resource Comments: 
 

The recommendations to approve the scheme appraisal for the works to remodel the 
former St Francis Special School residential wing and St Catherine's children's home, and 
to approve the entering into a construction contract will enable the Council to fulfil a 
Children in Care Transformation Programme objective of providing more provision locally 
to better meet the needs and improve outcomes. This will reduce the requirement to 
place children in more expensive out of county provision, where market conditions are 
unfavourable, and will secure revenue savings through this capital investment.    
 
The Council has earmarked within its capital programme £1.500m to deliver two new 
children's homes to support its ambitions. The Council has submitted a capital match 
funding bid to cover 50% of the project costs to the Department for Education following 
the announcement of monies being available. If the Council were to be successful, it 
provides greater scope and opportunities for a second children's home solution. If the 
Council is unsuccessful, sufficient funding exists in the capital programme for new 
children's homes to meet this obligation.   
 
The report outlines value for money comparisons to BCIS. The former St Francis Special 
School residential wing remodelling is generally in line with the BCIS mean cost per m² 
even allowing for the considerable structural changes required. The St Catherine's site 
will require only small remodelling and refurbishment, therefore is much lower than BCIS 
comparisons.   
 
 

Page 152



The former St Francis residential wing will go through a competitive tender process to 
secure best price at this time, and the St Catherine's procurement process will go 
through SCAPE minor works framework due to the low value of contract, use of local 
contractors and speed of mobilisation. There are significant cost pressures arising from 
the construction industry due to unfavourable market conditions and economic 
uncertainty, therefore the partnership with Kier in reviewing and benchmarking contract 
costs will be important. 
 

 
13. Consultation 

 
a)  Has Local Member Been Consulted? 

Yes 
 

b)  Has Executive Councillor Been Consulted?  

Yes 

c)  Scrutiny Comments 

The decision will be considered by the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee at 
its meeting on 19 November 2021 and the comments of the Committee will be provided 
to the Executive Councillors. 

 

 
 

 

d)  Risks and Impact Analysis 

See the body of the Report. 
 

 
14. Appendices 
 

These are listed below and attached at the back of the report 

Appendix A Existing Site Plan 

Appendix B Proposed Floor Plans 
 

15. Background Papers 
 
The following Background Papers within the meaning of section 100D of the Local 
Government Act 1972 were used in the preparation of this Report 
 

Background Paper Where it can be viewed 
 

Proposal on the Future of the Boarding 
Provision at The St Francis Special School 

https://lincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk/ieDecisio
nDetails.aspx?ID=686 
 

 
This report was written by Matthew Stapleton, Senior Project Manager, Corporate 
Property, who can be contacted on 07766 384257 or 
matthew.stapleton@lincolnshire.gov.uk.  

Page 153

https://lincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=686
https://lincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=686
mailto:matthew.stapleton@lincolnshire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Sign

Sapling

Vehicular 
Access 
Gate

Main 
Entrance

Existing Parking. 
9No. Spaces.

Existing Parking. 
20No. Spaces.

Existing Parking. 
11No. Spaces.

Existing Parking. 
12No. Spaces.

Existing Parking. 
11No. Spaces.

Existing Parking. 
7No. Spaces.

5No.Minibus Garages
Used for Storage

Existing Parking. 
2No. Disabled 
Spaces.

CHILDRENS HOME

Existing Soft 
Landscaping Area

Existing Soft 
Landscaping Area

Existing Soft 
Landscaping Area

Existing Soft 
Landscaping Area

Existing Soft 
Landscaping Area

Existing Hard 
Surface Area

Existing Hard 
Surface Area

Existing Hard 
Surface Area.

Play Area / 
Minibus PickUp & 
DropOff Parking.

Existing Soft 
Landscaping Area

Existing Horticulture Area

Existing Soft 
Landscaping Area

Existing Hard 
Surface Area

Existing 
Horticulture 

Area

Riseholme Road

Wickenby Crescent

Early Years Play 
Area

Bin 
Stores

Existing 
Coach 
Parking. 
1No. Space.

Existing 
Minibus 
Parking. 
4No. Spaces.
(Grassed Area)

Pupil 
Entrance

Post 16 
Entrance

Existing external area for Children's 
Home use

Circa 422m² 

Hardstanding areas surrounded by 
concrete boundary fencing with timber 
infills.  Double gates  - timber

Pedestrian 
Gate

ST FRANCIS SCHOOL

Existing Canopy

Existing gate and ramped access to 
field

1300

N5

Key:
Area of Proposed Development 

Building Primary Entrances

Vehicular Access / Egress Route

Existing Buildings

St Francis School and Residential Facility 
Site Boundary

Car Parking Spaces - 70No
Disabled Parking Spaces - 2No
Total Car Parking Spaces - 72No

Minibus Parking Spaces - 4No
Couch Parking Bays - 1No

Total Parking Provision - 77No

Existing St. Francis [Whole Site] Parking Provision:

1:1250

1:100

1:200

1000 3000 5000

1:500 5 15 25

10 30 50 70

M

mm

mm

M

5000 8000

Drawing Number

Original Size

Date

Scale

Drawn Checked Approved

© Kier Business Services Limited

A0
RIBA 2013 Stage

Status

Revision

NOTES

Drawing Title

Project Name

Internal Project Number

Issuing Office Telephone

Version Drawn 
& Date

Checked 
& Date

Approved 
& DateAmendment

E-mail

Client

Project Code Origin Volume Level Type Role Number

Scale:

This Document has been prepared by Kier Business Services Limited and no individual 
is personally liable in connection with the preparation of this Document. By receiving 
this Document and acting on it, the client or any other person accepts that no individual 
is personally liable whether in contract, tort, for breach of statutory duty or otherwise 
Kier Business Services Limited has used reasonable endeavours to provide 
information that is correct and accurate and the Document sets out reasonable 
conclusions that have been reached on the basis of the information available.

© Crown copyright and database rights 2017 Ordnance Survey 
0100056811. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you 
to respond to, or interact with, the organisation that provided you with 
the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell 
any of this data to third parties in any form. 

As indicated

CL SE LC06/09/21

P02

Stage 03

S3

Existing Site Plan

31992

Wickenby Childrens Home

Lincoln 07545 059016

carrie.lawrence@kier.co.uk

Lincolnshire County Council

31992-DBS-ZZ-XX-DR-A-1100

This Document is presented to Client Name in respect of the Project Nameand may
not be used or relied on by any other person or by the client in relation to any other
matters not covered specifically by the scope of this Document

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the Document, Kier Business
Services Limited is obliged to exercise reasonable skill, care and diligence in the
performance of the services required by Client Nameand Kier Business Services
Limited shall not be liable except to the extent that it has failed to exercise reasonable
skill, care and diligence, and this Document shall be read and construed accordingly.

Scale @ 1 : 250
Existing Site Plan1

P01 Stage 3 Issue CL
23/06/21

SE
24/06/21

LC
24/06/21

P02 Stage 3/Planning Issue CL
05/07/21

SE
05/07/21

LC
05/07/21

P
age 155



T
his page is intentionally left blank



UP

DN

St
or

ag
e

EXISTING LINCOLN ST FRANCIS 
SCHOOL BUILDING

NEW  
CANTILEVERED 
CANOPY TO MAIN 
ENTRANCE

SERVERY

N

EXISTING CANOPY TO BE CUT 
BACK.  CONNECTION WITH THE 
SCHOOL BUILDING IS NO 
LONGER REQUIRED. MAKE 
GOOD CANOPY.

Accommodation Legend

Children's Bedroom's

Social, Dining and Breakout
Spaces

Therapy Areas

Kitchen

Administration and Staff
Areas

Staff Residential
Accommodation

Sanitary Accommodation

Laundry

Storage, Ancillary and Plant
Areas

Circulation

EXISTING LINCOLN ST FRANCIS 

SCHOOL BUILDING

20.7 m²
Soft Play

R033

11.5 m²
Bedroom 04

R034

20.7 m²
Kitchen
R028

34.3 m²
Dining Area

R027

7.4 m²
ACC. Bathroom

R026 3.7 m²
WC/ Shower

R025

16.0 m²
Quiet Space

R035
1.6 m²
Store
R036

2.9 m²
Store
R037

12.9 m²
Acc bathroom

R019

3.8 m²
DWC
R020

13.7 m²
Play Room

R021

24.1 m²
Lounge
R017

19.3 m²
Circulation

R018

18.0 m²
Bedroom 01

R016
16.5 m²

Bedroom 02
R015

16.8 m²
Bedroom 03

R014

12.1 m²
Sensory Room

R012

16.7 m²
Lounge
R009

9.8 m²
Office
R0112.3 m²

Plant
R010

0.9 m²
Store
R007

12.5 m²
Laundry

R006
7.8 m²

Medication Room
R005

0.9 m²
Elec Store

R004

10.4 m²
Office/ Reception

R002

8.9 m²
Secure Entrance Lobby

R001

39.5 m²
Circulation

R003

3.0 m²
Stair
R038

0.8 m²
Store
R024

0.8 m²
Store
R023

10.6 m²
Calm Space

R008

MAIN 
ENTRANCE13.7 m²

Bedroom 05
R032

7.6 m²
Workshop/ External Store

R029

4.1 m²
Plant
R030

1.1 m²
Elec
R031

0.6 m²
Store
R022

3.3 m²
Store
R040

5.5 m²
Store
R039

4.5 m²
Lobby
R041

NEW GLAZED DOOR.  
CREATION OF 'CALM GARDEN'

NEW PATIO DOORS TO 
EXISTING S/O 
NEW DOOR BARRIERS 

NEW FULL 
HEIGHT WINDOW 
TO EXISTING 
DOOR S/O

EXISTING CILL HEIGHT RAISED 
TO ACCOMMODATE INTERNAL 
SOFT WALL COVERINGS.  
REQUIREMENTS TO BE 
DEFINED BY END USER.

NEW DOOR TO 
DINING AREA

AUTOMATED DOORS 

 FIXED STORAGE 
TALL UNITS

STORE 
ACCESS 
TBC

NEW HOIST

NEW HOIST.  
ROOM 
REQUIREMENTS 
TO BE DEFINED 
BY CLIENT

NEW  CEILING TRACK WITH 
DETACHABLE HOIST

NEW  CEILING TRACK WITH 
DETACHABLE HOIST

NEW  HOIST

NEW FENCE AND GATE TO 
'CALM GARDEN'

NEW HOIST NEW HOIST

NEW
 LINE OF 

CANOPY - TBC

REQUIREMENT FOR THIS 
AREA TO BE STERILE DUE 
TO BEING FIRE 
EVACUATION ROUTE

NEW 
PLANTER

ø 15
00

CANTILEVERED CANOPY 

REQUIREMENT FOR THIS 
AREA TO BE STERILE DUE 
TO BEING FIRE 
EVACUATION ROUTE

MAKE GOOD 
B/WORK 
FOLLOWING 
REMOVAL OF 
CANOPY

NEW LOBBY TO 
SOFT PLAY AREA

EXISTING TOILET AND WB TO 
BE RETAINED.  JACUZZI BATH 
[DIMS TBC] TO BE RELOCATED 
FROM STRUT HOUSE.

12.8 m²
Circulation

R042

30
0

500

NEW RENDER TO 
RECESSED PANELS

R025 STANDARD 
DOMESTIC BATHROOM

NEW FENCE AND GATE TO 
'GARDEN'

DOUBLE DOORS

SIXTH FORM FIRE ESCAPE 
ACCESS AND ACCESS TO 
RAMP

MAKE GOOD 
B/WORK 
FOLLOWING 
REMOVAL OF 
CANOPY

REQUIREMENT FOR THIS 
AREA TO BE STERILE DUE 
TO BEING FIRE 
EVACUATION ROUTE

REQUIREMENT FOR THIS 
AREA TO BE STERILE DUE 
TO BEING FIRE 
EVACUATION ROUTE

LISA BED 
to be 
provided 
by Client

NEW FENCE AND ACCESS 
CONTROL GATE 

15.6 m²
Circulation

R043

0.8 m²
Plant
R044

ø 1500

ø 1500

Rad

NEW HOIST

NEW FENCE AND ACCESS 
CONTROL GATE WITH 
INTERCOM TO CHILDRENS 
HOME

NEW FENCE AND ACCESS 
CONTROL GATE FROM 
EXTERNAL PLAY AREA

ø 1500
EXISTING FIXED RISE AND 
FALL SHOWER BED TO BE 
RELOCATED FROM STRUT 
HOUSE.

20.3 m²
Office/Storage/TBC

R111
5.4 m²

Bathroom
R105

8.7 m²
Kitchen
R106

12.6 m²
Office / Meeting / Storage

R109

29.5 m²
Meeting / Training Room

R110

0.7 m²
Sto.

R103

0.5 m²
Sto.

R115

EXISTING ROOF LIGHT

N

EXISTING METAL DECK ROOF 
SYSTEM WITH PROFILED 
METAL FASCIAS

EXISTING METAL 
DECK ROOF SYSTEM 
WITH PROFILED 
METAL FASCIAS

EXISTING LINCOLN ST FRANCIS 
SCHOOL BUILDING

Accommodation Legend

Children's Bedroom's

Social, Dining and Breakout
Spaces

Therapy Areas

Kitchen

Administration and Staff
Areas

Staff Residential
Accommodation

Sanitary Accommodation

Laundry

Storage, Ancillary and Plant
Areas

Circulation

NO WORKS TO EXISTING ROOF
DRAINAGE TO REMAIN AS EXISTING.

12.6 m²
Office/Storage/TBC

R112
8.7 m²
WC

R114

8.3 m²
Staff Bedroom

R104

17.3 m²
Conference Room

R107

10.1 m²
Stair
R101

10.6 m²
Circulation

R116

7.7 m²
Circulation

R102

11.3 m²
Office / Storage

R108

EXISTING LINCOLN ST FRANCIS SCHOOL BUILDING
NO WORKS TO EXISTING ROOF

NEW TRESPA CANTILEVERED  
CANOPY TO MAIN ENTRANCE 

NO WORKS TO EXISTING ROOF.
DRAINAGE TO REMAIN AS EXISTING

NO WORKS TO EXISTING ROOF.
DRAINAGE TO REMAIN AS EXISTING

EXISTING CANOPY TO BE CUT 
BACK 

NEW EXTERNAL 
RENDER SYSTEM 
COLOUR WHITE

NEW REPLACEMENT 
WINDOW RAL7016

NEW REPLACEMENT 
WINDOW RAL7016

NEW EXTERNAL 
RENDER SYSTEM 
COLOUR WHITE

NEW REPLACEMENT 
WINDOW RAL7016

1:1250

1:100

1:200

1000 3000 5000

1:500 5 15 25

10 30 50 70

M

mm

mm

M

5000 8000

Drawing Number

Original Size

Date

Scale

Drawn Checked Approved

© Kier Business Services Limited

A1
RIBA 2013 Stage

Status

Revision

NOTES

Drawing Title

Project Name

Internal Project Number

Issuing Office Telephone

Version Drawn 
& Date

Checked 
& Date

Approved 
& DateAmendment

E-mail

Client

Project Code Origin Volume Level Type Role Number

Scale:

This Document has been prepared by Kier Business Services Limited and no individual 
is personally liable in connection with the preparation of this Document. By receiving 
this Document and acting on it, the client or any other person accepts that no individual 
is personally liable whether in contract, tort, for breach of statutory duty or otherwise 
Kier Business Services Limited has used reasonable endeavours to provide 
information that is correct and accurate and the Document sets out reasonable 
conclusions that have been reached on the basis of the information available.

 1 : 100

RD LC JT23/03/21

P05

Stage 03

S3

Proposed GA Floor Plans - Ground and First
Floor

31992

Wickenby Childrens Home

Lincoln 07545 059016

carrie.lawrence@kier.co.uk

Lincolnshire County Council

31992-DBS-01-ZZ-DR-A-1210

This Document is presented to Client Name in respect of the Project Nameand may
not be used or relied on by any other person or by the client in relation to any other
matters not covered specifically by the scope of this Document

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the Document, Kier Business
Services Limited is obliged to exercise reasonable skill, care and diligence in the
performance of the services required by Client Nameand Kier Business Services
Limited shall not be liable except to the extent that it has failed to exercise reasonable
skill, care and diligence, and this Document shall be read and construed accordingly.

Scale @  1 : 100
Proposed Ground Floor GA1

Scale @  1 : 100
Proposed First Floor GA2

P01 First Issue RD
31/03/21

LC
01/04/21

JT
08/04/21

P03 Plans amended following Client comments CL
07/06/21

SE
07/06/21

LC
07/06/21

P04 Issued for costing CL
14/06/21

SE
14/06/21

LC
14/06/21

P02 Plans amended in line with comments from
MG

SE
13/05/21

CL
13/05/21

LC
15/05/21

P05 Plans Amended as Client requests CL
28/06/21

SE
28/06/21

LC
28/06/21

ALL FIRE ESCAPE DOORS IN CHILDRENS 
BEDROOMS AND SOCIAL AREAS TO BE ACCESS 
CONTROLLED,  ONLY TO BE RELEASED UPON 
ACTIVATION OF THE FIRE ALARM OR VIA STAFF FOB 
OVERIDE.

FIRE EVACUATION AND MANAGEMENT STRATEGIES 
TO BE DISCUSSED, INCLUDING IDENTIFICATION OF 
MUSTER POINTS.  LIAISON WITH LINCOLN ST 
FRANCIS SCHOOL REQUIRED TO ENSURE FULL 
COORDINATION OF THE SITE LAYOUT.  SECURE 
LINE, GATES AND FENCES TBA WITH SCHOOLS.

THROUGHFARE / QUIET AREAS ARE TO HAVE AN 
ENHANCED LIGHTING DESIGN DUE TO CONCERNS 
OVER NATURAL DAYLIGHTING LEVELS.  
CONSIDERATION IS TO BE GIVEN TO THE USE OF 
ADJUSTABLE / DIMMABLE CONTROLS AND FITTINGS.

ALL INTERNAL BEDROOM DOORS TO HAVE A 
REMOVABLE STOP, TO ALLOW TWIN SWING FOR 
EXTERNAL ACCESS IN LIMITED CIRCUMSTANCES.

PERSPEX SCREENS ARE TO BE FITTED TO THE 
INTERNAL FACE OF ALL BEDROOM WINDOW 
OPENINGS, FOR SAFEGUARDING PURPOSES

ALLOW FOR ALL NEW EXTERNAL WINDOWS AND 
DOORS AT GROUND FLOOR LEVEL, REFER TO 
ELEVATIONS AND DEMOLITION PLANS FOR FIRST 
FLOOR WINDOWS.

INTEGRATED BLINDS TO BE INSTALLED WITHIN 
PERSPEX SCREENS AND DOORS TO CHILDRENS 
BEDROOMS.  OTHER SOLAR CONTROL MEASURES 
TBC BY END USER.

P
age 157



T
his page is intentionally left blank



       
 

Open Report on behalf of James Drury - Executive Director - Commercial 

 

Report to: Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee 

Date: 19 November 2021 

Subject: Spalding Academy Basic Need Project 

Decision Reference:   Key decision? No   

Summary:  

This report invites the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee to consider a 
report on the Spalding Academy Basic Need Project, which is being presented to the 
Leader of the Council and Executive Councillor for Resources, Communications and 
Commissioning, and the Executive Councillor for People Management, Legal and 
Corporate Property for a decision between 23 and 30 November 2021. 
 
The views of the Committee will be reported to the Executive Councillors as part of 
their consideration of this item. 
 
 

Actions Required:  

The Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee is invited to: - 
 
1) Consider the attached report and to determine whether the Committee 

supports the recommendations to the Executive Councillors as set out in the 
report. 

 
2) Agree any additional comments to be passed on to the Executive Councillors in 

relation to this item. 
 

 
1. Background 
 
The Leader of the Council and Executive Councillor for Resources, Communications and 
Commissioning, and the Executive Councillor for People Management, Legal and 
Corporate Property are due to consider a report on the Spalding Academy Basic Need 
Project between 23 and 30 November 2021. 

 

 

 

Page 159

Agenda Item 8



2. Conclusion 
 
Following consideration of the attached report, the Committee is requested to consider 
whether it supports the recommendations in the report and whether it wishes to make 
any additional comments to the Executive Councillors.  Comments from the Committee 
will be reported to the Executive Councillors.  
 
 
3. Consultation 

 
The Committee is being consulted on the proposed decision of the Executive Councillors 
between 23 and 30 November 2021.   
 

 

 

 

 
 

 
4. Appendices 

 

These are listed below and attached at the back of the report 

Appendix 1 Spalding Academy Basic Need Project to be presented to the Executive 
Councillors between 23 and 30 November 2021 

Appendix A Proposed Floor Plans 

Appendix B Proposed Elevations 

 
 

5. Background Papers 
 
No Background Papers within section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 were used 
in the preparation of this Report.  
 
 
This report was written by Matthew Stapleton, Senior Project Manager - Corporate 
Property, who can be contacted on 07766 384257 or 
matthew.stapleton@lincolnshire.gov.uk.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 160

mailto:matthew.stapleton@lincolnshire.gov.uk


       
 

Open Report on behalf of James Drury - Executive Director - Commercial 

 

Report to: 

Councillor R D Butroid, Executive Councillor for People 
Management, Legal and Corporate Property 
 
Councillor M J Hill OBE, Leader of the Council and Executive 
Councillor for Resources, Communications and Commissioning 
 

Date: Between 23 and 30 November 2021 

Subject: Spalding Academy Basic Need Project 

Decision Reference: I025139 

Key decision? Yes  
 

Summary:  

Children's Services has identified that additional secondary age pupil places are required 
to meet increased demand in the Spalding area. Discussions have been held with the 
Regional School's Commissioner (RSC) and the South Lincolnshire Academy Trust and it 
has been agreed that Spalding Academy will look to increase its pupil numbers from a 
PAN of 270 to a PAN of 300 (total increase in capacity of 150 places) in order to meet the 
need for places and discharge Lincolnshire County Council’s (LCC) legal obligations. 
 
It was agreed that, in order to achieve this increase, a new classroom block would be 
required, together with the conversion of existing spaces within the school to provide 
new teaching spaces. 
 
This report provides a scheme appraisal and recommendation for the procurement of 
the expansion and remodelling to Spalding Academy. 

 
 

Recommendation(s): 

 
That the Leader of the Council and Executive Councillor for Resources, Communications 
and Commissioning approves the scheme appraisal for the carrying out of works to 
provide a new classroom block and the conversion of existing spaces at Spalding 
Academy. 

 
That the Executive Councillor for People Management, Legal Services and Corporate 
Property:- 

 

Page 161



1) approves the Council entering into a construction contract for the provision of a 
new classroom block and the conversion of existing spaces at Spalding Academy; 
and 
 

2) delegates to the Executive Director – Commercial authority to determine the final 
form and approve the entering into of the final contract under 1) above. 

 
 

Alternatives Considered: 

 Do nothing - This option is not recommended as it will not meet the legal 
requirement of the Council to deliver sufficient school places for children in the 
County. 

 

 Deliver a reduced project – All efforts have been made to keep the scope and cost 
of the scheme down to a suitable level. Whilst some small level of saving might be 
possible, it is not feasible to further reduce the scope and cost without 
fundamentally impacting on the required expansion of the school. 

 

 Procurement – A framework contract for delivery has been considered but the new 
classroom block is considered to be a low risk build which will not require early 
contractor involvement in the design process. Therefore, in order to try and achieve 
best value for the Council, it is felt that a traditional single stage tender route should 
be used. 

 
 

Reasons for Recommendation: 

Approval is sought for the construction of the expansion and enhancement of Spalding 
Academy because: 
 
1. In order to deliver the required secondary school spaces by October 2022 it is 

necessary to begin construction on site in January 2022. 
 
2. Appointment of a contractor, through the use of a single stage tender, provides best 

value for money given the risk profile and nature of the project. 
 

3. The project delivers the objectives of the Basic Need Programme for the Spalding 
area of the County. Principally:  

 

 It will ensure there are sufficient secondary school places in the Spalding area. 

 It will reduce travel times for pupils as they will have access to a local school that 
will meet all needs. 

 They will have access to education in their local community.  

 The whole new building will be fully accessible and offer flexibility to meet the 
changing needs of future cohorts. 
 

Page 162



1. Background 
 

1.1. Spalding Academy is the only large, non-selective secondary school in Spalding, 
with a current PAN/intake of 270 pupils.  
 

1.2. Projections indicate a potential shortfall of around 1FE (up to 30 places) from 2022 
onwards if no action is taken to create additional permanent capacity. 

 
1.3. This follows on from the increase in primary school pupil numbers in recent years 

which has seen some expansion work at several primary schools in the area, along 
with the opening and subsequent expansion of the new Wygate Park Primary 
Academy. 

 
1.4. This pressure on secondary school numbers is not only as a result of the size of the 

cohorts coming through from primary, but also due to the success of the South 
Lincs Academy Trust (SLAT) and the improvement in parental preference, taking 
the school from being significantly under-subscribed to being popular and now 
over-subscribed. 

 
1.5. Spalding Academy was previously two single-sex, non-selective schools which were 

merged. This has meant that the layout and existing facilities have presented a 
challenge, requiring a solution which is proportionately more costly than in other 
schools’ expansions. 

 
1.6. There are however few alternatives in the Spalding area without a significant 

impact on pupil travel times, school transport costs and parental preference. 
 
1.7. It has therefore been necessary to create additional capacity at Spalding Academy 

and work with SLAT on a permanent solution. This will ensure that the Council 
meets its statutory duty in relation to school places and that the local community 
has access to the places they require. 

 
2. Procurement 

 
2.1. The construction of the scheme will be procured in accordance with the Council's 

finance and procurement regulations. 
 

2.2. It is proposed that the contractor will be selected using a traditional single-stage 
tender approach. This proposal was arrived at in collaboration with Vinci/Kier, 
based on the perceived low level of risk involved in the project.  This approach 
offers the following benefits: 

 

 Market value costs, guaranteeing lowest competitive pricing. 
 
 
 
  

Page 163



3. Scope of Works 
 
3.1. Spalding Academy expansion is aligned to the Basic Need provision of pupil places 

in Lincolnshire.  It is proposed to be expanded from a PAN of 270 to 300 pupils. The 
additional capacity will be achieved by building a new block and remodelling of 
some existing spaces. On completion the school will have sufficient capacity and 
the enhanced resources and facilities required to meet all the requirements of a 
modern secondary academy.  

 
3.2. The new build accommodation will provide eight general teaching classrooms as 

well as small group spaces, staff room and hygiene facilities. It extends to 
approximately 737m2 with eight classrooms each of approximately 65m2, in line 
with Building Bulletin 103 guidance.  

 
3.3. The block is of steel frame construction with brick cladding and aluminium framed 

windows. Roofing is a flat roof with raised parapet around the edge (please see 
attached plans and elevations for details). 

 
3.4. The intention is for construction work on the new block to commence in January 

2022, for completion in October 2022.  
 
3.5. In addition to the new classroom block, the existing school will also undergo some 

remodelling work to provide two new IT classrooms and two new science labs, 
with an associated prep room and chemical store.  

 
3.6. Work will also be undertaken to remove the existing stage in the main hall in order 

to increase its capacity for exams. It is already undersized and with the further 
expansion in pupil numbers, additional space is required. 

 
3.7. The total allocated project budget is £3.5m. This will be funded from the Basic 

Need Allocation.  
 
 
4.  Project Budget  
 
The project budget of the new school is estimated to be £3.67m, the breakdown of cost is 
as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 164



Construction Budget 

Item Cost  

Structure - New Block £299,992 

Internal Finishes and Fittings - New Block  £170,553 
 

Internal Finishes and Fittings - Classrooms  £117,663 

Internal Finishes and Fittings - Hall  £16,640 
 

New Building £1,691,000 

Remodelling Works - Classrooms £468,688 

Hall work £70,115 
 

Facilitating and External Works - Classwork £25,831 
 

Contractor's Preliminaries £242,228 

Subtotal Construction Budget £3,102,710 

    

Kier Technical Fees £446,050 

Project Risk £124,317 

Total Project Budget £3,673,077                                         

 

5.  Value for money 
 

5.1. Using technical expertise via the partnership with Kier ensures that all costs are 
consistent with industry averages. Corporate Property refers to the Building Cost 
Information Service (BCIS). The BCIS is part of the Royal Institution of Chartered 
Surveyors and is a provider of cost and price information for the UK construction 
industry.  
 

5.2. The project at Spalding is a mixture of new build and remodelling of the existing 
property. For comparison purposes the new build and remodelling elements have 
been compared to BCIS independently (see below). This is the only way that a 
scheme like this can be benchmarked.  

 
5.3. BCIS will not take into account abnormals because these cannot be forecast or 

reasonably assumed by a national database. Abnormals are site specific and tend 
to be unique to each project.  

 
For clarity, an abnormal is defined by the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors 
(RICS) as: 
 
‘…costs other than those typically encountered for the project funding route, 
including costs accruing due to circumstances outside the project manager’s 
control. Examples of abnormal costs include those arising from issues such as: 
access constraints, legacy data issues, unforeseen events due to the nature of the 
assessment of works, statutory bodies and listed buildings.’ 

 

Page 165



5.4. The new build construction budget for Spalding Academy without the abnormal, 
external and remodelling costs is £2.403 million.  This represents a cost of £3,261 
per m² for the new build element.  See the table below: 

 

BCIS Comparison - New Build 
  

  
  

Spalding 
Academy 

BCIS average 

Construction Budget £3,102,710   
  
  
  
  
  

Less Classroom works £586,351 

Less Externals £25,831 

Less Hall Works £86,755 

Sub Total £2,403,773 

New Build Area 737m² 

Cost per m² £3,261 / m² £4,444 / m² 

 

5.5. The BCIS data shows that the new build part of the project is £1,183 per m² lower 
than the BCIS comparison and falls within the normal range for this type of build. 
 

5.6. In respect of the cost of remodelling, the BCIS information indicates a figure of 
£2,374 per m² at the upper end of the range of costs for this element.  The 
comparative budget cost for the classroom remodelling element of the Spalding 
Academy project is £1,621 per m². 

 

BCIS Comparison - Classroom Remodelling 

  Spalding BCIS 

  Academy Information 

Remodelling Budget £586,351   
  Remodelling Area 361.5m² 

Cost per m² £1,621/ m² £2,374 / m² 

 

5.7. This equates to £753 less per m2 than the level expected by reference to BCIS 
upper levels. 

 

6. Design approval process: 
 

6.1. In keeping with previous school expansion schemes, a series of meetings were held 
with representatives from the school and SLAT to agree the baseline schedule of 
accommodation. The final schedule of accommodation is based on the DfE Building 
Bulletin guidance, which outlines the spaces that should be contained within a 
standard school building and certain standards pertaining to these. 

 

Page 166



6.2. Representatives from LCC’s Corporate Property and Kier Design Services met with 
SLAT’s Head of Estates, Spalding Academy’s Head Teacher and Deputy Head 
Teacher, to discuss overall design principles and to identify what types of spaces 
were essential. This ensured that the Local Authority (LA) would be building 
schools based on the needs of children and young people, and the education 
leaders involved were able to provide specialist knowledge on accommodation 
requirements and the existing site.  

 
6.3. Members of the Project and Design teams were fully aware of the need to ensure 

that best value for money was achieved and of the likely financial pressures to the 
scheme. Regard to value for money was given at all stages of the design process 
and has informed both the design of the new block and the refurbished areas in 
the existing school. 

 
7. Cost Control 

 
Given the level of uncertainty within the construction industry Corporate Property, 
alongside Kier Project Managers and Quantity Surveyors, actively manages all contractors 
delivering the capital programme and has sought opportunities to reduce costs in the 
design process, whilst meeting all of the essential requirements of the Basic Need 
programme. Various measures have been undertaken: 
 
7.1. The Schedule of Accommodation (a document which describes how much and 

what type of space is needed) has been developed to deliver only the spaces 
required under DfE Building Bulletin guidance.  By taking this approach the Council 
is only meeting the minimum requirements for delivering suitable education space 
in Lincolnshire.  

 
7.2. All of the decisions above have been taken in partnership and with support from 

Children's Services, Head Teacher and the South Lincs Academy Trust.  
 
By only building what is needed and consistently challenging costs, Corporate Property 
can provide assurance that the capital build will meet the Academy’s needs in an 
appropriate and cost effective manner. 
 
 
8. Impact of Covid-19 and Brexit 

 
There are significant cost pressures within the construction industry arising from a 
shortage of labour and materials within the supply chain. Corporate Property is typically 
seeing cost inflation in the order of 7.5% - 10% above expected levels. 
 
This is a local, regional, national and global issue which impacts on all capital projects. The 
reasons for the supply chain shortage are multi-faceted and often interdependent: 
 

Page 167



8.1. Global supply chains have been severely disrupted by Covid-19. For example, 
factory shut-downs and industry running at reduced capacity has created supply 
problems for materials from semi-conductors through to timber. 

 
8.2. Brexit is disrupting the smooth inflow of goods into the UK; this is because 

additional checks at ports have created a backlog in clearing containers. This is also 
compounded by the HGV driver shortage meaning that shipping containers are 
taking much longer to be distributed from ports, contributing to longer lead-in 
times. 

 
8.3. There is a global shortage of shipping containers, leading to astonishing 

inflationary pressures on the cost of shipping freight. The price for a 40ft container 
from China to Europe has risen by nearly 500%, as of April 2021.  

 
8.4. There has been a significant upsurge in demand as the UK economy emerges from 

lockdown; this is also replicated in the United States of America which is 
competing for the same source materials as the UK. The United States recently 
committed to legislation which allocates $1.2 trillion for infrastructure projects. 

 
8.5. There is a shortage of labour within the construction industry as a result of migrant 

workers returning to their home country and from high profile, high spend 
construction activity like HS2; this has driven up costs through increased wage 
demand.  

 
8.6. Social distancing has pushed up costs due to increased cleaning and more welfare 

facilities required on site and Covid-19 is still leading to supply chain disruption due 
to positive tests and self-isolation.  

 
8.7. The lack of qualified HGV drivers, due to the UK skills gap, ageing workforce, etc., is 

impacting on the timely delivery of materials to merchants and to construction 
sites, leading to potential delays for project completion. 

 
8.8. There is an overall risk budget in this project of £124,317 to cater for unforeseen 

design and construction risks. 

 

9. Legal Issues: 
 
Academies Act 2010 
 
A ‘Significant Expansion’ is defined in the Academies Act 2010 ("AA 2010") as an 
enlargement that increases the overall physical capacity of an academy (as recorded in its 
funding agreement) so that it can increase its overall teaching space enabling the school to 
provide places for more than 30 additional pupils. 
 
The proposal is to expand capacity at the Spalding Academy by increasing the PAN from 
270 to 300 (total increase in capacity of 150), and to carry out the construction and 

Page 168



remodelling works for which this Report seeks approval to create the increased teaching 
space required. 
  
RSC approval is required before a Significant Expansion can take place, and the application 
for such approval must be made by the Academy Trust. 
 
RSC approval for the significant change which is the subject of this Report was confirmed 
by the Academy Trust on 6 July 2021. 
 
Additionally, where the significant change impacts on school land, for example an 
academy trust wants to build on playing field land, it is likely to necessitate a separate 
consent of the Secretary of State (SoS) via a land transaction application. Approval of a 
significant change application does not provide or imply SoS's approval for any land 
transaction required to deliver the approved project. The land transaction will require a 
separate application by the Academy Trust to the SoS for consent. 
 
Communications are ongoing between the Council and the Academy Trust to verify 
whether a land transaction approval is required from the SoS. 
 
The Council must wait to receive verification that the Academy Trust has obtained any 
necessary consent from the SoS before the proposed expansion of capacity can be 
implemented. 
 
These issues will be addressed prior to the decision to award a contract under the 
delegated authority granted by numbered recommendation 2. 
 
 
Equality Act 2010 
 
Under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, the Council must, in the exercise of its 
functions, have due regard to the need to: 
 

 Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 
prohibited by or under the Act. 

 Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

 Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

 
The relevant protected characteristics are age; disability; gender reassignment; pregnancy 
and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; and sexual orientation. 
 
Having due regard to the need to advance equality of opportunity involves having due 
regard, in particular, to the need to: 
 

 Remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic. 

Page 169



 Take steps to meet the needs of persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not share it. 

 Encourage persons who share a relevant protected characteristic to participate in 
public life or in any other activity in which participation by such persons is 
disproportionately low. 

 
The steps involved in meeting the needs of disabled persons that are different from the 
needs of persons who are not disabled include, in particular, steps to take account of 
disabled persons' disabilities. 
 
Having due regard to the need to foster good relations between persons who share a 
relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it involves having due 
regard, in particular, to the need to tackle prejudice, and promote understanding. 
 
Compliance with the duties in section 149 may involve treating some persons more 
favourably than others. 
 
The duty cannot be delegated and must be discharged by the decision-maker.  To 
discharge the statutory duty the decision-maker must analyse all the relevant material 
with the specific statutory obligations in mind.  If a risk of adverse impact is identified 
consideration must be given to measures to avoid that impact as part of the decision 
making process. 
 

An Equality Impact Analysis has not been completed but the proposed works are 
considered to have a neutral impact on those that have a protected characteristic and 
those that do not in that the works will meet appropriate standards for accessibility and 
improve the learning and working environment of all pupils and attending the buildings. 
 
The design of the new block and refurbished areas will help students with disabilities fully 
engage in education and feel more included within the life of the school. 
 

 
Joint Strategic Needs Analysis (JSNA) and the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) 
 
The Council must have regard to the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) and the 
Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) in coming to a decision. 
 

The Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy prioritises the needs of children and young 
people with Special Educational Needs and/or Disabilities (SEND) through the objective:  
 

 Ensure appropriate support services are in place for pupils with a special educational 
need and/or a disability. 

 
Whilst the Spalding Academy project does not directly address this objective, the design of 
the new block and refurbished areas will help students with disabilities fully engage in 
education and feel more included within the life of the school. 
 

Page 170



 
Crime and Disorder 
 
Under section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, the Council must exercise its various 
functions with due regard to the likely effect of the exercise of those functions on, and the 
need to do all that it reasonably can to prevent crime and disorder in its area (including 
anti-social and other behaviour adversely affecting the local environment), the misuse of 
drugs, alcohol and other substances in its area and re-offending in its area. 
 

 
 
10. Conclusion 

Lincolnshire County Council has identified a need to increase capacity of secondary school 
places in Spalding and to provide suitable education for all students.  The proposed 
expansion and remodelling of Spalding Academy will deliver this requirement and the 
award of the construction contract will enable this to proceed. 
 
 

11. Legal Comments: 
 

The proposed works are designed to fulfil the Council's statutory duty to provide 
sufficient school places for its area. 
 
The Council has the power to enter into the contract proposed and the proposed 
procurement route is compliant with the Council's legal obligations. 
 
The decisions are consistent with the Policy Framework and within the remits of the 
Executive Councillors.   
 

 

12. Resource Comments: 
 

The recommendations to approve the scheme appraisal for the basic needs works for the 
expansion and remodelling of Spalding Academy and to approve the entering into a 
construction contract will enable the Council to fulfil their statutory duty in providing 
sufficient secondary school places in the area, to meet future demands from September 
2022. 
 
The total project cost for the scheme is £3.673m. Funding has been earmarked from 
S106 developer contributions (£0.414m) and the remainder through government Basic 
Need grant funding (£3.259m). 
 

The section 17 matters have been taken into account but there are not considered to be 
any implications for the section 17 matters arising out of the decision. 
 

Page 171



The report outlines value for money comparisons to BCIS. The scheme is below the mean 
BCIS cost per m² for the new build construction, and this is also the case for the 
remodelling works. The scheme will go through a competitive tender process to secure 
best price at this time, however unfavourable market conditions and economic 
uncertainty do continue to exist. 
 

 
13. Consultation 

 
a)  Has Local Member Been Consulted? 

Yes  
 

b)  Has Executive Councillor Been Consulted?  

Yes 

c)  Scrutiny Comments 

The decision will be considered by the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee at 
its meeting on 19 November 2021 and the comments of the Committee will be provided 
to the Executive Councillors. 

 

 

 

 

d)  Risks and Impact Analysis 

See the body of the Report. 
 

 
14. Appendices 

 

These are listed below and attached at the back of the report 

Appendix A Proposed Floor Plans 

Appendix B Proposed Elevations 

 
 

15. Background Papers 
 
No Background Papers within the meaning of section 100D of the Local Government Act 
1972 were used in the preparation of this Report. 
 
 
This report was written by Matthew Stapleton, Senior Project Manager - Corporate 
Property, who can be contacted on 07766 384257 or 
matthew.stapleton@lincolnshire.gov.uk.  
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

Page 172

mailto:matthew.stapleton@lincolnshire.gov.uk


UP

UP

DN

DN

56.7 m²
Classroom

R0003

57.4 m²
Classroom

R0002

34.2 m²
Circulation

R0001

56.4 m²
Classroom

R0012

56.9 m²
Classroom

R0011

11.0 m²
Plant Room

R0009

33.9 m²
Circulation

R0004

4.7 m²
Server
R0008

37.5 m²
Circulation

R0013

22.5 m²
WC's

R0006

R0010

Type Type Legend

Circulation

Classroom

Plant

Staff & Admin

Store

Toilets & Changing

AWC
R0007

Store
R0005

2.8 m²
Utility/Store

R1005

56.7 m²
Classroom

R1003

57.4 m²
Classroom

R1002

34.2 m²
Circulation

R1001

56.4 m²
Classroom

R1011

56.9 m²
Classroom

R1010

16.6 m²
Staff Room

R1009

4.0 m²
AWC

R1007

38.5 m²
Circulation

R1012

22.5 m²
WC's
R1006

R1008

34.6 m²
Circulation

R1004

Key

Main Entrance

Escape Door

Plant Room Door

Disabled Refuge

N

3° 3°

01

02

Drawing Number

Original Size

Date

Scale

Drawn Checked Approved

© Kier Business Services Limited

A1
RIBA 2013 Stage

Status

Revision

NOTES

Drawing Title

Project Name

Internal Project Number

Issuing Office Telephone

Version
Drawn 
& Date

Checked 
& Date

Approved 
& Date

Amendment

E-mail

Client

Project Code Origin Volume Level Type Role Number

1 : 100

P01

RG RM NR

Stage 04

S3

GA Plans

32094

Spalding Academy - 1FE Expansion

Lincoln 07892702655

Rachel.Mosley@kier.co.uk

Lincolnshire County Council

32094-DBS-01-ZZ-DR-A-2000

This Drawing is  presented to Lincolnshire County Council in respect of Spalding
Academy - 1FE Expansion and may not be used or relied on by any other person or

by the client in relation to any other matters not covered specifically by the scope of
this  Drawing.Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the Drawing, Kier Business
Services Limited is obliged to exercise reasonable skill, care and diligence in the
performance of the services required by Lincolnshire County Council and Kier

Business Services Limited shall not be liable, except to the extent that it has failed to
exercise reasonable skill, care and diligence, and this  Drawing shall be read and
construed accordingly.

This Drawing has been prepared by Kier Business Services Limited and no
individual is personally liable in connection with the preparation of this Drawing. By

receiving this Drawing and acting on it, the client or any other person accepts that
no individual is personally liable whether in contract, tort, for breach of statutory duty
or otherwise. Kier Business Services Limited has used reasonable endeavours to
provide information that is correct and accurate and the Drawing sets out

reasonable conclusions that have been reached on the basis of the information
available.

21/04/2021

P01 First Issue. RG
06/09/21

RM
06/09/21

NR
06/09/21

1 : 100

Ground Floor General Arrangement Plan
1 1 : 100

First Floor General Arrangement Plan
2 1 : 100

Roof Plan General Arrangement
3

Rainwater Calculations

Total Flat Roof Area = 368.4m²

Slope A Area = 193.3m²
Slope B Area = 175.1m²

Design Flow from Roof

Q = rAC

Q = Design Flow (l/s)
r = Rainfall intensity (l/s per m²)

A = Catchment Area (m²)
C = Run-off Coefficient

r = 0.055

AA = 193.3
AB = 175.1
C = 1 (recommened value)

QA = 0.055 x 193.3 x 1 = 10.6 

QB = 0.055 x 175.1 x 1 = 9.6

Division of Flow Loads between Outlets

The design has 2 outlets per face of roof (4 

in total) so

Qx = Q / 2

QA = 10.6 / 2 = 5.3 l/s

QB = 9.6 / 2 =   4.8 l/s

Note Block - Roof GA

Note Number Note Text

01 Slope A Roof Area - 193.3m²

02 Slope B Roof Area - 175.1m²

P
age 173



T
his page is intentionally left blank



3000 mm

000 - Ground Floor

6675 mm

010 - First  Floor

10350 mm

020 - Roof

11175 mm

030 - Parapet

3000 mm

000 - Ground Floor

6675 mm

010 - First  Floor

10350 mm

020 - Roof

11175 mm

030 - Parapet

3000 mm

000 - Ground Floor

6675 mm

010 - First  Floor

10350 mm

020 - Roof

11175 mm

030 - Parapet

3000 mm

000 - Ground Floor

6675 mm

010 - First  Floor

10350 mm

020 - Roof

11175 mm

030 - Parapet

Main Entrance

1

3

4 2

Key Plan

N

Key

1. Stepped Brick Detail. See drawing 32094-DBS-01-

ZZ-DR-A-3201.

2. Window Frame with Integral Louvre System  to 

allow mechanical ventilation. RAL Colour TBC

3. Windows are to sit in a framed reveal which will 

protrudes from the face of the brickwork approximately 

60mm. The external face and nose of the frame are to 

match the window frame colour with a coloured TBC 

internal reveal which will contrast the brickwork 

(indicated by the yellow faces).

4. Preformed Aluminium Parapet Cap Dark Grey.

5. Internal gutter connected to hopper and 

powdercoated aluminium downpipe.

6. Curtain Walling with integrated Main Entrance. Dark 

Grey, RAL Colour TBC.

7. Windows: Powdercoated aluminium frames. Dark 

Grey, RAL Colour TBC. 

8. Doors: Powdercoated aluminium glazed doors. Dark 

Grey, RAL Colour TBC.

9. RWP: Powdercoated aluminium 100x100 Square 

Section, Dark Grey, RAL Colour TBC.

10. Main Entrance.

11. Brick on Edge Reveal Detail.

12. Stainless steel door hoop, with integrated latches to 

hold open doors.

8 10 11

1 2 3 4 5

67

9 14

12

Notes 

Accessible WC is duplicated on GF and 

FF.

This drawing is to be read in conjunction 
with:

Detailed Plans:
32094-DBS-01-ZZ-DR-A-2100

32094-DBS-01-ZZ-DR-A-2101

Detailed Elevations:
32094-DBS-01-ZZ-DR-A-3100

32094-DBS-01-ZZ-DR-A-3101

32094-DBS-01-ZZ-DR-A-3102

32094-DBS-01-ZZ-DR-A-3103

Door Schedule:
32094-DBS-01-ZZ-DR-A-7200

Window Schedule:
32094-DBS-01-ZZ-DR-A-7300

Curtain Wall Schedule:
32094-DBS-01-ZZ-DR-A-7350

NBS Specification:
32094-DBS-XX-XX-SP-A-0200

Do not scale from this drawing.

Drawing Number

Original Size

Date

Scale

Drawn Checked Approved

© Kier Business Services Limited

A1
RIBA 2013 Stage

Status

Revision

NOTES

Drawing Title

Project Name

Internal Project Number

Issuing Office Telephone

Version
Drawn 
& Date

Checked 
& Date

Approved 
& Date

Amendment

E-mail

Client

Project Code Origin Volume Level Type Role Number

© Crown copyright and database rights 2017 Ordnance Survey 
0100056811. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you 
to respond to, or interact with, the organisation that provided you with 
the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell 
any of this data to third parties in any form. 

1 : 100

P01

RG RM NR

Stage 04

S3

GA Elevations

32094

Spalding Academy - 1FE Expansion

Lincoln 07892702655

Rachel.Mosley@kier.co.uk

Lincolnshire County Council

32094-DBS-01-ZZ-DR-A-3000

This Drawing is  presented to Lincolnshire County Council in respect of Spalding
Academy - 1FE Expansion and may not be used or relied on by any other person or

by the client in relation to any other matters not covered specifically by the scope of
this  Drawing.Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the Drawing, Kier Business
Services Limited is obliged to exercise reasonable skill, care and diligence in the
performance of the services required by Lincolnshire County Council and Kier

Business Services Limited shall not be liable, except to the extent that it has failed to
exercise reasonable skill, care and diligence, and this  Drawing shall be read and
construed accordingly.

This Drawing has been prepared by Kier Business Services Limited and no
individual is personally liable in connection with the preparation of this Drawing. By

receiving this Drawing and acting on it, the client or any other person accepts that
no individual is personally liable whether in contract, tort, for breach of statutory duty
or otherwise. Kier Business Services Limited has used reasonable endeavours to
provide information that is correct and accurate and the Drawing sets out

reasonable conclusions that have been reached on the basis of the information
available.

24/04/21

P01 First Issue. RG
06/09/21

RM
06/09/21

NR
06/09/21

1 : 100

North Elevation - Planning
1 1 : 100

East Elevation - Planning
2

1 : 100

South Elevation - Planning
3 1 : 100

West Elevation - Planning
4

Facade Detail View 02
5

P
age 175



T
his page is intentionally left blank



       
 

Open Report on behalf of James Drury - Executive Director - Commercial 

 

Report to: Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee 

Date: 19 November 2021 

Subject: Stamford Welland Academy Basic Need Project 

Decision Reference:   Key decision? No   

Summary:  

This report invites the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee to consider a 
report on the Stamford Welland Academy Basic Need Project, which is being presented 
to the Leader of the Council and Executive Councillor for Resources, Communications 
and Commissioning, and the Executive Councillor for People Management, Legal and 
Corporate Property for a decision between 23 and 30 November 2021. 
 
The views of the Committee will be reported to the Executive Councillors as part of 
their consideration of this item. 
 
 

Actions Required:  

The Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee is invited to: - 
 
1) Consider the attached report and to determine whether the Committee 

supports the recommendations to the Executive Councillors as set out in the 
report. 

 
2) Agree any additional comments to be passed on to the Executive Councillors in 

relation to this item. 
 

 
1. Background 
 
The Leader of the Council and Executive Councillor for Resources, Communications and 
Commissioning, and the Executive Councillor for People Management, Legal and 
Corporate Property are due to consider a report on the Stamford Welland Academy Basic 
Need Project between 23 and 30 November 2021. 

 

 

 

Page 177

Agenda Item 9



2. Conclusion 
 
Following consideration of the attached report, the Committee is requested to consider 
whether it supports the recommendations in the report and whether it wishes to make 
any additional comments to the Executive Councillors.  Comments from the Committee 
will be reported to the Executive Councillors.  
 
 
3. Consultation 

 
The Committee is being consulted on the proposed decision of the Executive Councillors 
between 23 and 30 November 2021.   
 

 

 

 

 
 

 
4. Appendices 

 

These are listed below and attached at the back of the report 

Appendix 1 Stamford Welland Academy Basic Need Project to be presented to the 
Executive Councillors between 23 and 30 November 2021 

Appendix A Proposed Ground Floor Plan 

Appendix B Proposed Elevations 

 
 

5. Background Papers 
 
No Background Papers within section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 were used 
in the preparation of this Report.  
 
This report was written by Matthew Stapleton, Senior Project Manager - Corporate 
Property, who can be contacted on 07766 384257 or 
matthew.stapleton@lincolnshire.gov.uk.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 178

mailto:matthew.stapleton@lincolnshire.gov.uk


      
 

Open Report on behalf of James Drury - Executive Director - Commercial 

 

Report to: 

Councillor R D Butroid, Executive Councillor for People 
Management, Legal and Corporate Property 
 
Councillor M J Hill OBE, Leader of the Council and Executive 
Councillor for Resources, Communications and Commissioning 
 

Date: Between 23 and 30 November 2021 

Subject: Stamford Welland Academy Basic Need Project 

Decision Reference: I025140 

Key decision? Yes  
 

Summary:  

Children's Services has identified that additional secondary age pupil places are 
required to meet increased demand in the Stamford area. Discussions have been held 
with the Regional Schools Commissioner and the Cambridge Meridian Academies Trust 
(CMAT) and it has been agreed that Stamford Welland Academy will look to increase 
its pupil numbers from a PAN of 120 to 150 (total increase in capacity of 150 places) in 
order to meet the need for places and meet Lincolnshire County Council’s (LCC) legal 
obligations around pupil places. 
 
It was agreed that, in order to achieve this increase, two new science labs and 
associated prep room would be required, together with the conversion of existing 
spaces within the school to provide new toilets as the school is currently under served. 
 
This report provides a scheme appraisal and recommendation for the procurement of 
the expansion and remodelling to Stamford Welland Academy. 

 
 

Recommendation(s): 

That the Leader of the Council and Executive Councillor for Resources, 
Communications and Commissioning approves the scheme appraisal for the 
procurement of the expansion and remodelling of Stamford Welland Academy. 
 
That the Executive Councillor for People Management, Legal Services and Corporate 
Property:-  
 
 

Page 179



1) approves the Council entering into a construction contract for works for the 
expansion and remodelling of Stamford Welland Academy; and  

 
2) Delegates to the Executive Director – Commercial authority to determine the 

final form and approve the entering into of the final contract under 1) above. 
 

 

Alternatives Considered: 

• Do nothing - This option is not recommended as it will not meet the requirements 
of the Council to deliver sufficient school places for children in the County. 

 
• Build at an alternative school – Welland Academy is not the only school in the 

Stamford area but it is best placed to take the increased pupil numbers, is 
successful and has had a bid for expansion accepted by the Regional Schools 
Commissioner.  

 
• Procurement – The use of a framework contract has been considered but the new 

classroom block is considered to be a relatively low risk build which will not 
require early contractor involvement in the design process. Therefore, in order to 
try and achieve best value for the Council it is felt that a traditional single stage 
tender route should be used. 

 
 

Reasons for Recommendation: 

Approval is sought for the construction of the expansion and enhancement of 
Stamford Welland Academy because: 
 
1. In order to deliver the required secondary school spaces by September 2022 it is 

necessary to complete the planning and tendering process urgently and then 
follow on immediately into construction early in the new year. 

 
2. Appointment of a contractor through the use of a single stage tender provides 

best value for money given the risk profile and nature of the project. 
 
3. The project delivers the objectives of the Basic Need Programme for the Stamford 

area of the County. Principally:  
 

• It will ensure there are sufficient secondary school places in the Stamford area. 
• It will reduce travel times for pupils as they will have access to a local school 

that will meet all needs. 
• The new areas will be designed to be fully accessible and offer flexibility to 

meet the changing needs of future cohorts. 
 

 
 

Page 180



1. Background 
 
1.1. Stamford Welland Academy continues to grow in popularity and, if all local 

children elected to attend their nearest school, the Academy would not have 
sufficient capacity to cope with demand. 
 

1.2. Historically however some local residents have expressed a higher preference for 
Casterton College in neighbouring Rutland, which has the capacity to provide some 
school places for Stamford. This has meant that Welland has had some excess 
capacity. 
 

1.3. Recently, the Regional Schools Commissioner (RSC) approved the expansion of 
Stamford Welland Academy but did not support the proposed expansion of 
Casterton College. 
 

1.4. The expansion of Stamford Welland is therefore critical to the place planning 
strategy for the wider Stamford area, to ensure the Council meets its statutory 
duty to provide sufficient local school places. 
 

1.5. With growing pupil numbers in Stamford, coupled with Welland Academy’s 
growing reputation and popularity, an expansion in capacity is urgently needed. 
 

1.6. In addition, there is significant housing development planned over the next few 
years in and around Stamford. This will further add to the pressure on Stamford 
Welland and this project is the first step in addressing this. 
 

1.7. The project will provide an extra 30 places per year group (PAN increase from 120 
to 150), to ensure local demand for places can be met across Stamford and the 
wider area. 

 
2. Procurement 
 
2.1. It is proposed that the construction of the scheme will be procured in accordance 

with the Council's finance and procurement regulations. 
 
2.2. The contractor would be selected using a traditional single-stage tender approach. 

This proposal was arrived at in collaboration with Vinci/Kier based on the 
perceived level of risk involved in the project.  This approach offer the following 
benefits: 

 
• Market value costs guaranteeing lowest competitive pricing. 

 
3. Scope of Works 
 
3.1. Stamford Welland Academy expansion is aligned to the Basic Need provision of 

pupil places in Lincolnshire.  It is proposed to be expanded from a PAN of 120 to 
150 pupils. The additional capacity will be achieved by building a new block and 

Page 181



remodelling of some existing spaces. On completion the school will have sufficient 
capacity and the enhanced resources and facilities required to meet all the 
requirements of a secondary academy.  

 
3.2. The project will deliver a new single storey block which extends to 302m2. This 

block will provide two new general use science labs as well as a new, larger prep 
room and chemical store for both the new and existing science labs.  

 
3.3. Within the existing building, to which the new block is attached, the existing prep 

room will be removed to make room for an access corridor and new pupil toilets 
will be created, together with an accessible toilet. 
 

3.4. The construction of the new block is intended to be steel frame with brick cladding 
under a traditional tiled roof. This is to match in with the existing style of the 
adjacent block and other areas of the school. 
 

3.5. Given the possibility of further expansion to Stamford Welland within the next few 
years, the new block is being designed and sited in such a way that it will aid this 
and not cause issues for subsequent builds. 

 
3.6. The total project budget allowance is £1.2 million. This will be funded from the 

Basic Need Allocation.  
 
4.  Project Budget  
 
4.1 The project budget allocated for the new block is £1.2 million, the breakdown of 

cost from feasibility is as follows: 
 

Construction Budget 

Item Cost 

Building Works Estimate £737,593 

Design Risk £36,880 

Construction Risk £36,880 

Construction Inflation Estimate £17,368 

Tender Inflation Estimate £2,481 

Subtotal Construction Budget £831,202 

  

Kier Technical & Other Fees £124,680 

Project Estimate £955,882 

Total Project Estimate inc inflation and fees 
plus 10% 

£1,051,479 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 182



5. Value for money 
 
5.1. Using technical expertise via the partnership with Kier ensures that all costs are 

consistent with industry averages. Corporate Property refers to the Building Cost 
Information Service (BCIS). The BCIS is part of the Royal Institution of Chartered 
Surveyors and is a provider of cost and price information for the UK construction 
industry.  

 
5.2. The project at Stamford is a mixture of new build and remodelling of the existing 

property. For comparison purposes the new build and remodelling elements have 
been compared to BCIS independently (see below). This is the only way that a 
scheme like this can be benchmarked.  
 

5.3. BCIS will not take into account abnormals because these cannot be forecast or 
reasonably assumed by a national database. Abnormals are site specific and tend 
to be unique to each project.  

 
For clarity, an abnormal is defined by the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors 
(RICS) as: 

 
‘…costs other than those typically encountered for the project funding route, 
including costs accruing due to circumstances outside the project manager’s 
control. Examples of abnormal costs include those arising from issues such as: 
access constraints, legacy data issues, unforeseen events due to the nature of 
the assessment of works, statutory bodies and listed buildings.’ 

 
5.4. The construction budget for Stamford Welland Academy is £831,202. This 

represents a cost of £2,752 per m² for the project.  See the table below: 
 

BCIS Comparison - New Build 
  

  
  

Stamford 
Welland 
Academy 

BCIS 
Information 

Construction Budget £831,202   
  New Build & Refurb 

Area 
302m² 

Cost per m² £2,752 / m² £4,444 / m² 

 
5.5. The BCIS data shows that the new build part of the project is £1,692 per m² lower 

than the BCIS comparison for new build and falls within the normal range for this 
type of build. 

 
5.6. It should be noted however that the cost estimates currently include both the new 

build and refurbished elements within the overall figure. Refurbishment costs are 

Page 183



generally much lower than new build and BCIS average for this type of work is 
£2,374 /m2. 

 
6. Design approval process: 
 
6.1. In keeping with previous school expansion schemes, a series of meetings were held 

with representatives from the school and CMAT to agree the baseline schedule of 
accommodation. The final schedule of accommodation is based on the Department 
for Education (DfE) guidance, Building Bulletin 103, which outlines the 
accommodation needed in a secondary school. 
  

6.2. Representatives from Corporate Property met with the Head of Establishment and 
Executive Head to discuss overall design principles and to identify what types of 
spaces were essential. The Head of Department and Estates Manager were also 
consulted throughout the process. This ensured that both building managers and 
the education leaders involved were able to provide specialist knowledge on 
accommodation requirements and the specific issues on the site.  

 
6.3. Members of the Project and Design Teams were fully aware of the need to ensure 

that best value for money was achieved and of the likely financial pressures to the 
scheme. Regard to value for money was given at all stages of the design process 
and the layout was changed several times to achieve the best compromise 
between educational outcomes and the affordability of the build project.  
 

7. Cost Control 
 
Given the level of uncertainty within the construction industry, Corporate Property, 
alongside Kier Project Managers and Quantity Surveyors, actively manages all contractors 
delivering the capital programme and has sought opportunities to reduce costs in the 
design process, whilst meeting all of the essential requirements of the Basic Need 
programme. Various measures have been undertaken: 
 
7.1. The Schedule of Accommodation (a document which describes how much and 

what type of space is needed) has been developed to deliver only the spaces 
required under DfE Building Bulletin guidance.  By taking this approach the Council 
is only meeting the minimum requirements for delivering suitable educational 
space in Lincolnshire.  
 

7.2. All of the decisions above have been taken in partnership and with support from 
Children's Services, Head Teacher and the Academy Trust involved in the project.  

 
By only building what is needed and consistently challenging costs, Corporate Property 
can provide assurance that the capital build will meet all needs in an appropriate and cost 
effective manner. 
 
 
 

Page 184



8. Impact of Covid-19 and Brexit 
 

There are significant cost pressures within the construction industry arising from a 
shortage of labour and materials within the supply chain. Corporate Property is typically 
seeing cost inflation in the order of 7.5% - 10% above expected levels. 
 
This is a local, regional, national and global issue which impacts on all capital projects. The 
reasons for the supply chain shortage are multi-faceted and often interdependent: 
 
8.1. Global supply chains have been severely disrupted by Covid-19. For example, factory 

shut-downs and industry running at reduced capacity has created supply problems 
for materials from semi-conductors through to timber. 

 
8.2. Brexit is disrupting the smooth inflow of goods into the UK; this is because additional 

checks at ports have created a backlog in clearing containers. This is also 
compounded by the HGV driver shortage meaning that shipping containers are 
taking much longer to be distributed from ports, contributing to longer lead-in 
times. 

 
8.3. There is a global shortage of shipping containers, leading to astonishing inflationary 

pressures on the cost of shipping freight. The price for a 40ft container from China to 
Europe has risen by nearly 500%, as of April 2021.  

 
8.4. There has been a significant upsurge in demand as the UK economy emerges from 

lockdown; this is also replicated in the United States of America which is competing 
for the same source materials as the UK. The United States recently committed to 
legislation which allocates $1.2 trillion for infrastructure projects. 

 
8.5. There is a shortage of labour within the construction industry as a result of migrant 

workers returning to their home country and from high profile, high spend 
construction activity like HS2; this has driven up costs through increased wage 
demand.  

 
8.6. Social distancing has pushed up costs due to increased cleaning and more welfare 

facilities required on site and Covid-19 is still leading to supply chain disruption due 
to positive tests and self-isolation.  

 
8.7. The lack of qualified HGV drivers, due to the UK skills gap, ageing workforce, etc., is 

impacting on the timely delivery of materials to merchants and to construction sites, 
leading to potential delays for project completion. 
 

8.8. There is an overall risk budget in this project of £73,940.60 to cater for unforeseen 
design and construction risks. 

 

 

 

Page 185



9. Legal Issues: 
 
Academies Act 2010 
 
A ‘Significant Expansion’ is defined in the Academies Act 2010 ("AA 2010") as an 
enlargement that increases the overall physical capacity of an academy (as recorded in its 
funding agreement) so that it can increase its overall teaching space enabling the school to 
provide places for more than 30 additional pupils. 
 
The proposal is to expand capacity at the Stamford Welland Academy by increasing the 
PAN from 120 to 150 (total increase in capacity of 150), and to carry out the construction 
and remodelling works for which this Report seeks approval to create the increased 
teaching space required. 
  
RSC approval is required before a Significant Expansion can take place, and the application 
for such approval must be made by the Academy Trust. 
 
The Academy Trust has confirmed that RSC approval for the significant change which is 
the subject of this Report was granted in July 2020.  
 
Additionally, where the significant change impacts on school land, for example an 
academy trust wants to build on playing field land, it is likely to necessitate a separate 
consent of the Secretary of State (SoS) via a land transaction application. Approval of a 
significant change application does not provide or imply SoS's approval for any land 
transaction required to deliver the approved project. The land transaction will require a 
separate application by the Academy Trust to the SoS for consent.  
 
Communications are ongoing between the Council and the Academy Trust to verify 
whether a land transaction approval is required from the SoS. 
 
The Council must wait to receive verification that the Academy Trust has obtained any 
necessary consent from the SoS before the proposed expansion of capacity can be 
implemented. 
 
These issues will be addressed prior to the decision to award a contract under the 
delegated authority granted by numbered recommendation 2. 
 
 
Equality Act 2010 
 
Under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, the Council must, in the exercise of its 
functions, have due regard to the need to: 
 

• Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 
prohibited by or under the Act. 

• Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

Page 186



• Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

 
The relevant protected characteristics are age; disability; gender reassignment; pregnancy 
and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; and sexual orientation. 
 
Having due regard to the need to advance equality of opportunity involves having due 
regard, in particular, to the need to: 
 

 Remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic. 

 Take steps to meet the needs of persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not share it. 

 Encourage persons who share a relevant protected characteristic to participate in 
public life or in any other activity in which participation by such persons is 
disproportionately low. 

 
The steps involved in meeting the needs of disabled persons that are different from the 
needs of persons who are not disabled include, in particular, steps to take account of 
disabled persons' disabilities. 
 
Having due regard to the need to foster good relations between persons who share a 
relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it involves having due 
regard, in particular, to the need to tackle prejudice, and promote understanding. 
 
Compliance with the duties in section 149 may involve treating some persons more 
favourably than others. 
 
The duty cannot be delegated and must be discharged by the decision-maker.  To 
discharge the statutory duty the decision-maker must analyse all the relevant material 
with the specific statutory obligations in mind.  If a risk of adverse impact is identified 
consideration must be given to measures to avoid that impact as part of the decision 
making process. 
 

An Equality Impact Analysis has not been completed but the proposed works are 
considered to have a neutral impact on those that have a protected characteristic and 
those that do not in that the works will meet appropriate standards for accessibility and 
improve the learning and working environment of all pupils and staff attending the 
buildings. 
 
The design of the new block and refurbished areas will help students with disabilities fully 
engage in education and feel more included within the life of the school. 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 187



Joint Strategic Needs Analysis (JSNA) and the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) 
 
The Council must have regard to the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) and the 
Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) in coming to a decision. 
 

The Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy prioritises the needs of children and young 
people with Special Educational Needs and/or Disabilities (SEND) through the objective:  
 
• Ensure appropriate support services are in place for pupils with a special 

educational need and/or a disability. 
 
Whilst the Stamford Welland project does not directly address this objective, the design of 
the new block and refurbished areas will help students with disabilities fully engage in 
education and feel more included within the life of the school. 
 

 
Crime and Disorder 
 
Under section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, the Council must exercise its various 
functions with due regard to the likely effect of the exercise of those functions on, and the 
need to do all that it reasonably can to prevent crime and disorder in its area (including 
anti-social and other behaviour adversely affecting the local environment), the misuse of 
drugs, alcohol and other substances in its area and re-offending in its area. 
 

 
10. Conclusion 

Lincolnshire County Council has identified a need to increase capacity of secondary school 
places in Stamford and to provide suitable education for all students.  The proposed 
expansion and remodelling of Stamford Welland Academy will deliver this requirement 
and the award of the construction contract will enable this to proceed. 
 

11. Legal Comments: 
 

The proposed works are designed to fulfil the Council's statutory duty to provide 
sufficient school places for its area. 
 
The Council has the power to enter into the contract proposed and the proposed 
procurement route is compliant with the Council's legal obligations. 
 
The decisions are consistent with the Policy Framework and within the remits of the 
Executive Councillors. 
 

 

The section 17 matters have been taken into account but there are not considered to be 
any implications for the section 17 matters arising out of the decision. 
 

Page 188



12. Resource Comments: 
 

The recommendations to approve the scheme appraisal for the basic needs works for the 
expansion and remodelling of Stamford Welland Academy and to approve the entering 
into a construction contract will enable the Council to fulfil their statutory duty in 
providing sufficient secondary school places in the area, to meet future demands from 
September 2022. 
 
The total project cost for the scheme is £1.051m. This will be funded through 
government Basic Need grant funding. 
 
The report outlines value for money comparisons to BCIS. The scheme is below the mean 
BCIS cost per m² for the new build construction, and this is also the case for the 
remodelling works. The scheme will go through a competitive tender process to secure 
best price at this time, however unfavourable market conditions and economic 
uncertainty do continue to exist. 

 
13. Consultation 

 
a)  Has Local Member Been Consulted? 

Yes 
 

b)  Has Executive Councillor Been Consulted?  

Yes 

c)  Scrutiny Comments 

The decision will be considered by the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee at 
its meeting on 19 November 2021 and the comments of the Committee will be provided 
to the Executive Councillors. 

 

 
 

 

d)  Risks and Impact Analysis 

See the body of the Report. 
 

 
14. Appendices 

 

These are listed below and attached at the back of the report 

Appendix A Proposed Ground Floor Plan 

Appendix B Proposed Elevations 

 
15. Background Papers 
 
No Background Papers within the meaning of section 100D of the Local Government Act 
1972 were used in the preparation of this Report. 
 
This report was written by Matthew Stapleton, Senior Project Manager - Corporate 
Property, who can be contacted on 07766 384257 or 
matthew.stapleton@lincolnshire.gov.uk.  

Page 189

mailto:matthew.stapleton@lincolnshire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1350

N

1350E
1350 W

90.1 m²
Lab 1

Science

90.7 m²
Lab 2

Science47.0 m²
Room
Prep

19.2 m²
Store
Chem

7.8 m²
Room
Plant

Circulation
Anc/

Enlarged 
W.C

Ambulant 
W.C

Unisex

Unisex

Unisex

Unisex

4.3 m²
W.C

Disabled

49.1m²

33.1 m²
W.C's
UnisexWorktop

Worktop

Worktop Worktop

Worktop

Worktop

Worktop

Worktop

Worktop Worktop

Worktop

Worktop

Worktop c/w sinks Worktop c/w sinks

N
ew

 w
or

kt
op

 c
/w

 s
in

ks

Note: Science lab classroom areas based on Building 

Bulletin 80 - Science Accommodation in Secondary 

Schools. Workbench/ teaching arrangement TBC.

Tiered shelving

T
ie

re
d 

sh
el

vi
ng

Graded access to create level 

threshold [gradient max. 1in 21].

Graded access to 

create level 

threshold [gradient 

max. 1in 21].

Graded access to create level 

threshold [gradient max. 1in 21].

Graded access to 

create level 

threshold [gradient 

max. 1in 21].

New Emergency Vehicle access 

road.  Please refer to the Proposed 

Site Plan for  information. Drawing 

Number: 31808-DBS-XX-XX-DR-

A-1103

Graded access to 

create level 

threshold [gradient 

max. 1in 21].

Proposed 600x400mm paving 

slabs. Please refer to Civil 

Engineers drainage strategy for 

more information.

MH

Laboratory
13

Laboratory
10

Art
15

ICT
20 Anc

21

Store
09

Textiles
08

Door restraint hoops

Door restraint hoops

Door restraint hoops

N

Amenity lighting to be installed 

on all elevations to match 

existing

Key:

Existing building

Proposed building

Extent of internal 

remodelling

Denotes New 

Footpath 600x400 

paving slabs

N
BLOCK 3

BLOCK 4

BLOCK 1

BLOCK 2

BLOCK 1BLOCK 4
BLOCK 5

1:1250

1:100

1:200

1000 3000 5000

1:500 5 15 25

10 30 50 70

M

mm

mm

M

5000 8000

Drawing Number

Original Size

Date

Scale

Drawn Checked Approved

© Kier Business Services Limited

A2
RIBA 2013 Stage

Status

Revision

NOTES

Drawing Title

Project Name

Internal Project Number

Issuing Office Telephone

Version
Drawn 
& Date

Checked 
& Date

Approved 
& Date

Amendment

E-mail

Client

Project Code Origin Volume Level Type Role Number

Scale:

This Document has been prepared by Kier Business Services Limited and no individual 
is personally liable in connection with the preparation of this Document. By receiving 
this Document and acting on it, the client or any other person accepts that no individual 
is personally liable whether in contract, tort, for breach of statutory duty or otherwise 

Kier Business Services Limited has used reasonable endeavours to provide 
information that is correct and accurate and the Document sets out reasonable 
conclusions that have been reached on the basis of the information available.

As indicated

KN MAJL LCAugust 21

P05

Stage 03

S4

Proposed Ground Floor Plan

31808

Stamford Welland Academy - 2 Class Extension

Lincoln 07919227192

lorna.crowther@kier.co.uk

Lincolnshire County Council

31808-DBS-XX-GF-DR-A-1200

This Document is presented to Client Name in respect of the Project Nameand may
not be used or relied on by any other person or by the client in relation to any other

matters not covered specifically by the scope of this Document

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the Document, Kier Business
Services Limited is obliged to exercise reasonable skill, care and diligence in the
performance of the services required by Client Nameand Kier Business Services

Limited shall not be liable except to the extent that it has failed to exercise reasonable
skill, care and diligence, and this Document shall be read and construed accordingly.

1 : 100

Proposed GA Layout Plan

P01 Initial issue for review at design team mtg. LR
20/11/20

RL
20/11/20

JT
20/11/20

P02 Proposed building footprint increased (LHS)
to allow for larger stores.  Entrance door
repositioned.  Internal remodelling amended
to include for replacement of worktops. All as
clouded.

LR
21/04/21

RL
22/04/21

JT
22/04/21

P03 Prep room size increased, window omitted,
double fire escape amended to single exiting
from Prep room, indicative shelving shown
and windows omited from labs to allow for
teaching boards.

LR
09/06/21

RM
09/06/21

JT
09/06/21

P04 Chem Store door repositioned opposite Prep
Room, as clouded.

LR
21/06/21

ML
21/06/21

JT
21/06/21

P05 Door added to DWC, demolition indication,
issued for planning

KN
27/08/21

MAJL
27/08/21

LC
27/08/21

1 : 1000

Key Plan

P
age 191



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1

23

546

9

7

Existing Building - Block 03 Proposed Extension

6

10

11

7

88

10

14

623

4 5

1

Block 03

Existing Building Proposed Extension

Block 03

Existing Building

11

12

13

7

8

14

New Extension NEW LINK FROM EXISTING (REFER TO PROPOSED GA PLAN) New Extension

Outline of Existing 
Building behind

23

54

1

9

10

Block 03

Existing Building

Block 03

Existing Building

11 11

2
1414

5
8
5
5
 m

m

1

2
3

54

6

9

7 13

11

Proposed Extension Existing Building - Block 03

10

14

Materials Key

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

Dark Grey Roof Tile to match existing

White Aluminium PC Windows to match 

existing

Buff Facing Brickwork to match existing

Buff Feature Soldier Courseto match 

existing

Buff Chamfered Soldier Course Cill 

to match existing

Aluminium PC External Doors, 

White frame with brown door 

panel to match existing

Black UPVC Rainwater 

Pipes/Gutter to match 

existing

Anti-Climb Surrounds to RWPs to 

match existing

9 Bitumen Felt Flat Roof

10 Proposed Flue

11 Door Restraint Hoops

12 Proposed brown louvre panels

13 Aluminium PC External Doors 

with louvred panels, White 

frame with brown door panel

13 Fascia Boards to match existing

14 Amenity Lighting to match 

existing

N
BLOCK 3

BLOCK 4

BLOCK 1

BLOCK 2

BLOCK 1BLOCK 4
BLOCK 5

N

E

S

W

1:1250

1:100

1:200

1000 3000 5000

1:500 5 15 25

10 30 50 70

M

mm

mm

M

5000 8000

Drawing Number

Original Size

Date

Scale

Drawn Checked Approved

© Kier Business Services Limited

A1
RIBA 2013 Stage

Status

Revision

NOTES

Drawing Title

Project Name

Internal Project Number

Issuing Office Telephone

Version
Drawn 
& Date

Checked 
& Date

Approved 
& Date

Amendment

E-mail

Client

Project Code Origin Volume Level Type Role Number

Scale:

This Document has been prepared by Kier Business Services Limited and no individual 
is personally liable in connection with the preparation of this Document. By receiving 
this Document and acting on it, the client or any other person accepts that no individual 
is personally liable whether in contract, tort, for breach of statutory duty or otherwise 

Kier Business Services Limited has used reasonable endeavours to provide 
information that is correct and accurate and the Document sets out reasonable 
conclusions that have been reached on the basis of the information available.

© Crown copyright and database rights 2017 Ordnance Survey 
0100056811. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you 
to respond to, or interact with, the organisation that provided you with 
the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell 
any of this data to third parties in any form. 

As indicated

KN MAJL LCAUG 2021

P01

Stage 03

S2

Proposed Elevations

31808

Stamford Welland Academy - 2 Class Extension

Lincoln 07919227192

lorna.crowther@kier.co.uk

Lincolnshire County Council

31808-DBS-XX-XX-DR-A-1350

This Document is presented to Client Name in respect of the Project Nameand may
not be used or relied on by any other person or by the client in relation to any other

matters not covered specifically by the scope of this Document

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the Document, Kier Business
Services Limited is obliged to exercise reasonable skill, care and diligence in the
performance of the services required by Client Nameand Kier Business Services

Limited shall not be liable except to the extent that it has failed to exercise reasonable
skill, care and diligence, and this Document shall be read and construed accordingly.

1 : 100

East Elevation

1 : 100

North Elevation - Proposed

1 : 100

South Elevation - Proposed

1 : 100

West Elevation - Proposed

P01 Issued for Planning KN
27/08/21

MAJL
27/08/21

LC
27/08/21

1 : 1000

Key Plan

P
age 193



T
his page is intentionally left blank



     
 

Open Report on behalf of Andrew Crookham - Executive Director - Resources 

 

Report to: Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee 

Date: 19 November 2021 

Subject: 
Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee Work 
Programme   

Decision Reference:   Key decision? No   

Summary:  

This item enables the Committee to consider and comment on the content of its work 
programme to ensure that its scrutiny activity is focused where it can be of greatest 
benefit. The Committee is encouraged to highlight items that could be included for 
consideration in the work programme. 
 
 

Actions Required: 

(1) To review and agree the Committee's work programme as set out in this report. 
(2) To highlight for discussion any additional scrutiny activity which could be 

considered for inclusion in the work programme. 
 

 
1. Background 
 
Current Items 
 
For reference, the Committee's items for this meeting are set out below: -     
 

19 November 2021 

Item Contributor Purpose 

Joint Diversionary Panel – 
University of Lincoln Evaluation 

Andy Cook, Service 
Manager - Future4Me/ 
Youth Offending 

Dr Sue Bond-Taylor, 
University of Lincoln 
Chief Inspector Daryl 
Pearce, Lincolnshire Police 

Tony Pryce, JDP 
Coordinator 

Performance Scrutiny 

Page 195

Agenda Item 11



19 November 2021 

Item Contributor Purpose 

Children In Care (CIC) 
Transformation - Residential 
Estate Expansion Programme 

Janice Spencer OBE, 
Assistant Director – 
Children’s Safeguarding 

Matthew Clayton, 
Admissions and Education 
Provision Manager  

Pre-Decision Scrutiny 
(Executive Councillor 

decision between 22 – 30 
November 2021) 

Lincoln Children's 

Home 

Dave Pennington, Head of 
Property Development 

Matthew Stapleton, Senior 
Project Manager, Corporate 
Property 

Pre-Decision Scrutiny 
(Executive Councillor and 
Leader decision between 
23 – 30 November 2021) 

Spalding Academy Basic Need 
Project 

Dave Pennington, Head of 
Property Development 

Matthew Stapleton, Senior 
Project Manager, Corporate 
Property 

Pre-Decision Scrutiny 
(Executive Councillor and 
Leader decision between 
23 – 30 November 2021) 

Stamford Welland Academy 
Basic Need Project 

Dave Pennington, Head of 
Property Development 

Matthew Stapleton, Senior 
Project Manager, Corporate 
Property 

Pre-Decision Scrutiny 
(Executive Councillor and 
Leader decision between 
23 – 30 November 2021) 

Service Level Performance 
against the Corporate 
Performance Framework – 
Quarter 2 

Jo Kavanagh, Assistant 
Director – Early Help 

Performance Scrutiny 

 
  
Planned Items  
 
The Committee's planned items are listed below:  
 

14 January 2022 

Item Contributor Purpose 

Council Budget 2022/23 
Heather Sandy, Executive 
Director – Children's 
Services 

Budget Scrutiny 

Page 196



14 January 2022 

Item Contributor Purpose 

Schools Funding Update 
2022/23 - Mainstream Schools 

Mark Popplewell, Head of 
Finance – Children's 

Pre-Decision Scrutiny 
(Executive Councillor 

Decision on TBC) 

Director of Public Health Annual 
Report 2021 

Derek Ward, Director of 
Public Health 

Andy Fox, Consultant in 
Public Health 

Performance Scrutiny 

School Improvement – Covid-19 
Response 

Jo Kavanagh, Assistant 
Director – Early Help 

Martin Smith, Assistant 
Director - Education 

Performance Scrutiny 

Children Missing Out on 
Education Annual Report 
2020/21 

Jill Chandar-Nair, Inclusion 
and Attendance Manager 

Policy Review 

The expansion of St Lawrence 
School, Horncastle (EXEMPT) 

Dave Pennington, Head of 
Property Development 

Pre-Decision Scrutiny 
(Leader decision between 

24 – 28 January 2022) 

 
 

4 March 2022 

Item Contributor Purpose 

Service Level Performance 
against the Corporate 
Performance Framework – 
Quarter 3 

Jo Kavanagh, Assistant 
Director – Early Help 

Performance Scrutiny 

Lincolnshire Local Authority 
School Performance 2020-21  

Martin Smith, Assistant 
Director - Education 

Performance Scrutiny 

Sustainable Modes of Transport 
to School (SMOTS) Action Plan 
Update 

Mark Rainey, 
Commissioning Manager - 
Commercial 

Performance Scrutiny 

Page 197



 
 

22 April 2022 

Item Contributor Purpose 

Lincolnshire Safeguarding 
Children Partnership (LSCP) 
Annual Update 

Chris Cook, Chair of LSCP 

Stacey Waller, LSCP 
Manager 

Yearly Update 

SEND Learning Platform  
Sheridan Dodsworth, Head 
of SEND 

Performance Scrutiny 

 
Items to be scheduled 
 

 Inclusive Lincolnshire Strategy – Policy Review 

 Corporate Parenting Responsibilities – Lincolnshire County Council's Response 
 
 
2. Conclusion 

The Committee is invited to review, consider and comment on the work programme as set 
out above and highlight for discussion any additional scrutiny activity which could be 
included for consideration in the work programme. 
 
A list of all upcoming Forward Plan decisions relating to the Committee is also attached at 
Appendix A. 
 
 

3. Appendices 

 

These are listed below and attached at the back of the report 

Appendix A Forward Plan of Decisions relating to the Children and Young People 
Scrutiny Committee 

 
4. Background Papers 
 
No background papers within Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 were used 
in the preparation of this report. 
 
This report was written by Tracy Johnson, Senior Scrutiny Officer, who can be contacted 
on 07552 253814 or by e-mail at tracy.johnson@lincolnshire.gov.uk.  

Page 198

mailto:tracy.johnson@lincolnshire.gov.uk


Appendix A 
 

 

FORWARD PLAN OF DECISIONS RELATING TO CHILDREN’S SERVICES FROM 01 NOVEMBER 2021 
 

DEC REF 
MATTERS 

FOR DECISION 
REPORT 
STATUS 

DECISION MAKER AND 
DATE OF DECISION 

PEOPLE/GROUPS 
CONSULTED PRIOR 

TO DECISION 

DOCUMENTS TO BE 
CONSIDERED 

OFFICER(S) FROM WHOM FURTHER 
INFORMATION CAN BE OBTAINED AND 

REPRESENTATIONS MADE 
(All officers are based at County Offices, 

Newland, Lincoln LN1 1YL unless otherwise 
stated) 

DIVISIONS 
AFFECTED 

I022290  Children in Care Transformation - 
Residential Estate Expansion 
Programme 

Open Executive Councillor: 
Children's Services, 
Community Safety and 
Procurement  
 
Between 22 Nov 2021 
and 30 Nov 2021 

Children and Young People 
Scrutiny Committee 

Reports Admissions and Education Provision Manager 
Tel: 01522 553535 E-mail: 
matthew.clayton@lincolnshire.gov.uk  

All Divisions 

I025141 
 
 

Lincoln Children's Home 
 

Open Executive Councillor: 
People Management, 
Legal and Corporate 
Property 
 
Between 23 November 
2021 and 30 November 
2021 
 
Leader of the Council 
(Executive Councillor: 
Resources, 
Communications and 
Commissioning) 
 
Between 23 November 
2021 and 30 November 
2021 

Children and Young People 
Scrutiny Committee 

Report Senior Project Manager 
E-mail: matthew.stapleton@lincolnshire.gov.uk  

Carholme 

P
age 199

mailto:matthew.clayton@lincolnshire.gov.uk
mailto:matthew.stapleton@lincolnshire.gov.uk


I025139 
 
 

Spalding Academy Basic Need 
Project 
 

Open Executive Councillor: 
People Management, 
Legal and Corporate 
Property 
 
Between 23 November 
2021 and 30 November 
2021 
 
Leader of the Council 
(Executive Councillor: 
Resources, 
Communications and 
Commissioning) 
 
Between 23 November 
2021 and 30 November 
2021 

Children and Young People 
Scrutiny Committee 

Report Senior Project Manager 
E-mail: matthew.stapleton@lincolnshire.gov.uk  

Spalding South 

I025140 
 
 

Stamford Welland Academy Basic 
Need Project 
 

Open Executive Councillor: 
People Management, 
Legal and Corporate 
Property 
 
Between 23 November 
2021 and 30 November 
2021 
 
Leader of the Council 
(Executive Councillor: 
Resources, 
Communications and 
Commissioning) 
 
Between 23 November 
2021 and 30 November 
2021 

Children and Young People 
Scrutiny Committee 

Report Senior Project Manager 
E-mail: matthew.stapleton@lincolnshire.gov.uk  

Stamford East 

P
age 200

mailto:matthew.stapleton@lincolnshire.gov.uk
mailto:matthew.stapleton@lincolnshire.gov.uk


I021049 
 

The expansion of St Lawrence's 
School, Horncastle 
 

Exempt Leader of the Council 
(Executive Councillor: 
Resources and 
Communications) 
 
Between 24 Jan and 28 
Jan 2022 

Children and Young People 
Scrutiny Committee 

Reports Head of Property Development 
Email: dave.pennington@lincolnshire.gov.uk  
 
Programme Manager, Special Schools Strategy 
Email: eileen.mcmorrow@lincolnshire.gov.uk  
 

Horncastle and 
the Keals 

I025203 
New! 
 

School Admissions 
Policies 2023 
 

Open Executive Councillor: 
Children's Services, 
Community Safety 
and Procurement 
 
Between 1 February 
2022 and 4 February 
2022 

As required by the School 
Admission Code (2021) 
 

Report School Admissions Manager 
E-mail: emily.nicholls@lincolnshire.gov.uk  
 

 

 

 

P
age 201

mailto:dave.pennington@lincolnshire.gov.uk
mailto:eileen.mcmorrow@lincolnshire.gov.uk
mailto:emily.nicholls@lincolnshire.gov.uk


T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee meeting held on 15 October 2021
	5 Joint Diversionary Panel - University of Lincoln Evaluation
	Appendix A - University of Lincoln JDP Evaluation

	6 Children In Care (CIC) Transformation - Residential Estate Expansion Programme
	Children In Care (CIC) Transformation - Residential Estate Expansion Programme Executive Councillor Report
	Appendix A - Equality Impact Analysis

	7 Lincoln Children's Home
	Lincoln Children's Home - Executive Councillor Report
	Appendix A - Existing Site Plan
	Sheets
	1100 - Existing Site Plan


	Appendix B - Proposed Floor Plans
	Sheets
	1210 - Proposed GA Floor Plans - Ground and First Floor



	8 Spalding Academy Basic Need Project
	Spalding Academy Basic Need Project - Executive Councillor Report
	Appendix A - Proposed Floor Plans
	Sheets
	2000 - GA Plans


	Appendix B - Proposed Elevations
	Sheets
	3000 - GA Elevations



	9 Stamford Welland Academy Basic Need Project
	Stamford Welland Academy Basic Need Project - Executive Councillor Report
	Appendix A - Proposed Ground Floor Plan
	Sheets
	1200 - Proposed Ground Floor Plan


	Appendix B - Proposed Elevations
	Sheets
	1350 - Proposed Elevations



	11 Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee Work Programme

